

Montclair State University Digital Commons

Theses, Dissertations and Culminating Projects

8-2018

How is Fanfiction Framed for Literacy Education Practitioner Periodical Audiences: Media Frame Analysis (2003 - 2013)

Drew Emanuel Berkowitz Montclair State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.montclair.edu/etd



Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Berkowitz, Drew Emanuel, "How is Fanfiction Framed for Literacy Education Practitioner Periodical Audiences: Media Frame Analysis (2003 - 2013)" (2018). Theses, Dissertations and Culminating Projects. 199.

https://digitalcommons.montclair.edu/etd/199

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Montclair State University Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses, Dissertations and Culminating Projects by an authorized administrator of Montclair State University Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@montclair.edu.

HOW IS FANFICTION FRAMED FOR LITERACY EDUCATION PRACTITIONER PERIODICAL AUDIENCES: MEDIA FRAME ANALYSIS (2003 - 2013)

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Faculty of

Montclair State University in partial fulfillment

of the requirements

for the degree of Doctor of Education

by

DREW EMANUEL BERKOWITZ

Montclair State University

Upper Montclair, NJ

August 2018

Dissertation Chair: Dr. Rebecca A. Goldstein

Copyright © 2018 by Drew Emanuel Berkowitz. All rights reserved.

MONTCLAIR STATE UNIVERSITY THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

DISSERTATION APPROVAL

We hereby approve the Dissertation

HOW IS FANFICTION FRAMED FOR LITERACY EDUCATION

PRACTITIONER PERIODICAL AUDIENCES:

MEDIA FRAME ANALYSIS (2003 - 2013)

of

Drew Emanuel Berkowitz

Candidate for the Degree:

Doctor of Education

Dissertation Committee:

Department of Educational Foundations	
Certified by:	Dr. Rebecca A. Goldstein Dissertation Chair
Certified by.	Dissertation Chair
Dr. M. Scott Herness	Dr. Kathryn G. Herr
Vice Provost for Research and	
Dean of The Graduate School	
	Dr. Michele Knobel
8-6-18	
Date	Dr. Laura M. Nicosia

ABSTRACT

HOW IS FANFICTION FRAMED FOR LITERACY EDUCATION PRACTITIONER PERIODICAL AUDIENCES:

MEDIA FRAME ANALYSIS (2003 - 2013)

By Drew Emanuel Berkowitz

This dissertation reports out the results from a socio-cultural media research study that examined how professional periodicals written for United States K-12 public school literacy educators described fanfiction-based recreational literacy practices between 2003 and 2013. In the first decade of the 21st century, many K-12 literacy scholars advocated for the adaptation of predominantly out-of-school literacy practices for use within US public school literacy instruction programs. During this period, some literacy researchers expressed concerns that teachers may have held incomplete or inaccurate conceptions of fan-based literacy practices such as fanfiction, to the detriment of their students and the literacy practices themselves. This research study investigates these concerns within the context of journal articles that describe and discuss fanfiction literacy practices. Practitioner research journal articles were collected and analyzed using socio-cultural media frame analysis in order to determine how fanfiction was presented and evaluated for inclusion within US public school classrooms. Analysis of data uncovered three dominant frame categories -- the youth practice frame, the out-of-school practice frame and the utilitarian practice frame -- each of which reflected how discussions of fanfiction

literacy practice were aligned with particularly salient perspectives on the nature and worth of K-12 students' recreational literacy practices. The youth practice frame reflects an orientation toward the view that recreational literacy is juvenile, the out-of-school practice frame reflects the implications and connotations associated with labeling recreational literacy practices as non-academic, and the utilitarian practice frame reflects how recreational literacies are evaluated in terms of their ability to foster in-school literacy performance and assessment. By exploring how fanfiction literacy practices were framed over a decade punctuated by successive US K-12 public school literacy education reforms, this dissertation helps to illustrate the extent to which the qualities and merits of recreational literacy practices are often reoriented, reshaped, and resold to educators as solutions to classroom problems.

Keywords: fanfiction, media literacy, K-12 public schools, socio-cultural, frame analysis, teacher practitioner journals

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor and dissertation committee chair,

Dr. Rebecca A. Goldstein,

and my dissertation committee,

Dr. Kathryn G. Herr, Dr. Michele Knobel, and Dr. Laura M. Nicosia,

for their unceasing patience and assistance.

I would also like to thank

Brenda Sheehan and Stacy Pinto,

for their help navigating the doctoral and dissertation process.

Finally, I would like to thank

my parents

and my brother, Jeremy,

without whose love and support this would not be possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
CHAPTER ONE	1
WHAT IS FANFICTION?	1
PERSPECTIVES ON FANFICTION	6
PROBLEM STATEMENT	10
RESEARCH QUESTION	13
LAYOUT AND ORGANIZATION	13
DEFINITION OF TERMS	15
CHAPTER TWO	21
SUMMARY	21
ZINES AND STAR TREK	22
SUBCULTURES	25
RESEARCH CONTEXTS	30
FANFICTION AFTER JENKINS	33
CHAPTER THREE	38
SUMMARY	38
POLICY FOUNDATIONS	40
MEDIA LITERACY	45
FANFICTION RESEARCH	49
CHAPTER FOUR	57
SUMMARY	57
FRAMES	58
MEDIA RESEARCH PARADIGM	62
SOCIO-CULTURAL FRAME ANALYSIS	63
RESEARCH PROTOCOL	66
DATA COLLECTION	69
Figure A: List of Periodicals in Data Set by Frequency (n = 95)	74
CODING	76

FRAME IDENTIFICATION AND EXTRACTION	
NOTE ON FRAME CODING	89
CHAPTER FIVE	91
SUMMARY	91
SALIENT THEMES	93
Figure B: Dominant Theme Distribution Across Data Set (n = 95)	95
THE YOUTH PRACTICE FRAME CATEGORY	99
THE OUT-OF-SCHOOL PRACTICE FRAME CATEGORY	105
THE UTILITARIAN PRACTICE FRAME CATEGORY	109
CONCLUSION	117
CHAPTER SIX	
SUMMARY	122
DEMOGRAPHIC PATTERNS	123
Figure C: Distribution of Articles by Year of Publication	124
NATURE OF PORTRAYAL	130
FLATTENING THE NARRATIVE	131
THE FINAL FRONTIER	135
REFERENCES	137
APPENDIX I: JOURNAL ARTICLES COMPRISING DATA SET	
APPENDIX II: PERIODICALS IN DATA SET, NUMBER OF ARTICLES	

CHAPTER ONE

"It had to do with our sense of individualism, a do-it-yourself attitude, a philosophy and ethic that delineated right and wrong within our community, as well as best practices and high standards. It was a time when the media we dealt with were rare but common enough that we could form a community around them, and each of us could seek a meaningful role within that community" (Eng., 2012, pp. 87-88).

INTRODUCTION

WHAT IS FANFICTION?

All literacy educators want their students to write -- and, furthermore, to write well. Many K-12 educators would love it if their students enjoyed writing so much that they practiced writing recreationally, or employed writing to make meaning in their own lives through self-reflective writing practices such as journaling. However, the rapid pace of telecommunications development, and the subsequent advent of social media, have led to a wave of new categories of socially-mediated literacy practice enjoyed by United States adolescents outside the context of K-12 public school classrooms. This dissertation reports on a study examining how one of these categories and its relationship to the practices of classroom literacy instruction have been described in professional periodicals written for United States K-12 public school literacy educators.

Like many animation and comic book fans growing up in the United States in the late 1990s, my ability to engage with the media works that captured my interests was fundamentally and irrevocably transformed by my family's purchase of an internet-capable computer. Throughout elementary and middle school, the bulk of my conversations about superheroes and Saturday morning cartoon characters took place within school contexts -- the school classroom, school bus, or school playground -- between myself and the few classmates I knew who shared my interests. Upon gaining home internet access, these discussions shifted toward out-of-school spaces, between myself and a wide variety of like-minded animation and comic book fans from throughout the English-speaking world. Such digitally-mediated conversations opened up my horizons of media engagement, and I soon became aware of (and deeply captivated by) animation created in other countries, and comic books written long before I was born.

As quickly as I was discovering new works of entertainment media, I was also encountering new ways my fellow fans were choosing to engage with them. For instance, my discovery of *Mobile Suit Gundam Wing*, the 1995 installment of a long-running animation franchise often referred to as the Japanese equivalent of *Star Trek*, led to my subsequent realization that many of the show's female fans were writing and reading homoerotic stories about the pilots of the franchise's eponymous giant robotic fighting machines. The show's introduction to US cable television audiences in 2000 led to the emergence of many English-language *Gundam Wing* fan sites devoted entirely to the curation and production of these homoerotic stories. The popularity of these sites

among US adolescent female *Gundam Wing* fans resulted in the formation of communities whose members considered homoerotic creative writing their favorite way of engaging with -- and in many cases, their gateway into -- the *Gundam* multimedia franchise.

Although I never engaged in the practice of reading or writing stories based on *Mobile Suit Gundam Wing*, my academic interest in these literacy practices (much like my recreational interest in *Mobile Suit Gundam Wing* itself) remains to this day. Literacy scholars refer to these practices -- and others like them -- as fanfiction: a range of creative and critical media literacy practices surrounding the production and consumption of works based on existing characters and situations from popular media. Studies into how US adolescents use digital media tools and techniques for the purposes of peer interaction and media literacy engagement have frequently turned to the online spaces within which adolescents write, share, and improve their fanfiction works. In this manner, the study of fanfiction has become tied to educational scholars' pedagogical understandings of the ways that US K-12 students incorporate elements of creative writing and critical media literacy into their recreational media literacy practices. As this study will show, these scholars' observations of K-12 students' literacy practices have often been communicated to K-12 educators through the medium of professional practitioner journals.

This dissertation reports on the findings of a qualitative research study examining what US K-12 literacy educators may know about K-12 students' recreational literacy practices through the lens of how materials written for literacy educators define, describe, and discuss fanfiction. Fanfiction, which is also referred to by its practitioners as *fan*

fiction, fanfic, or fan fic, has often been the subject of literacy researchers who identify it as a category of media practice defined by characteristic patterns of textual appropriation. Researchers have related these patterns to the adaptation and adoption of characters and situations from their original media contexts. Within research focusing on K-12 aged fanfiction practitioners, these contexts are most frequently works of fiction that appeal to adolescent audiences, such as young adult novels, science fiction films, superhero comic books, and animated television programs. The resulting media works are intertextually linked to their source texts, and generally adhere to -- but occasionally willfully break -- their source materials' established characterizations and storylines (Jenkins, 1992; Jenkins et al., 2013; Stein & Busse, 2009).

A great deal of research has been conducted on the positive pedagogical impacts of fan literacy practice on the literacy development of adolescent practitioners. Literacy scholars often attribute a strong social component to fanfiction practices, portraying fanfiction practitioners as enthusiastic popular culture afficionados who employ a wide variety of social media practices to share their works with other practitioners and enthusiasts (Jenkins, 1992; Mackey & McClay, 2008). Communities of fanfiction-related social practice have often been centered around online repositories of archived fanfiction works, and have gradually gained wider cultural awareness within the United States, as well as the increasing attentions of both journalists and scholars interested in the pedagogical qualities of fan's literacy practices (Berkowitz, 2012; Grady, 2016; Minkel, 2014).

As discussions of fanfiction have become increasingly more common among non-practitioners, the frequency of these discussions has necessitated that scholars adopt a consistent definition of what constitutes the nature and scope of fanfiction practice. The range of literacy practices that educational scholars currently categorize as fanfiction emerged from the practices of 1960s science fiction and fantasy media fan communities and publications, before evolving over time into a number of distinct, socially-mediated literacy production and consumption practices. One of the central concerns of early fanfiction practitioner researchers had been the accuracy and completeness of academic accounts of the diversity of fanfiction practices. As scholars such as Louisa Ellen Stein and Kristina Busse (2009) have noted, fanfiction's products encompass a much wider range of multimedia literacy practices, and the failure to recognize these variations has threatened to "flatten the diversity of fandoms and fannish authorship into a monolithic entity" within academic discourse (Stein & Busse, 2009, p. 194).

In spite of these and other concerns about the accuracy of scholars' conceptions of fanfiction literacy practice, there has been a shocking dearth of research into how these benefits have been presented to practicing US K-12 public school literacy educators, let alone what they've been told about what fanfiction is. As this dissertation demonstrates, fanfiction literacy practices have often been positioned by literacy education researchers as possible points of intersection between US K-12 public school literacy objectives and the youth media franchises that US K-12 students already enjoy. However, due to the considerable breadth and variety of media enjoyed by US adolescents within the 21st

century, many of these franchises, and the ways that adolescents choose to engage with them, may be relatively unknown to their teachers.

In an effort to better understand the nature of their students' patterns of recreational media engagement, educators may turn to professional development materials such as literacy practitioner journals. Although many of these materials propose that K-12 teachers tailor their methods of literacy instruction to their students' existing recreational literacy practices such as fanfiction, the manner in which those materials define, discuss, and describe fanfiction practices constitutes a crucially unexplored focus of socio-cultural educational research. It is this research gap that I endeavored to address via the study reported upon within this dissertation.

PERSPECTIVES ON FANFICTION

Prior to designing and implementing the study described within this dissertation, I conducted and published an analysis of US news media depictions of fanfiction literacy practices (Berkowitz, 2012). My analysis indicated that, by the second decade of the 21st century, recognition and discussion of fanfiction practices had expanded far beyond the confines of fanfiction communities. They had begun to attract the interests of not only literacy scholars, but also the creators and publishers of the media upon which the fanfiction works of US adolescents are most commonly based.

Part of the reason for this increased awareness and attention may have been due to the tremendous growth that online fanfiction communities were experiencing at the time. For example, in 2002, the fanfiction community website FanFiction.net reported a user base of 118,000 registered members (Buechner, 2002). By 2007, the site's traffic massively increased to the point where it accounted for over thirty-four percent of online traffic related to recreational reading and writing, including "author websites and writing and literary review sites" (Tancer, 2007).

The increased visibility of online fanfiction communities led non-practitioners to begin to associate distinct media preferences with fanfiction audiences. Several publishers tested the waters of literature specifically produced for fanfiction readers, and the resulting blockbuster successes of E. L. James' *Fifty Shades of Grey* -- a trilogy of novels adapted from the author's own BDSM-themed *Twilight* fanfiction works (Day, 2014) -- and Reine Hibiki's *Maria Watches Over Us* -- a thirty-nine volume young adult novel series focusing on the same-sex romantic friendships of a newly-inducted Catholic girls' school's student council member (Friedman, 2017) -- proved that textual elements traditionally associated with fan literacy practices could be adapted into multimedia franchises. As a result, many readers outside of the fanfiction communities were exposed to these elements for the first time. For example, the characteristic elements of slash fanfiction -- stories depicting romantic male relationships that were originally the purview of straight female audiences -- began to gain a greater foothold within the discourse of US LGBT communities (Peele, 2007; Pullen & Cooper, 2010).

Perhaps the most important consequence of the increased visibility of online fanfiction practice was that literacy scholars began to take a much closer look at fanfiction communities -- not just as they existed within broader conceptual theoretical

categories of digitally-mediated media literacy practice, but also in terms of the potential that fanfiction literacy practices had for use within US K-12 public school classrooms. This interest was driven by the escalation of policymakers' efforts to reshape US K-12 public school literacy instruction into a form they considered better suited toward the current generation of school children's development (Schechter & Denmon, 2012; Shamburg, 2012; Zhao & Lei, 2009). In response to the resulting series of public school policy shifts and changes, US literacy educators began to look much more closely at literacy researchers' ongoing attempts to uncover why particular informal fan literacy practices appealed to US students, how they differed from the ways reading and writing were traditionally taught in US K-12 public schools, and whether they might prove to be appropriate for inclusion in existing literacy curricula. Implicit to these inquiries were concerns about whether fan literacy practices such as fanfiction bore too close a resemblance to other recreational media practices that schools -- and society in general -had a tendency to discourage or even marginalize as frivolous or non-academic (Alvermann & Hagood, 2000; Alvermann et al., 2004; Gutiérrez, 2013; Harris, 2009; Jenkins et al., 2006; Stein & Busse, 2009).

Such concerns were consistent with the findings of late 20th century fan media scholars, such as Henry Jenkins, who considered popular and news media accounts of fans and their literacy practices to be overwhelmingly negative and dismissive (Ang, 1985; Jenkins, 1992). However, my own prior research on media depictions of fan fiction literacy practices has led me to suspect that this interpretation is outdated. In 2012, I conducted a study of news articles published within *The New York Times* between

1969 and 2011. I employed "frame and critical discourse analysis in order to examine how the news media's portrayal of fanfiction shapes and reflects the beliefs of teachers, students, and parents" (Berkowitz, 2012, p. 198). Analysis revealed that articles oriented toward parents and educators within *The New York Times* positioned digitally-mediated fanfiction not as a frivolous practice, but rather as a preferable alternative to more passive forms of adolescent media engagement such as mindlessly staring all day at a television screen (e.g., "I'm just pleased she reads something anymore" [Rich, 2009, p. C1]) or playing video games.

Similarly, articles oriented toward businesses referred to fanfiction's potential ability to stimulate adolescent interest in children's multimedia franchises. Entertainment media industry experts cited within these articles suggested that fanfiction offered "a whiff of counterculture coolness, the sort of grass-roots street cred that major companies desperately crave but can never manufacture" (Thompson, 2005, p. 21). The apparent contradiction between my findings and the prevalent beliefs of scholars about fanfiction's depiction within news media led me to wonder how media specifically produced for US K-12 public school teachers -- the most immediate authorities and arbiters of what constituted literacy within their students' lives -- presented fan literacies.

Did the ways in which journal publications present fanfiction literacy practices to teachers convey the same cautious optimism that I had observed within my study of *The New York Times*? Or, were they more in line with literacy researcher Angela Thomas' description of "the ways people (including teachers) have traditionally dismissed fan fiction" (Thomas, 2006, p. 229)? More importantly, how were these positive or negative

depictions of fanfiction employed within discussions of the implications of fanfiction literacy practice for K-12 public school classroom literacy instruction?

PROBLEM STATEMENT

Encouraging students to become personally interested in extracurricular writing is a key literacy instruction strategy, and literacy educators are especially interested in any recreational practices with the potential to instill in their students a lifelong passion for writing (Hidi & McLaren, 1991; National Writing Project, 2014; Nolen, 2007). The ultimate goal of bringing fanfiction into the classroom is for schools to better reflect how public school students engage with reading and writing practices in recreational settings (Hughes-Hassell & Rodge, 2007; Ivey, 1999; McKool, 2007; Pitcher et al., 2007; Schultz, 2002). Research into how fanfiction literacy practices are employed by adolescents within recreational contexts has indicated that fanfiction promotes the critical examination of popular culture texts, the development of interpersonal, literacy-mediated relationships with peers from a diverse range of cultural backgrounds, and the exploration of adolescent participants' own developing adolescent identities (Black, 2009a, 2009c; Chandler-Olcott & Mahar, 2003a, 2003b). These findings have led some scholars to suggest that fanfiction literacy practices be included in literacy educators' attempts to align their literacy education programs with contemporary adolescent extracurricular literacy activities (Grimes & Shade, 2005; Sekeres, 2009; Vasquez & Smith, 2003).

Beginning in 2003, fanfiction communities such as FanFiction.net had begun to become an increasingly prevalent context for US adolescents' extracurricular digital literacy activities (Tancer, 2007). This growth coincided with a marked increase in news media attention toward US adolescents' digitally-mediated recreational fanfiction practices. For example, my previous research on fanfiction-related articles published within *The New York Times* prior to 2011 revealed that 74% of the data set was published from 2003 to 2011, with a modal year (16%) of 2008. According to material uncovered during this study's literature review, this period of increased news media attention occurred at roughly the same time the first pilot programs for incorporating fanfiction into US K-12 public school classrooms were being conducted by and reported to US literacy educators.

News media depictions of educational issues represent important sites of inquiry for scholars' investigations into the media that contribute to educators' knowledge about research and practice (Buckingham, 2003a; Davis, 1997; Shaw & Nederhouser, 2005; Townsend & Ryan, 2012). However, while the analysis of news media reports during this period provides a view of the information US K-12 public school literacy educators may have been receiving about fanfiction from media intended for general US audiences, it does not indicate how material specifically intended for K-12 educators presented fanfiction during this same period. This represents a crucial gap in research for media researchers interested in increasing their understandings of how K-12 educators draw upon media in order to make decisions about classroom practice, which up until now has not been significantly addressed within the field of literacy education research. In order

to address this gap, this study investigated how information about fanfiction practitioners and communities of practice were presented within professional periodicals designed to inform US K-12 literacy educators of research and trends in media literacy instruction that occurred within the United States at the beginning of the 21st century.

During this study, I employed a sociocultural frame analysis research paradigm, in an effort to uncover how articles in these professional periodicals defined, depicted, and discussed adolescent fanfiction literacy practitioners and their practices, ranging from accounts of online fanfiction communities to K-12 public school fanfiction literacy pilot programs. In April and May of 2013, I collected data from periodicals published between 2003 and 2013, a ten-year span centered around a high degree of news media attention toward fanfiction literacy practices (Berkowitz, 2012). This period has been characterized by scholars of US educational policy as an era of increased institutional pressure surrounding the practice of K-12 public school literacy instruction (Cross, 2015; Dee & Jacob, 2010; Marshall, 2009). During this time, K-12 literacy educators worked within an environment of rapidly-shifting institutional mandates, ranging from early responses to the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, to struggles to modify high school literacy instruction to accommodate the 2011 National Assessment of Educational Progress Writing Framework. Restricting the data set to this specific period allowed for the longitudinal study of the literacy education discourses that US K-12 educators might have turned to in response to a particularly tumultuous and uncertain landscape of literacy instruction expectations and requirements.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The primary focus of the study is represented in the following research question:

"How is fanfiction framed for literacy education practitioner periodical audiences?"

LAYOUT AND ORGANIZATION

Following a definition of the terminology employed throughout this dissertation, the next two chapters constitute a comprehensive review of fanfiction. Chapter Two contains an account of the history of fanfiction practices, fanfiction practitioners, and fanfiction communities within the United States. This chapter also describes how fanfiction has traditionally been studied by researchers operating from a variety of academic disciplines, and how these scholars have typically applied a socio-cultural theoretical lens in their attempts to document, define, and categorize aspects of fanfiction practice. Chapter Three contains an account of the policies and pedagogies that have influenced how and why literacy education scholars study fanfiction literacy practices. The chapter focuses on the role fanfiction communities have played as crucial sites for literacy education research, and how this research contributed to ongoing debates over the intersection between media literacy and digital technology during the period of time corresponding to this research study's data set.

Chapter Four describes the methodology of the research study. The chapter begins with an in-depth explanation the socio-cultural frame analysis research paradigm and how it was operationalized in order to organize and code the study's data. This chapter also provides a detailed account of data collection and coding processes. Chapter Five presents an analysis of the data, and begins by identifying the data set's most notable thematic elements. It highlights how the articles within the data set framed fanfiction's relationship to a wide variety of problems and solutions within the field of K-12 public school literacy education. This chapter contains a full account of the three major frames uncovered by the research study: the Youth Practice frame, the Out-of-School Practice frame, and the Utilitarian Practice frame. It describes how the frames were constituted, the key characteristics of each frame, and what each frame category reflects within the data set.

Chapter Six situates the study's findings within larger contexts of literacy education research that existed before, during, and after the time period covered by the research study. This is followed by a discussion of how the nature and context of adolescents' out-of-school literacy practices have changed since 2013. The chapter concludes with a discussion of how research conducted on articles published between 2003 and 2013 may contribute to current and future scholars' forays into fanfiction-related literacy education research.

DEFINITION OF TERMS

<u>Affinity spaces</u>: This term, often used by literacy researchers to describe and define the nature of fanfiction communities, refers to informal learning communities composed of individuals who all wish to share, discuss, or increase their understanding of a common interest or interests (Gee, 2004).

<u>Beta reading/beta reader</u>: Beta readers are online fanfiction community participants who serve in a capacity roughly equivalent to an editor or proofreader. This term is used by fanfiction community members to describe the process that occurs prior to the publication and distribution of a fanfiction work in its final form (Jenkins, 2006, p. 180).

Critical media literacy: This is a term whose meaning varies depending on one's approach to media literacy and media literacy education. Critical media literacy represents both a theoretical lens and a set of analytic practices that may be applied to studies pertaining to literacy education, in order to uncover and challenge assumptions related to issues such as race, gender, and power that might be present within communicative contexts such as media discourse (Blackburn, 2003; Rowan et al., 2002). However, multiliteracy, digital literacy, and new media literacy scholars also use the term critical media literacy to describe a level of proficiency with new media technology. Unlike technical media literacies, which are required to use new media technologies, critical media literacies are required to critically think, connect, and create while using

new media communicative technologies (Bawden, 2008; Gilster, 1997; Markless & Streatfield, 2007; Rowan et al., 2002).

<u>Discourses</u>: Discourses are communicative practices that concern socio-cultural groups, affiliations, and relationships. They may involve situated group identities, methods of displaying and recognizing the group identities and affiliations of others, ways of coordinating and getting coordinated by other people and things, and characteristic ways of thinking about and expressing identity (Gee, 2005).

<u>Discourse analysis</u>: Discourse analysis is a research methodology employed during the examination of collections of communicative acts. There are many types of discourse analysis, including socio-cultural and cognitive-linguistic approaches. Discourse analysis has often been tied to investigations of the dynamics of power and agency related to the production, reproduction, and interpretation of a variety of communicative acts. It has also been employed in the examination of socio-cultural practices associated with media discourse (Fairclough, 1995).

<u>Fan</u>: From *fanatic*. A fan is an individual with strong cultural or media interest. In some cases, this interest may be related to practices that affirm, confirm, or develop an individual's self or group identity. The term is also often related to either a formal or informal affiliation with a group or groups whose members share a particular cultural or media interest (Jenkins, 1992).

<u>Fanfiction</u>: Fanfiction -- also known as fanfic, fan fiction, or fan fic -- is a term that describes both a category of literacy practice and its tangible product. Fanfiction authors/writers adopt and adapt elements from one or more sources -- such as books, movies, or television shows -- in order to create derivative, yet independent, creative works. Fanfiction is often shared and critiqued by fans of its source material. Within academia, fanfiction is often associated with online informal writing communities known as *fanfiction communities*.

<u>Frame analysis</u>: This term describes a research paradigm that may be utilized in order to determine how a particular concept or issue is defined or discussed across a collection of communicative events such as a media data set. The most dominant meanings, interpretations, and perspectives related to a concept or issue are known as *frames*. The related media research term *framing* is used to describe how frames emphasize the importance of certain meanings, ideas, and perspectives over others, as well as the process that affects this emphasis. Framing involves both the inclusion and exclusion of material, resulting in the transformation of how media audiences think, feel, and ultimately act in response to media messages (Entman, 1993, 2007; Goffman, 1974; Menashe & Siegel, 1998; Reese, 2001; Scheufele & Tewksbury, 2007).

<u>Multiliteracy</u>: Multiliteracy is an alternative to traditional media literacy education pedagogy, developed in response to and recognition of the rapidly shifting social and technological landscapes that form the contexts for students' out-of-school

communication and learning practices (Cope & Kalantzis, 2009; Kalantzis & Cope, 2012; Luke, 2000). Multiliteracy pedagogy is designed to nurture classroom communities centered around students' individual needs and perspectives. Multiliteracy incorporates multiple cultural perspectives and forms of communication, with the goal of better reflecting the dynamic nature and global cultural impact of modern media technologies (New London Group, 1996, p. 60; Rowan et al., 2002, p. 92).

New media literacy: This term is used within this dissertation to refer to newly emerging forms of media literacies that have accompanied recent technological advances such as high-speed internet and digital distribution of content (Buckingham, 1993; Buckingham, 2003b; Buckingham, 2007; Livingstone & Boville, 1999). Television programs, movies, books, newspapers, and magazines that take advantage of new literacy mindsets, such as post-industrial views of production and democratizing socio-cultural innovations (Knobel & Lankshear, 2006), may also fall under the umbrella of new media literacy. New media literacy is an important research concern for educators, because children receive a great deal of information from digital media (Buckingham, 2000; Bulger & Davison, 2018; Gretter & Yadav, 2018; Zhao & Lei, 2009). For example, a 2006 Pew Research study indicated that by age 21, the average American had exchanged 250,000 emails, instant messages, or text messages, spent 5,000 hours playing digital games, and used the internet for 3,500 hours (Rainie, 2006). By 2017, Pew Research found that 43% of Americans employed the internet as a source of news (Gottfried & Shearer, 2017) and

61% of US young adults watched television primarily through internet streaming services (Rainie, 2017)

Slash: This term denotes fanfiction works that focus on or emphasize the presence of romantic or sexual relationships between same-sex characters. Slash fiction most commonly contains homoerotic accounts of male-male relationships that are not present within the original works beyond subtext. Female-female relationships are often referred to using the associated term *femme-slash*. The term's origin is derived from *K/S*, a label employed by early *Star Trek* fanfiction communities' use of the term to denote homoerotic subtext between Kirk and Spock, the show's two male protagonists (Bacon-Smith, 1992; Hellekson & Busse, 2006; Jenkins, 1992). Aficionados of English-language fanfiction based on Japanese media properties employ the Japanese loan-word *yaoi* in place of slash (Peele, 2007; Pullen & Cooper, 2010) and *yuri* in place of femme-slash (Friedman, 2017).

<u>Technical media literacy</u>: This term was used by policymakers during the period covered by the data set to describe the proficiencies for using and operating new media communication technologies. In 2004, the US Department of Education described technical media literacy as "the knowledge and competence to compete in an increasingly technology-driven world economy" (U.S. Department of Education, 2004, p. 45). A variety of terms were previously used to refer to this concept, including: *emerging media literacy* (Shapiro & Hughes, 1996), *technological literacy* (U.S. Department of

Education, 1996), technology and information literacy skills (U.S. Department of Education, 2000) or 21st century skills (CEO Forum on Education and Technology, 2001). Technical and skill-based literacies have also often been referred to as digital literacies, although during the period covered by the data set, this latter term was often entangled with forms of literacy that would later become more closely associated with the concept of new media literacy (Bawden, 2008; Gilster, 1997; Koltay, 2011; Kope, 2006; Lankshear & Knobel, 2008; Martin, 2006).

CHAPTER TWO

"To enter fandom is to escape from the mundane into the marvelous" (Jenkins, 1988, p. 89).

THE ORIGINS AND STUDY OF FANFICTION

SUMMARY

This section describes how researchers and scholars from a wide range of academic disciplines have presented the history and nature of fanfiction practice within the United States. As this section will demonstrate, the most common motivation behind the academic study of fanfiction -- from the earliest efforts of cultural studies researchers to examine the socio-cultural practices of female science fiction and fantasy fans (Bacon-Smith, 1986), to the more recent investigations into slash fanfiction's defiance of "the stereotypes of homosexual masculinities" (Duggan, 2017, p. 39) -- has been the desire to ascertain just what differentiates fanfiction from other media practices. In order to present the academic foundations of the research study described in later chapters, this section will contain descriptions of how scholars have defined the origins of English-language fanfiction practice, as well as how they have generally restricted their studies of fanfiction to a specific range of media consumption, engagement, and production practices.

This will be followed by a discussion of how researchers have set about their investigations of fanfiction practitioners and fanfiction practitioner communities. This section will provide a description of the ways in which scholars have researched the practices of fanfiction, including an account of the theoretical frameworks that scholars have tended to employ within their studies. This conversation will summarize how scholars have historically interacted with fanfiction communities and practitioners, before transitioning into Chapter Three's more in-depth account of how education researchers have explained what fanfiction practitioners find appealing about fanfiction in comparison to other practices of media literacy consumption, engagement, or production.

ZINES AND STAR TREK

Much of the groundwork for scholars' current conceptions of fanfiction communities, practices, and practitioners was laid in the last two decades of the 20th century by scholars interested in the role fanfiction practices played within the culture of media fan communities. Although these early fan communities communicated through means other than the internet, they nevertheless had their own distinctive and observable socially-mediated literacy practices and conventions, many of which later formed the basis for the digitally-mediated literacy practices of online fanfiction communities. By studying the media consumption and production practices of these communities, cultural scholars hoped to gain a greater understanding of how these communities' relationships to media differed from contemporary models of socio-cultural media engagement.

Although some fanfiction scholars have pointed out that fanfiction is simply the most current iteration of millennia-old iterative storytelling and oral tradition practices (Derecho, 2006), the set of media literacy practices and products that are commonly referred to by academic researchers and fanfiction practitioners as fanfiction, fan fiction, fanfic, or fan fic did not emerge as a distinctly identifiable category until the mid-20th century. Within the United States, fanfiction evolved out of a related media production practice known as zine publication (Coppa, 2006; Verba, 1996). Decades later, the practice of zine publication would become closely linked with British punk music subcultures (Hebdige, 1979), but at the time they most commonly took the form of amateur literary magazines that science fiction and fantasy aficionados had begun publishing in the 1930s as a means "to fill in the dry weeks between" the releases of their favorite genre publications (Pohl, 1974, p. 23). Beginning with the 1930 publication of The Comet (Perkins, 1992), zines served as a focal point for science fiction and fantasy fan discourse, circulated through mailing lists and at science fiction conventions among fans who wished to critically discuss their favorite media works (Coppa, 2006; Lamb & Veith, 1986; Verba, 1996).

In the late 1960s, one particular subset of American fantasy and science fiction subculture began to produce zines that would go on to attract significant scholarly attention. In 1966, a short-lived science fiction television series named *Star Trek* began airing on the United States television network NBC. Following the show's cancellation, *Star Trek* developed a particularly fervent community of fans, one which drew unusually negative portrayals within United States news and entertainment media. As a result of

these negative depictions, *Star Trek* aficionados had developed a reputation for being obsessive, fanatical, and immature, and this attracted the attention of scholars interested in studying how depictions of media subcultures negatively influenced societal views (Jenkins, 1992).

In the process of their research into *Star Trek* fan communities and their practices, it became apparent to scholars that *Star Trek* fans had begun to produce a new variety of zine, focusing on "not simply the critical discussion typical of science fiction fandom but creative responses" as well (Coppa, 2006, p. 45). Beginning in 1966, *Star Trek* zines such as *Universal Translator*, *Scuttlebutt*, *Spockanalia*, and *ST-Phile* began to cater to a predominantly female subset of *Star Trek* fans interested in exploring the untold adventures of *Star Trek*'s protagonists (Bacon-Smith, 1986, 1992; Coppa, 2006; Jenkins, 1988; Lamb & Veith, 1986; Penley, 1992, 1997; Russ, 1985; Selley, 1986). These zine publications contained elements that were different from those of previous science fiction fanbases' fan-made periodicals. For instance, rather than discussions of fan theories, their contents were focused much more on the production of fan-made creative works, such as unofficial stories based on *Star Trek's* characters and situations (Coppa, 2006; Verba, 1996).

Over time, fan-written stories became a prominent and well-regarded fixture of *Star Trek* fan publications. Several stories, such as Ruth Berman's *For the Good of the Service* (1969) and Lelamarie S. Kreidler's *Time Enough* (1969), achieved acclaim within the *Star Trek* fan community, particularly among many members of the show's female fanbase (Lichtenberg et al., 1975; Verba, 1996). Although these stories were mostly

faithful to the television show upon which they had been based, many contained slight variations from the source material -- or canon -- of officially released *Star Trek* media. For instance, some authors took the *Star Trek* characters out of their science fiction setting and placed them in new literary genres. Other authors shifted the focus away from the male-dominated main cast toward secondary female and minority characters who received significantly less screen time. A number of authors personalized their *Star Trek* stories by writing idealized versions of themselves into their stories -- a literary convention that later came to be known within fanfiction communities as *Mary Sue*, after a term attributed to community member Paula Smith (Coppa, 2006; Driscoll, 2006; Jenkins, 1992; Lackner et al., 2006; Willis, 2006). Over time, common patterns of deviation from the source material would coalesce into identifiable narrative tropes and conventions, and by the end of the 20th century would form the basis for the practices of a variety of digitally-mediated fanfiction communities (Day, 2014; Jenkins, 1992).

SUBCULTURES

During the first several decades of *Star Trek* fanfiction practice, there were records of many disruptive verbal altercations between female *Star Trek* fanfiction authors and male fans of both *Star Trek* and other science fiction franchises. The most notable of these disagreements was the uproar that arose from fanfiction authors

Jacqueline Lichtenberg and Laura Basta's receipt of the 1974 Hugo Award for best fan writing, revolving around the perception that their works were too amateurish or too

catered toward the interests of female fans (Coppa, 2006; Verba, 1996). These gendered conflicts effectively galvanized fanfiction's reputation as a way for female science fiction and fantasy fans to engage with their media interests in a manner distinct from standard male-led science fiction and fantasy media engagement (Bacon-Smith, 2000; Jenkins, 1992).

As fanfiction writing became more and more strongly associated with female media engagement, a number of fanfiction literacy conventions arose that were specifically intended for female readers. The most notable of these conventions was *slash*, a literary archetype that originally focused on homosexual romance between the *Star Trek* characters Kirk and Spock (Lamb & Veith, 1986), but which prominently persists in fanfiction communities to this day. Many fanfiction scholars have focused on how slash fiction exemplifies the "subversiveness of women writing erotic fiction against the mainstream media" (Hellekson & Busse, 2006, p. 20), and how slash's homoerotic nature, coupled with the high degree of authorial agency within the production of fanfiction, have contributed to the spread of fanfiction practice to the female members of a wide variety of non-*Star Trek* fan communities (Derecho, 2006; Driscoll, 2006; Duggan, 2017; Hale, 2005; Penley, 1997).

Fanfiction practices soon began to attract the attentions of the corporations who owned the rights to fanfiction works' source texts, who came to view fanfiction as essentially free advertisements for their products. In their eyes, communities of fanfiction enthusiasts represented easily identifiable, and potentially lucrative, targets for commodification and incorporation into the "broader cultural economy" (Noppe, 2011, p.

7.1) of popular culture media marketed toward media fans (Pearson, 2010; Scott, 2009). Soon, relationships between the creators of fanfiction works and the creators of the media properties upon which fanfiction works were based began to take on recognizable forms that attracted the attentions of academic researchers interested in observing socially-mediated practices of entertainment media engagement (Andersen, 2010; Lammers, 2016).

The earliest academic explorations of fanfiction emerged from developing fields of cultural studies. Scholars operating out of these academic contexts were largely interested in the historical marginalization of adolescent popular cultures and media practices (Ang, 1985; De Kosnik, 2008; Felschow, 2010; Jensen, 1992; Sharratt, 1980). Their investigations often adopted subcultural models of transgressive media engagement as developed by Birmingham University's Center for Contemporary Cultural Studies in the 1970s (Hadas, 2009; Jenkins, 1992; Lothian, 2011). Prior to the dissemination of the Center's research, most cultural scholars held an aesthetic view of the relationship between culture and media, focused on drawing clear distinctions between cultural and non-cultural media works (Arnold, 1869; McNeill, 1996; Storey, 1993; Williams, 1961). The Center's scholars presented an alternative view of cultural studies, in which the everyday signs, symbols, and social interactions employed by members of societal subgroups could provide a window into the ways media were used to make meaning and articulate world views (Clarke et al., 2006; Hebdige, 1979; Willis 1977, 1978). These worldviews were then analyzed for their consistency with, or opposition to, prevalent societal norms concerning expressions of media tastes and media preferences.

The Center for Contemporary Cultural Studies' (CCCS) research was widely influential on a generation of socio-cultural researchers, particularly those who held the view that the media consumption and production practices of transgressive societal movements were tools of resistance rather than recreation (CCCS, 2006). Their approach was influenced by a number of other twentieth century cultural scholars like Roland Barthes and Antonio Gramsci, who envisioned culture as a complex network of classes, each competing to disseminate and naturalize their messages upon the less dominant members of society (Clarke et al., 2006). For instance, the use of the swastika within the iconography of British Punk music subculture constituted a deliberate attempt to fracture, challenge, and resist hegemonic attempts to manufacture cultural consensus about what such symbols should mean (Hebdige, 1979, 2006). By using the swastika, British Punks communicated their subcultural affiliations to one another in a way that deliberately antagonized non-Punks.

In turn, this antagonism contributed to the depiction of these signs, symbols, and rituals within popular and news media accounts as evidence of these groups' status "as threats to public order" or "as harmless buffoons" (Hebdige, 1979, p. 2). Here, the term *hegemony* was used to describe the ways in which researchers interpreted the constant dismissive portrayal -- or *marginalization* -- of deviant and transgressive ideologies and media preferences within popular and news media accounts of youth culture (Althusser, 1969; Barthes, 1972; Gramsci, 1971; Hall, 1977; Hebdige, 1979; McNeill, 1996; Williams, 1961). This conflict-theoretical lens would frequently be applied to the research of socio-cultural scholars, who posited that the dominant media preferences of

society were upheld through periodic attempts to systematically portray groups such as Mods, punks, and Goths as deviant, immature, and abnormal (Hall & Jefferson, 1979/2006; Herman & Chomsky, 1988).

Many of the earliest investigations into the practices of media fans were also heavily influenced by the views of contemporary feminist scholars. These scholars posited that female members of emerging subcultures placed a significant degree of importance on media practices which challenged prevalent societal gender identity norms. These scholars asserted that their contemporaries' research interests were fixated almost entirely on overly public, masculine expressions of subcultural identity, rather than more private displays of affiliation displayed by women (Lewis, 1987; McRobbie, 1984, 1991). Feminist scholars argued that this overly-masculine interpretation of fan practice might result in an inaccurate or incomplete academic understanding of fan practices typically enjoyed by women, such as fanfiction writing.

Cultural researchers who extended the scope of feminist socio-cultural theories to fantasy and science fiction fan communities found that groups of media fans shared many characteristics in common with models of female youth cultures as presented by feminist scholar Lisa Lewis (1987). These communities were overly composed of women who were dissatisfied with the constraints or ideals of traditional dominant, parent, and sci-fi/fantasy subcultures. Their members desired to share experiences, and identify with other young women. They placed a significant focus on media or consumer behavior.

Most crucially, they incorporated a rejection of traditional male and female gender roles or domains of activity into their group ideologies (Bacon-Smith, 1992; Jenkins, 1992;

Lewis, 1992). This interpretation also drew from Angela McRobbie's research (1991) on how patriarchal power relations present in mainstream society carried over into maledominated subcultures that consequently became just as oppressive toward women as mainstream society. Through this lens, the conflicts between the predominantly female *Star Trek* fanfiction practitioners and the predominantly male members of the general science fiction and fantasy fan community were evidence that fan communities themselves constituted subcultural sites of cultural conflict (Jenkins, 1992).

RESEARCH CONTEXTS

By the early 1990s, fan practices and fan communities became an increasingly popular focus for socio-cultural research (Bacon-Smith, 2000; Baym, 2000; Fiske, 1992; Grossberg, 1992; Jensen, 1992; Lavery et al., 1996; Tulloch & Jenkins, 1995). The most influential of these works would prove to be Henry Jenkins' *Textual Poachers: Television Fans and Participatory Culture* (1992), an auto-ethnographic account of fan communities, their practices, and their status as marginalized media subcultures (TWC Editor, 2008). Jenkins adopted the term "textual poaching" from Michel de Certeau (1984) in order to describe not only the way that fanfiction practices were viewed by non-practitioner scholars, but also the mechanics that governed fanfiction's literacy practices. Jenkins formed a model of fanfiction as a media subculture, drawing on a variety of conflict-theoretical cultural perspectives such as Roland Barthes' *second-level signification*, Antonio Gramsci's *moving equilibrium*, Pierre Bourdieu's *aesthetic*

disposition, and Claude Lévi-Strauss' *bricolage* (Jenkins, 1988, 1992). Jenkins' resulting model of fanfiction practice depicted fanfiction authors as literary scavengers, who "take works that other people may regard as worthless, and turn them into a reward source of cultural capital" (Dozier, 2013).

Over the following twenty-five years, Jenkins' account of fanfiction as subculture would greatly influence the work of scholars whose interest in fanfiction community practices had long outgrown the confines of *Star Trek* fandom and had expanded to include and account for fanfiction works written by fans of a variety of popular media franchises. Scholars examined fanfiction works based on television shows such as *Xena: Warrior Princess* (Boese, 1998; Hamming, 2001), *Buffy the Vampire Slayer* (Busse, 2002), *X-Files* (Silvergleid, 2003), and *Gossip Girl* (Land, 2010); novel series such as *Harry Potter* (Duggan, 2017; Shave, 2004), *The Hunger Games* (Curwood, 2013), *Lord of the Rings* (Smol, 2004), and *Twilight* (Day, 2014); musicals such as *Wicked* (Lammers & Marsh, 2015); children's cartoons such as *My Little Pony* (Ellis, 2015); and video games such as *Overwatch* (Deyo, 2016; Gorry, 2016). As academic interest in fanfiction began to grow, fanfiction practices themselves were undergoing a gradual shift toward a new form of distribution that would soon change how scholars examined and interpreted the production of fanfiction works.

On December 2, 1992, Jean Prior established ForKNI-L, an online mailing list for fellow fans of the early 90s Canadian vampire crime drama *Forever Knight* (Coppa, 2006). Prior to ForKNI-L, fanfiction authors most commonly exchanged their stories through letters and fanzines and face-to-face at conventions. Some fanfiction authors had

begun to share their works online via newsgroups such as Usenet, but at this point this means of communication was considered difficult for the uninitiated to access or navigate (Usenet, 2018). ForKNI-L and the numerous mailing lists that quickly followed provided mediums of communication for reading and distributing fanfiction which did not require their users to possess extensive knowledge of computers. Accessible to anyone with an email address, and run by administrative teams of "highly educated, science-oriented women" (Coppa, 2006, p. 53), these online mailing lists served as stepping stones for both existing and newly-formed fanfiction communities to bring their means of distribution and communication in line with advances in telecommunications.

Subsequently, bulletin boards, message boards, and online journaling network websites such as Livejournal quickly and successively replaced one another as the preferred platforms for media fans to exchange stories based on a wide variety of media source texts (Hellekson & Busse, 2006; Verba, 1996). The widening accessibility of online fanfiction websites (Lammers & Palumbo, 2017) soon gave way to new community contexts for the exchange of fanfiction works, such as the Nifty Archive, an online repository hosting erotic fanfiction works based on real-life celebrities rather than fictional characters (Hale, 2005). The rise of these searchable fanfiction databases -- filterable not only by source text, but also by a story's tone or content -- allowed fans of the medium of fanfiction itself to explore archives containing hundreds of thousands of stories, based on practically any contemporary or past media franchise.

The migration of fanfiction communities into these new digital contexts resulted in much broader changes to the nature of fanfiction practice than just an increase in the

diversity of ways fanfiction practitioners shared and distributed fanfiction. The ease with which readers' critiques of fanfiction works could now be instantaneously communicated to fanfiction authors resulted in more frequent and productive interactions between members of fanfiction communities. Additionally, as access to fanfiction became more readily available, fanfiction began to attract an ever-widening population of authors with their own particular motivations for, and means of, producing fanfiction works. As the nature of fanfiction's form and function broadened, there became a need for scholars to identify just what they meant when they referred to fanfiction practices.

FANFICTION AFTER JENKINS

The most influential and widely-used academic model of fanfiction during the late 20th century conceived of every work of fanfiction as being based on one or more source texts, whose canonical storylines and characterizations effectively constituted a framework of conventions and requirements for authors (Bacon-Smith, 1986; Derecho, 2006; Garcia, 2016; Jenkins, 1992). These requirements were specific expectations, placed upon fanfiction authors by fanfiction readers and fanfiction communities. Such contextual requirements were enforced and mediated by authors and readers, and provided an informal "rubric of details regarding the laws and policies and history of the universe set forth" by the original work's author (Stein & Busse, 2009, p. 196). For

example, if the original author of *Harry Potter* had firmly established that one of Harry's teachers was trustworthy, a fanfiction author might be criticized by other fanfiction afficionados for writing a story in which that teacher betrayed Harry. These informal rules were coupled with more formal, coordinated social norms about issues like fair use and creativity, which differed from fanfiction community to community (Hetcher, 2009).

This model for understanding would come to be strongly associated with the work of socio-cultural scholar Henry Jenkins, whose 1992 publication of Textual Poachers was the most frequently-cited work of fanfiction scholarship within the articles examined in preparation for this literature review. Fanfiction communities were presented by Jenkins as groups of authors and/or readers bound by an interest in engaging with fanfiction works and their source texts (Jenkins, 1992). Jenkins' model would be referenced or employed within studies conducted by scholars operating from a wide range of academic fields, including: cross-cultural examinations of Japanese self-published fanfiction comic books known as dōjinshi (Leavitt & Horbinski, 2012; McLelland, 2011); gender scholars investigating homoerotic English-language fanfiction works -- based on Japanese animation franchises such as Mobile Suit Gundam Wing -- which were referred to as yaoi rather than slash by their authors (Peele, 2007; Pullen & Cooper, 2010); legal scholars focusing on the norms of online fanfiction practice as they relate to pre-existing doctrines of intellectual property and fair use (Hetcher, 2009); linguistic scholars interpreting fanfiction communities as zones of proximal development (Thorne, 2009); and -- most

pertinent to this study -- literacy scholars (Andersen, 2010; Lammers, 2016; Land, 2010) modeling fanfiction communities as multimodal affinity spaces (Lammers et al., 2012; Thein & Beach, 2013) wherein adolescents engage in democratizing (Kelley, 2016), identity-constructing practices (Thorne et al., 2015). Across all disciplines, these Jenkins-inspired fanfiction studies were found to have focused not only on the relationships of fanfiction works to their source materials, but also on the digitally-media literacy practices involved in fanfiction's creation and distribution.

Studies of the digital mechanisms and mediums through which fanfiction has been conveyed and discussed were often focused on fanfiction communities as common contexts for fanfiction practice (Hellekson, 2015; Lammers & Marsh, 2015; Van Tuyl, 2016). Fanfiction researchers have often ascribed to online fanfiction practitioners an adherence to basic, community-defined patterns of production, consumption, and interpretation (Jenkins, 1992; Noppe, 2011). Many of the terms that scholars use to refer to these patterns and practices — such as *beta reading*, a form of peer interaction that fanfiction community members employ in place of the tasks traditionally carried out by editors within the publishing industry (Karpovich, 2006) — have been adopted directly from the discourse of fanfiction practitioners. This is the result of a high concentration of fanfiction practitioner researchers within the field of fanfiction research, whom fanfiction scholars colloquially refer to as *aca-fans* as a diminutive for *academic fans* (Hills, 2002).

Aca-fans play an important role in fostering goodwill and cooperation between academic researchers and fanfiction practitioners, many of whom are highly attuned to the ways in which their practices and communities might be negatively or inaccurately portrayed by outsider media discourses. Fanfiction researchers have historically been strongly influenced by fanfiction community input, as evidenced by the heavy citation bias in favor of Jenkins' Textual Poachers (1992) over Enterprising Women: Television Fandom and the Creation of Popular Myth (1992), a similarly comprehensive account of fanfiction community practice published in the same year by Camille Bacon-Smith. Although Bacon-Smith's ethnographic work contained many of the same insights as Jenkins' auto-ethnography, many female authors of homoerotic slash fanfiction reacted negatively to Bacon-Smith's depictions of their cultural practices and motivations, and believed Jenkins' text was a more nuanced and sympathetic portrayal of gender and sexuality in fanfiction (Fanlore, 2017a; Yost, 1994). A more recent example of the necessity of goodwill between fanfiction researchers and fanfiction practitioners was Ogi Ogas and Sai Gaddam's infamous Rule 34: What Netporn Teaches Us About The Brain, a survey of Livejournal-based fanfiction communities that was abandoned after several fanfiction practitioners voiced significant ethical and methodological issues about the study (Fan History, 2010; Fanlore, 2017a).

Among practitioner researchers, fanfiction has frequently been treated as a topic of cross-disciplinary academic interest. As a result, fanfiction researchers have often presented their studies at conferences specifically devoted to interdisciplinary investigations of fan practices and fan communities (Berkowitz, 2011). However, as

research into fanfiction community practices continues to grow, researchers have begun to develop consistent ways of interpreting the practices of fanfiction communities and practitioners within the contexts of their particular fields of study. Within the field of education, literacy researchers have incorporated online fanfiction communities' patterns of behavior into their new and evolving conceptions of what precisely constitutes digitally-mediated literacy practice.

In the following chapter, the focus of this literature review will turn to the lenses through which digitally-mediated, as well as socially-mediated, fanfiction reading and writing practices have typically been examined by these literacy education researchers. The ensuing discussion will include an examination of how literacy scholars have come to reconcile the mechanisms of fanfiction literacy practice with existing models for adolescent literacy practice. It will also include an investigation into the factors that have made fanfiction such an important focus of educational research interest during the period covered by the study's data set, as well as the implications that this research has had, and continues to have, on the rapidly-shifting landscape of US K-12 public school literacy curriculum and pedagogy.

CHAPTER THREE

"By the mid-1990s, the emphatic and singular connotations of the term 'literacy' were beginning to work not-so-well" (Cope & Kalantzis, 2015, p. 1).

FANFICTION LITERACY PRACTICE

SUMMARY

In 1984, literacy scholar Brian Street put forth a model that defined literacy as "the social practices and conceptions of reading and writing" (Street, 1984, p. 1), which -- although contentious at the time of its publication -- became one of the most widely-accepted definitions of literacy practice among US literacy education scholars (Koltay, 2011). Building upon the earlier work of Silvia Scribner and Michael Cole (1981), Street advanced a conception of literacy that encompassed not only the technical skills and proficiencies necessary for the practice of reading and writing, but also the socio-cultural contexts within which literacy practices were situated (Lankshear & Knobel, 2008). Research into these literacy contexts involved questions of what and where, but also the how and the why: considerations for the access, authority, and power that influence literacy practicioners' agency and ability to make their voices heard within their own literacy practices (Koltay, 2011). Investigations of how literacy practices were enacted within these socio-cultural contexts resulted in a wave of research into new forms of

democratically-oriented literacy education pedagogy, with the goal of expanding "the power, voice, and influence available to a broad range of communities who are differentially situated in relation to the dominant institutions and practices of the broadcast era" (Jenkins, in Stein, 2014, 2.77).

Yet, for some scholars, the rapidly changing nature of the contexts within which literacy is practiced has led to an overwhelming sense that "the list of newer literacies does not seem to end" (Koltay, 2011, p. 218). By the beginning of the 21st century, Street's once controversial model for a socio-cultural conception of literacy practice had resulted in a complex ecosystem of competing approaches to technologically-mediated classroom literacy pedagogy (Bawden, 2008). Prominent literacy scholar David Buckingham had begun to caution his peers against contributing to the increase in new literacy terminologies, arguing that "this proliferation of literacies may be fashionable, but it raises some significant questions," specifically about whether "literacy" had become merely a "vague synonym" for skill or competency (Buckingham, 2007, p. 43). Other scholars expressed concerns that the preponderance of new forms and new conceptions for literacy had lent a sense of confusion to scholars' attempts to distinguish these literacies from one another, and that "definitional issues have plagued the concept" (Koltay, 2011, p. 215) of literacies, such as informational literacy (Ward, 2006). It was from this tumultuous landscape that the study of fanfiction as a literacy practice emerged as a potentially fruitful site for exploring how closely scholars' new pedagogical models for literacy resembled the ways in which adolescent engagement with digital media was continuing to develop.

Literacy scholars' investigations into digitally-mediated literacy practice have resulted in the publication of a number of findings concerning the nature of fanfiction practices, fanfiction practitioners, and fanfiction communities. Many of the articles within the study's data set (see Chapter Four) presented US K-12 public school teachers with suggestions derived from these findings. To that end, this chapter examines how these findings have emerged from work conducted by United States literacy scholars prior to and during the ten-year period covered by the research study.

POLICY FOUNDATIONS

Fanfiction's role as a literacy practice has always been an element of the academic study of fanfiction, dating back as early as Henry Jenkins' foundational work establishing the mechanisms of fanfiction production (Jenkins, 1992). However, the relationship between fanfiction literacy and US K-12 public school literacy instruction did not truly develop in earnest until changes within the US K-12 public education system necessitated that literacy researchers work to provide literacy education practitioners with the tools to meet new literacy education mandates and standards. This section describes how the policy environment of US K-12 public school education in the late 20th and early 21st centuries led researchers to pay closer attention to recreational literacy practices such as fanfiction writing.

Throughout the 20th century, US K-12 public school educators were no strangers to bold predictions about how their profession would be fundamentally improved or

transformed by new and developing forms of media communications technology. For example, in 1922 the popularization of film entertainment led Thomas Edison to claim that "the motion picture is destined to revolutionize our educational system, and that in a few years it will supplant largely, if not entirely, the use of textbooks" (Edison, in Weir, 1922, p. 85). Just a decade later, Ohio School of the Air founder Benjamin Darrow made similar predictions about radio (Darrow, 1932). Half a century later, digital forms of communication had become the new focus of prognostication, with scholars such as Seymour Papert asserting that "there won't be schools in the future... I think the computer will blow up the school" (Papert, in Clark & Wentworth, 1997, p. 9).

By the end of the 20th century, though, the internet and its associated new forms of socially-mediated communication had not made US public schools obsolete.

Nevertheless, they remained the focus of considerable education-related speculation and discussion. Digital forms of interpersonal communication had become the focus of a new era of advocacy for increased classroom technology use (McKinsey & Co., 1995; Mehlinger, 1996; Murray, 2006). However, as many scholars had already begun to point out, this era was destined to be remembered not for its successful policy implementation, but rather by the "unfulfilled promise and continued enthusiasm" of and toward media technology (Zhao & Lei, 2009, p. 674).

By this point in the history of the US public school education system, teachers and policymakers had long abandoned the notion that existing standards of literacy instruction adequately reflected "life-altering changes" (Zhao & Lei, 2009, p. 675) to the ways that people had come to engage in practices of written communication. However,

there was little consensus among policymakers or literacy researchers about what, precisely, needed to change in order to bring classroom reading and writing instruction in line with the way reading and writing was being conducted outside of schools. The crux of this debate concerned the impact of computer technology use on student achievement.

Studies of the relationship between student access to computers and in-school literacy performance produced a number of contradictory findings. Some indicated that this relationship was positive (Blasewitz & Taylor, 1999; Nix, 1998; Scrase, 1998; Tracey & Young, 2007), whereas others found that bringing computers into classrooms limited, rather than encouraged, the development of critical thinking (Waight & Abd-El-Khalick, 2007). Several studies tied frequency of home computer use to lower in-school performance and test scores (Antonijevic, 2007; Aypay et al., 2007; MacDonald, 2004; Schacter, 1999). Despite this lack of consensus, the US Department of Education put forth a National Educational Technology Plan in 2004, promising a path toward "a new golden age in American education" (U.S. Department of Education, 2004, p. 9), brought about by the integration of new, digital literacy tools into US K-12 public schools.

For many scholars of education policy, this mandate was merely the latest in a long series of proclamations made by policy makers, policy advocacy groups, and school administrators (CEO Forum on Education and Technology, 2001; U.S. Department of Education, 1996; U.S. Department of Education, 2000), who, regardless of conclusive proof of the specific link between technology and student achievement, were "fueled by

the hope that technology can bring significant improvement in education" (Zhao & Lei, 2009, p. 672). By the turn of the 21st century, calls for "connecting the public K-12 schools to the information superhighway" (McKinsey & Co., 1995, p. 12) had resulted in not only a "national infatuation with computers" (Cordes & Miller, 2000, p. 1), but also a significant amount of educational spending on classroom technology. A series of national and state policy directives saw billions of dollars allocated toward providing students with internet-capable classrooms. Teachers working in these classrooms were expected to modify their existing instructional practices in ways that would instill their students with "the knowledge and competence to compete in an increasingly technology-driven world economy" (U.S. Department of Education, 2004, p. 45). Yet, it quickly became apparent that existing classroom instructional practices were relatively resilient in their resistance to the influence of new classroom technologies (Cuban, 2001; Fox, 2005).

Policy scholars such as Yong Zhao and Jing Lei observed that, despite 60 billion dollars of school technology upgrades, "it would be quite difficult to find many meaningful differences in how and what students study in school today and how and what they studied in school in 1996" (Zhao & Lei, 2009, p. 672). Some early research on technology policy implementation indicated that the parties most frequently blamed for the failure of technologically-based initiatives were teachers, who were characterized as unable or unwilling to incorporate new technologies into their classrooms (Conway & Zhao, 2003; MacMillan et al., 1997; Noble, 1996). Other scholars laid the blame on local

school administrators, whom they suggested had failed to successfully observe and learn from other districts' effective technology-based school reforms (Bogden, 2001; Fullan, 2001; Stager, 2006). Yet, it was during this same period that many educational policy researchers (Campbell, 1998; Committee on Technological Literacy et al., 2002; Yannie, 2000) had begun to strongly assert that the problems with US educational technology reforms lay with the failure to realize that the ubiquity of technology would not necessarily lead to greater understanding of the ways "technology interacts with people and society" (Zhao & Lei, 2009, p. 672). These researchers echoed a concern that literacy education scholars had been voicing for decades: that no matter how many resources the US public school education system devoted toward filling their classrooms with computers, classroom tech use was bound to fail as long as schools "merely focus on how to use specific technology hardware and software, but not the deep understanding of the nature of technology" or the way in which it was employed (Zhao & Lei, 2009, p. 672).

For years, many critics of school policy posited that there was a fundamental incompatibility between digital media communications technologies and the structure of K-12 public school education (Collins, 1996; Papert, 1993; Ravitch, 1993). These scholars suggested that a new approach to classroom literacy education pedagogy was required in order to successfully employ such technologies within public school classrooms. In order to reconcile these incompatibilities, these scholars suggested that

educators turn their attentions toward the literacy pedagogies that underlie their classroom implementations of digitally-mediated technology (New London Group, 1996). Rather than focusing on employing digital technology as a tool, these scholars proposed alternative literacy pedagogies that would treat technology as a context for critical interaction within a rapidly changing, digitally-mediated cultural landscape (Bawden, 2008; Cuban, 2001; Gilster, 1997; Hobbs, 1998).

MEDIA LITERACY

By the end of the 20th century, scholars' conceptions of the mechanics of students' out-of-school literacy practices had begun to rapidly change in response to a new landscape of media technology, and researchers had turned their attentions toward identifying the ways these changes were altering political, economic, and interpersonal interactions in society (Giroux, 2005; Rainie, 2006; Zhao & Lei, 2009). However, the tendency of US public school policy makers to focus solely on the technological causes of these societal shifts was viewed by many researchers as a grave systematic error. These researchers' examinations of students' engagement with contemporary media technologies had led them to conclude that policy makers had misjudged exactly how much -- or rather, how little -- these technologies themselves effected societal change.

used for purposes of adolescents' personal expression, but rather how changes in personal expression guided adolescents' selection and use of this technology.

Researchers took issue with policy makers' assumptions that, when given a choice between digitally-mediated forms of reading and writing and their traditional alternatives, students would overwhelmingly choose newer mediums of communications. Studies such as Gunther Kress' investigations into how children select their own means of sociocultural expression (1997) demonstrated that that K-12 students' choices of particular forms of expression over others were primarily dictated by "the materials they have at hand, or the techniques they have mastered, on the basis of 'interest' in what is of crucial importance to them at the given moment" (Van Leeuwen, 2015, p. 460). This, in turn, bolstered scholars' assertions that, to US K-12 students, the ability to express oneself was a more important consideration than the means through which the self was expressed. For this reason, many scholars pushed K-12 educators to disentangle their views of reading and writing from their views of the mediums through which reading and writing were conveyed. The idea that the nature and merit of particular mediums of expression, such as print publications or multimedia videos, were necessarily tied to the nature and merit of the messages they conveyed to their audiences, was considered an outdated model of literacy pedagogy.

For these reasons, researchers' prescribed reforms to traditional classroom literacy pedagogies and instructional practices shifted away from models of technological literacy

-- "the ability to ongoingly adapt to, understand, evaluate and make use of the continually emerging innovations in information technology" (Shapiro & Hughes, 1996) -- toward models of media literacy -- the ability to access, create, understand, and critically evaluate media content (Koltay, 2011). Shifting notions of what precisely constituted the practice of media literacy within this new era of telecommunications were shepherded by a vocal group of literacy scholars, who believed that traditional approaches to literacy education had become outmoded, outdated, and unable to adequately prepare students for the steady pace of media technology development that was likely to continue for most of their future adult lives. Rather than focusing on instilling students with the ability to identify, understand, and make use of these new technologies, media literacy scholars instead directed literacy educators to "facilitate understanding of how the media produce meaning, how they are organized, and how they construct their own reality" (Gutiérrez Martín and Hottmann, 2006, p. 4). Many scholars suggested that one possible way to implement these changes might be to modify K-12 classroom literacy instruction to more closely emulate the patterns of literacy engagement in which US K-12 students were already likely to engage (Giroux, 2005; Moje, 2000; Rainie, 2006; Rideout et al., 2005; Shifrin, 2006).

Researchers who called upon teachers to adopt and adapt their students' existing recreational literacy practices for classroom use often operated under the view that out-of-school contexts for literacy practice were in some way pedagogically superior to in-

school contexts. For instance, literacy researcher James Paul Gee posited that digitally-mediated contexts of literacy practice offered adolescents a greater variety of routes to participation and status when compared to traditional K-12 literacy classroom settings (Gee & Hayes, 2010). Gee coined the term *affinity space* to describe informal learning spaces whose members shared a common desire to discuss and increase their understanding of a particular interest. Affinity spaces provided participants with opportunities to conduct reciprocal learning across experience lines and to transform media content in response to the actions and interactions of fellow participants (Gee, 2004, pp. 87-88).

Gee's interest in adolescents' recreational literacy practices was shared not only by scholars who adopted affinity space terminology (Lammers et al., 2012) but also by literacy researchers and theorists who operated under other literacy frameworks (Merchant, 2009; Thorne, 2009). The literacy researchers who would come to be most closely associated with the study of fanfiction were those operating under multiliteracy and new media literacy frameworks. In 1996, a group of scholars known as the New London Group (1996) met to discuss and outline a cohesive pedagogical model for the inschool replication of the most beneficial aspects of out-of-school literacy practices. These guidelines focused on maintaining "a teaching and learning relationship" between peers and ensuring a "full and equitable social participation" among diverse student bodies (Cope & Kalantzis, 2000; New London Group, 1996, p. 60). This model, which

the New London Group referred to as a *pedagogy of multiliteracies*, influenced many literacy scholars' growing understandings of media literacy. It served as a guide for literacy researchers and educators to envision their students' out-of-school media practices, and served as a signpost for a new scholastic movement toward newer, more democratizing forms of conceiving and teaching the relationships between individuals and the media they regularly produce and consume (Aufderheide, 1992; Koltay, 2011). Over the next decade, this pedagogy of multiliteracies would grow and diversify into a number of angles from which to evaluate recreational media literacy practices such as fanfiction.

FANFICTION RESEARCH

In subsequent years, a number of researchers and theorists strove to define and articulate the core operationalizable aspects of their proposed pedagogies for digitally-mediated media literacy instruction (e.g., Bawden, 2008; Martin, 2006). These new approaches were modeled on patterns of media engagement that these researchers had begun to observe in K-12 students' out-of-school recreational behaviors (Honan, 2009; Lanham, 1995; Rowan et al., 2002). In 1998, media literacy researcher Renee Hobbs posed seven key, unresolved pedagogical questions to these scholars, each one designed to clarify the processes by which new forms of literacy instruction were being developed for and implemented within K-12 classrooms (Hobbs, 1998):

- 1) Should media literacy education aim to protect children and young people from negative media influences?
- 2) Should media production be an essential feature of media literacy education?
- 3) Should media literacy focus on popular culture texts?
- 4) Should media literacy have a more explicit political and/or ideological agenda?
- 5) Should media literacy be focused on school-based K-12 educational environments?
- 6) Should media literacy be taught as a specialist subject or integrated within the context of existing subjects?
- 7) Should media literacy initiatives be supported financially by media organizations?

Over the next decade, debates over the answers to these questions would continue to drive media literacy research and theory. One of the consequences of these debates was the emergence of fanfiction as a site of literacy research. Prior to this point, fanfiction had often been implicitly referred to as a literacy practice within literacy theorists' discussions of adolescent media consumption and media engagement (Alvermann, 2008; Storey, 1996). Now, however, the drive to discover just how well scholars' theoretical models for adolescent literacy practice aligned to actual adolescent literacy practices led researchers to conduct more explicit investigations into what, precisely, it meant for fanfiction to be a *literacy practice*.

Many of the resulting studies of fanfiction sought to fit examples of fanfiction practice into existing theories of adolescent media literacy. Some scholars believed that

the horizontal and egalitarian structures common among fanfiction and other fan media creation practices (Alvermann & Hagood, 2000; Gutiérrez, 2013) closely corresponded to the New London Group's socially-oriented model for literacy practice. Consequently, digitally-mediated communities devoted to peer-oriented fanfiction writing were offered as examples of contexts for multiliteracy frameworks. Online fanfiction communities also fit the aims of researchers who had adopted the view that digitally-mediated affinity spaces were pedagogically superior to US K-12 public school contexts for reading and writing. For these researchers, the enthusiasm with which adolescent fanfiction practitioners engaged in creative writing stood in stark contrast to existing literacy education practices that they had characterized as incapable of sufficiently motivating or engaging a generation of naturally tech-savvy and media literate adolescents.

Fanfiction's use as an example within this discourse was pervasive. By 2008, literacy scholars Colin Lankshear and Michele Knobel would remark: "it has almost become a research cliché to cite instances of young people trapped in literacy remediation in schools whilst winning public esteem as fan fiction writers, AMV remixers, or successful gamers online" (Lankshear & Knobel, 2008, p. 8). Yet, despite the diversity of form and function within fanfiction practice, most educational studies of fanfiction presented remarkably identical models for the nature and context of adolescent fanfiction writing. K-12 literacy education researchers most commonly conceived of fanfiction literacy practices in terms of the conventions surrounding their patterns of media production within digitally-mediated online community spaces.

Literacy researchers contended that every work of fanfiction was based on one or more source texts, and that fanfiction authors expected that members of fanfiction communities -- or at the very least, those who chose to read their works -- shared intertextual knowledge about these established characters and storylines. Educational research on online fanfiction databases indicated that these sites of fanfiction literacy practice typically provided fanfiction authors with much more than just a repository for the storage of digital copies of their media works: they also offered creators large, multicultural peer communities, brought together by common media interests rather than demographics such as race, gender, age, class, or ability. This peer-oriented conception of fanfiction practice fit models of adolescent literacy such as affinity spaces that ascribed a strong egalitarian nature to digitally-mediated adolescent literacy practice.

During this period, literacy researchers observed that most online fanfiction communities set standards of discourse and interaction designed to govern these patterns of reception and discussion among members. Fanfiction community members' interests might include specific media source texts -- such as *Harry Potter* or *Gundam Wing* -- or they might involve an interest in specific types of fanfiction writing -- such as romantically-oriented *slash* or lyrically-driven *songfic* (Fanlore, 2017b; O'Malley, 2013) -- that members enjoy regardless of a work's particular source material. However, regardless of fanfiction's source material, fanfiction communities imposed informal rules and codes of conduct, which were typically found in conjunction with more formal, coordinated social norms about issues like fair use and creativity, including clearly delineated patterns of exchange and attribution (Jenkins, 1992; Noppe, 2011; Stein &

Busse, 2009) that differed from fanfiction community to fanfiction community (Hetcher, 2009).

In this way, the source texts' canonical storylines and characterizations were depicted as frameworks of specific expectations placed on fanfiction authors by other fanfiction enthusiasts. Unlike the expectations placed upon students by their teachers, these restrictions were determined by peer consensus. Fanfiction authors and their readers had determined which elements of the original texts were most important, and which were fair game for deviation. This allowed authors to produce works that adhered to beloved character traits and referenced popular storylines, while simultaneously granting them the creative freedom to create a desired sense of confusion and incongruity by willfully contradicting well-known elements of the original text (Jenkins, 1992; Stein & Busse, 2009).

Literacy researchers noted that, although "technically, there is nothing to stop a fanfic author from, say, simply taking the names of the characters [...] and transplanting them into an entirely different set of circumstances" (Parrish, 2010, p. 180), some elements of these characters must remain recognizable in order for the story to resonate with fanfiction readers. Although this might have the appearance of constituting a rigid limitation of fanfiction author creativity, literacy researchers asserted that, in practice, these conventions still allowed for substantial changes to the "basic components" (Day, 2014, p. 36) of the source texts. Some researchers have posited that these qualities of fanfiction practice represent tantalizing templates that can potentially be modified into creative writing exercises by US K-12 public school educators.

Within the bounds of online fanfiction communities, fanfiction authors manipulate and mediate the intertextual connections between their works and their works' source texts, resulting in an informal "rubric of details regarding the laws and policies and history of the universe set forth" by the original texts' authors (Stein & Busse, 2009, p. 196). The recognition of these intertextual connections constitutes a demonstration of critical literacy skill, while the application of these connections can be interpreted as a form of peer-mediated creative writing. Connections that allow fanfiction authors to play upon their audience's prior knowledge and tap into readers' sentiments toward the original work might be adapted into classroom assignments in which students work together to produce short stories based on previously assigned works of literature.

In this manner, fanfiction communities were presented by literacy scholars as having the potential to be adapted into empowering and rewarding classroom assignments, capable of instilling within adolescents a form of "cultural capital" that could foster media-based peer interactions (Kinder, 1999, p. 6). Fanfiction communities provide their members, many of whom are young, developing authors, with social networking techniques for attracting, cultivating, and interacting with large, diverse audiences of like-minded media fans. Scholars have theorized that if these patterns of interaction can be replicated within K-12 public school classrooms, then they might allow adolescent fanfiction practitioners to hone their creative and descriptive writing skills, learn positive methods of engaging in meta-discussions of writing and reading related

topics, and develop their abilities to give peer feedback constructively while simultaneously receiving it gracefully (Thomas, 2007).

However, notably absent from these depictions of the potential benefits of fanfiction practice were any substantive accounts of how fanfiction has been practiced outside of digitally-mediated online community contexts. Prior to and during the period covered by the data set, research examining fanfiction literacy practices as they related to US K-12 public school literacy education programs relied mostly on case studies and ethnographic accounts of adolescents participating in online fanfiction practitioner communities, none of which truly resembled K-12 classrooms that are dominated by inperson, peer-to-peer interactions. Although research has uncovered a great deal of information about online fanfiction literacy practice, literacy scholars have generally refrained from any serious investigations or discussions of fanfiction works whose authors did not engage in, or possibly even wish to engage in, any form of digitally-mediated new media practice.

Additionally, although there have been certain elements of online fanfiction practice that researchers have believed are beneficial enough to justify their extraction from recreational settings and adaptation into existing classroom practices, no research has attended to the issue of whether these are the same elements that draw adolescent fanfiction practitioners to fanfiction practices, or whether existing fanfiction practitioners will respond positively to seeing these elements appear in their mandatory school assignments. Considering the emphasis early fanfiction scholars have consistently placed on issues of marginalization and stigmatization, it is troubling that a period characterized

by such a significant increase in fanfiction scholarship contained such a lack of research attending to the issue of how existing adolescent fanfiction literacy practitioners might have responded to educators' attempts to re-contextualize fanfiction practice to fit the policy-driven institutional needs of K-12 public school literacy programs. As will be discussed in later chapters, this represents a blind spot for any researchers attempting to use student enthusiasm as a justification for bringing fanfiction into K-12 schools.

Ultimately, a necessary precursor to the discussion of whether educators' conceptions of fanfiction practice match the conceptions of their students is the exploration of what, precisely, literacy instructors have been taught about the nature of recreational fanfiction literacy practices. Furthermore, it is imperative for literacy researchers interested in bringing recreational literacies like fanfiction into K-12 public schools to know how what literacy instructors have been taught about recreational literacy compares to what they have been taught about existing methods and conventions of US K-12 public school literacy instruction. This study was designed to facilitate further explorations into K-12 educators' understandings of fanfiction literacy practice. To that end, the focus of this study has been directed toward a specific period in the history of US K-12 public school education that corresponds to both a rising interest in K-12 classroom literacy instruction reform and a rising interest in recreational fanfiction literacy practices. The next chapter of this dissertation will describe in detail how the study was designed, and how it was carried out.

CHAPTER FOUR

"Virtually all research involves documents, and most of these can be analyzed qualitatively" (Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 125).

METHODOLOGY

SUMMARY

Media exist in "a kind of dialogue with society" (Richardson, 2007, p. 26): the messages they contain and convey are capable not only of influencing their audiences' beliefs, but also of reflecting existing beliefs of their audiences' societies and cultures (Fairclough, 1995; Gee, 1999; Woods & Kroger, 2000). Although the specific mechanisms for the relationship between media reports and readers' beliefs are still somewhat speculative and unclear, media researchers have nevertheless developed a variety of theories for identifying and interpreting how media shape, package, and present information (McCullick et al., 2003; Shaw & Nederhouser, 2005; Thomas, 2003; Townsend & Ryan, 2012). Among those theories, the socio-cultural media frame analysis research paradigm was chosen as the most appropriate approach to this study's investigation into its research question:

"How is fanfiction framed for literacy education practitioner periodical audiences?"

In this chapter, the study's methodology is fully laid out, including a full description of how I collected and cultivated the study's data set. The subsequent sections of the chapter describe how the study's socio-cultural frame analysis research paradigm was operationalized and applied to the initial coding in order to reorganize and parse the data. Explicit examples from the coding and analysis processes are employed throughout the chapter to demonstrate how frame analysis locked in the data, and how all of the aforementioned steps resulted in the identification of the three distinct frames that will be extensively discussed in Chapter Five.

FRAMES

Media accounts of social and cultural issues are capable of presenting these issues in a variety of ways that, although equally accurate, may convey widely different meanings to their audiences (Richardson, 2007, p. 49). For this reason, many researchers have adopted the view that media constitute critical sites of social and cultural discourse, and have developed a variety of research paradigms designed to explain and uncover the ways the media's meanings, symbols, and messages influence, reinforce, and perpetuate their audiences' existing beliefs about a range of socio-cultural issues (Cooper, 1989; Fairclough, 1995; Fairclough & Wodak, 1997; Ryan, 1991; Schudson, 2011). Within

these researchers' descriptions of media communication, the term *framing* is often used to describe the "selection, emphasis, and presentation" of "what exists, what happens, and what matters" (Gitlin, 1980, p. 7).

Framing refers to the processes by which documents are consistently aligned to organizational and conceptual standards within and across a set of media works (Kosicki, 2006; McCombs et al., 1997; Scheufele, 1999). This alignment can occur innately (Goffman, 1974; Koenig, 2004) or be the result of an active and conscious process (Reese, 2001; Tankard, 2001) designed to bring the structure and presentation of the works' contents in line with their audiences' prevalent language, sentiments, and beliefs. For example, newspapers cite the testimonies of bystanders whom they expect their readers to consider peers, and call upon the knowledge of experts whom their readers might consider credible authorities (Fairclough, 1995; Fowler, 1991; Kress & Van Leeuwen, 1998; Schudson, 1995). Similarly, publications for professional communities adhere to their readers' professionally agreed-upon conventions for sharing and discussing information. (Gee, 1999). Consequently, *framing theory* is a way of conceiving how the presentation of ideas is built and set.

Although some theorists have noted that framing is a term that has historically been "characterized by theoretical and empirical vagueness" (Scheufele, 1999, p. 103), and that it "has been used in different ways in several different disciplines to mean different things" (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997, p. 39), efforts to determine the scope of framing theory have resulted in a conception of framing as a theoretical paradigm or model for media effects (Entman, 1993; Scheufele, 1999; Zhou & Moy, 2007). Framing

represents a way of viewing media attempts to "develop and crystallize meaning" (Gamson & Modigliani, 1989, p. 2) in the form of patterns of message building and message setting. Under framing theory, media create patterns of inclusion and exclusion by consistently selecting and organizing messages in a way that promotes particular socio-cultural voices and perspectives as more salient and important than others. Many scholars of communication who engage in the identification and categorization of these patterns have come to refer to them as *frames* (Entman, 1993; Entman, 2007; Fairclough & Wodak, 1997; Goffman, 1974; Menashe & Siegel, 1998; Reese, 2001; Scheufele & Tewksbury, 2007).

Referring to these media effects-related patterns as frames grants media researchers a model for understanding how media messages are organized. Additionally, the categorization of these patterns into frames affords researchers a greater "operational understanding" (Matthes, 2009, p. 350) of how these patterns occur and recur within and across a data set. Implicit to the categorization of these patterns into frames is the view that the repetition of frames across a representative data set indicates the ways in which media assign problems and support remedies in relation to particular socio-cultural issues (Coburn, 2006; Entman et al. 2009; Matthes, 2009). In this way, framing research methodologies operate to convey to researchers what media portray as important, whom they portray as experts, and whom they portray as at fault in relation to the issues that the researchers are investigating (Entman, 1993; Fairclough, 1995; Gordon, 2015; Menashe & Siegel, 1998; Scheufele & Tewksbury, 2007; Van Gorp, 2007; Wallack et al., 1993).

By uncovering, identifying, and organizing patterns within a representative data set into frames, literacy education researchers may discover a broad range of economic anxieties, moral ambiguities, and institutional mistrusts that pervade media audiences' attitudes toward public education (Entman, 1993, 2004; Gamson & Modigliani, 1989; Goffman, 1974; Menashe & Siegel, 1998; Scheufele & Tewksbury, 2007; Snow & Benford, 1988; Snow et al., 1986; Tankard et al., 1991; Van Gorp, 2007; Wadsworth, 1998; Wallack et al., 1993). For example, a frame-oriented research analysis paradigm can be employed in order to uncover what makes news media reports that consistently "point to problems regarding our children's ability to read and write" (Strickland, 1998, p. 102) resonate so strongly with their readers (Entman, 1993; Fairclough, 1995; Sosnoski, 2015; Van Gorp, 2007). Similarly, the identification and analysis of frames can indicate to researchers which media processes underlie the construction of these reports' structure and scaffolding (Price & Tewksbury, 1997; Scheufele & Tewksbury, 2007).

The identification and analysis of media frames constitute a qualitative method of discerning patterns of inclusion and exclusion within media data. This allows qualitative media researchers to effectively parse "what will be discussed, how it will be discussed, and, above all, how it will *not* be discussed" (Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 52) and "what exists, what happens and what matters" (Gitlin, 1980, p. 7) within a longitudinal set of data (Altheide, 1976; Davis, 1997; Epstein, 1973; Fishman, 1980; Pan & Kosicki, 1993; Schudson, 2011; Thomas, 2002). By employing an operational understanding of framing theory, researchers are able to focus on what frames *do* -- such as define the

scope of problems and evaluate potential solutions (Entman, 1993; Matthes, 2009) -thereby allowing the researcher to distinguish frame patterns from other patterns related
to "themes, arguments, assertions, and other under-theorized concepts" (Entman et al.,
2009, p. 176). The following sections of this chapter will describe how framing theories
were operationalized as a socio-cultural media research paradigm within this study, and
why this paradigm was considered the best fit for the study's research objectives.

MEDIA RESEARCH PARADIGM

Based on the strong socio-cultural focus of literacy researchers' investigations into fanfiction practices (see Chapter Three), I determined that socio-cultural frame analysis was a suitable choice for the study's media research paradigm. Socio-cultural frame analysis and cognitive-linguistic frame analysis are the two primary categories of frame analysis research (Sosnoski, 2015). These two categories are similar insofar as both they can be employed in order to uncover how words, images, and phrases are selected and ordered within data (Ryan, 1991; Sosnoski, 2015). Although both are equally valid approaches to the study of media messages, socio-cultural methodologies are better suited to the task of identifying how elements within media messages represent larger patterns of discourse, and cognitive-linguistic methodologies are better suited to the task of identifying how these larger patterns of discourse contribute to the production or understanding of specific media messages. Socio-cultural media frame analysis was therefore an appropriate media research paradigm for this study's investigations into how

fanfiction literacy practices were conveyed within the overarching discourses of a representative sample of K-12 public school literacy education-related periodicals.

This paradigm allowed for the discovery of not just how the articles published within these periodicals deliberately or consciously chose to discuss fanfiction literacy practices, but also how fanfiction literacy practices were tangentially discussed within the context of articles not directly concerned with issues related to fanfiction practices, practitioners, or communities. During the selection and construction of the study's methodology, I posited that teachers might be just as likely to encounter depictions of unfamiliar new literacy practices within discourses about literacy education practice in general as they were to seek out articles specifically about these unfamiliar practices. As a result, my study required a media research paradigm that was capable of uncovering not only the ways in which fanfiction literacy practices were described and discussed within articles about fanfiction practice, but also the ways in which fanfiction literacy practices were described and discussed within articles about other literacy issues and dilemmas.

SOCIO-CULTURAL FRAME ANALYSIS

Socio-cultural approaches to media research carry with them a number of theoretical and tangible implications for the study of media practice. These implications have tangible effects on a researcher's interpretations of narrative structure (Davis, 1997; Schudson, 2011; Thomas, 2002) and conceptualizations of audience/reader reception (Entman, 1993; Gitlin, 1980; Goffman, 1981). Acknowledging and embracing these

implications allows a researcher to mindfully identify and link media context with media content, with the goal of determining the normative social and cultural values that influenced the data's social and cultural contexts of production and consumption (Altheide & Schneider, 2013; Gamson, 1992). Like all socio-cultural approaches to media research, this study's socio-cultural frame analysis paradigm situated the study's data within these social and cultural contexts of production and consumption (Gamson, 1992; Gamson & Modigliani, 1987; Ryan, 1991). This allowed for the analysis of the impact of normative values and perspectives on the data.

In order to craft a version of the socio-cultural frame analysis paradigm that best fit this study's aims, I examined how the paradigm has been employed in the exploration of a wide range of socio-cultural issues. I reviewed a number of studies, including but not limited to: Baldwin Van Gorp's (2005) study of news media coverage of asylum seekers as victims or intruders; Douglas Downs' (2002) study of news media marginalization of United States gun owners; and J. Richard Stevens and Christopher Bell's (2012) study of forum posts about comic book ownership and digital piracy. Within each of these studies, researchers focused on identifying how media produced and conveyed particular meanings, symbols, and messages that simultaneously influenced and perpetuated readers' beliefs and values (Cooper, 1989; Fairclough, 1995; Fairclough & Wodak, 1997; Schudson, 2011). During the coding process, these socio-cultural frame analysis researchers uncovered and tracked patterns of discourse that followed the standard four operations associated with frame building and frame setting: they consistently identified and defined problems, interpreted causal connections, morally

evaluated practices, and prescribed possible solutions (Entman, 1993; Fowler, 1991; Kress & Van Leeuwen, 1998; Schudson, 1995; Tankard et al., 1991). These messages were organized by the researchers into frame categories, differentiated in part by the ways their associated patterns of discourse were found to employ certain views, beliefs, speech patterns, and modes of discourse that presented particular experts and stakeholders as more viable or trustworthy than others (Fairclough, 1995; Fowler, 1991; Kress & Van Leeuwen, 1998; Schudson, 1995).

Within these previously conducted frame analysis research studies, the process of extracting patterns from the data and then identifying them as frame categories has been conducted inductively (Worthington, 2001), meaning that frame categories were determined during data analysis, deductively (Akhavan-Majid & Ramaprasad, 2000), meaning that frame categories were pre-determined prior to analysis and built into the study's initial codebook (Matthes, 2009), or through a combination of both inductive and deductive extraction protocols (Van Gorp, 2007). In the case of this study, frames were extracted using Van Gorp's hybrid frame matrix method (Van Gorp, 2005; Van Gorp, 2007), which Van Gorp adapted from the prior work of William Gamson and Kathryn Lasch (1983). This method has been characterized by the use of inductive data analysis to "determine for each text which elements and propositions can probably function as framing or reasoning devices" (Van Gorp, 2007, p. 72), followed by the use of deduction to determine the full extent of these devices' presence within the data set. I selected this method because it allowed for literacy research studies uncovered during this study's literature review -- including those related to the context of public school literacy

education policy within which the data were historically situated -- to guide the discovery of elements "embedded in media content" (Van Gorp, 2007, p. 61).

Armed with the knowledge of how socio-cultural frame analysis research had been successfully conducted by previous scholars, I then worked to implement a protocol for data collection, as described in the following section.

RESEARCH PROTOCOL

Many research studies benefit from the implementation of a comprehensive, yet generalizable, research protocol: a "description of planned research" (Ohio State University, 2014, p. 1) encompassing all elements of the study's methodology, from its research design and sampling procedures to its codebook and data analysis paradigms. Research protocols are far more likely to be found within medical and clinical studies than in other fields of academic research. However, in 2013, media researchers David Altheide and Christopher Schneider presented a comprehensive protocol model designed to aid scholars in the design and implementation of qualitative media research studies. I found Altheide and Schneider's model to be a particularly valuable resource while conducting this research study, particularly in its capacity to promote a better understanding of how the research study's questions, items, categories, and variables "guide data collection from documents" (Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 44). Altheide and Schneider's model included the following twelve elements:

Step 1: Pursue a specific problem to be investigated.

Step 2: Become familiar with the process and context of the information source...

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 39).

Step 3: Become familiar with several (6-10) examples of relevant documents, noting particularly the format. Select a unity of analysis...

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 39).

Step 4: List several items or categories (variables) to guide data collection, and draft a protocol (data collection sheet).

Step 5: Test the protocol by collecting data from several documents.

Step 6: Revise the protocol, and select several additional cases to further refine the protocol

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 44).

Step 7: Arrive at a sampling rationale and strategy...

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 54).

Step 8: Collect the data, using preset codes, if appropriate, and many descriptive examples...

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 62).

Step 9: Perform data analysis, including conceptual refinement and data coding...

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 68).

Step 10: Compare and contrast "extremes" and "key differences" within each category or item...

(Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 71).

Step 11: Combine the brief summaries with an example of the typical case as well as the extremes. Illustrate with materials from the protocols for each case. Note surprises and curiosities about these cases and other materials in your data (Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 72).

Step 12: Integrate the findings with your interpretation and key concepts... (Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 73).

These twelve steps provided my study with a set of generalized guidelines for understanding the processes of qualitative media research studies, including "the context of discovery in documents, the process or life cycle of a document, and the use and meaning of that document" (Altheide & Schneider, 2013, p. 19). The first three steps involve preparing and staging the research study, and describe how research questions are developed, literature reviews are conducted, and exploratory pilot studies are typically carried out by qualitative media researchers. Steps four through six contain theoretical explanations of the processes researchers conduct in order to draft, test, and revise their research methodologies. Steps seven through twelve describe data sampling, collection, coding, analysis, and reporting.

A number of alternative explanations of the process of qualitative media analysis were available at the time I initiated this study, including those advanced by Kathy Charmaz (2006), Norman Denzin and Yvonna Lincoln (2011), and John Richardson (2007). Although all of these models were valuable in terms of their ability to inform my methodological perspectives, they lacked the flexibility necessary for the broad range of

socio-cultural frame analysis research paradigms that I encountered during my review of prior studies and was selecting from at the time I was designing my study's methodology. Only Altheide and Schneider's model was able to account for all of the possible forms of socio-cultural media frame analysis that I was considering at that point. The following sections of this chapter describe the partially-inductive method of extracting frame categories from the data that I ultimately decided upon.

DATA COLLECTION

This section describes how data were collected, categorized, and initially coded. One of the guiding principles of data collection is the early identification of the study's basic unit of analysis, the typical portion or segment of the data analyzed at any given time (Lewis-Beck et al., 2004; Pell Institute, 2017; Trochim, 2006). The scope of the study's research question necessitated that the unit of analysis allow for the examination of patterns of discourse employed across many articles, for the purposes of determining messages throughout the entire data set. This precluded the use of a research approach focused on the internal structures of just a few documents. With this in mind, I identified the study's basic unit of analysis as articles within literacy education practitioner periodicals containing descriptions, depictions, or discussions of fanfiction literacy practice.

This data set was composed of articles published within periodicals gathered between April 5 and May 8, 2013, through the ProQuest Central research database. The

ProQuest database contains millions of full-text articles from periodicals relating to areas of academic interest, and is searchable by article title, author, keyword, periodical name, and a number of other methods using an online web portal. The ProQuest database served not only as the source of the data, but also as part of the justification for restricting the data set to articles from professional literacy education periodicals. Although other sources such as academic books represented potentially interesting sites of research for the investigation into how professional education materials presented fanfiction literacy practices, it was determined early on during the data collection process that both practicing and pre-service public school literacy educators had the greatest access to, and thus the greatest potential to be influenced by, the articles contained within online research databases.

The process began with a search for articles containing the terms *fanfiction* or *fan fiction* in combination with one or more of the terms *literacy*, *language arts*, and *English education*, which represented common ways of discussing K-12 classroom contexts of literacy education. The search was limited to documents published within the ten years prior to the period of data collection. Restricting the range to ten years produced a field of data that was both diverse enough to account for a wide range of journal publications, which increased the data set's coverage, and narrow enough in scope to ensure that these publications were reasonably contemporary to one another, which ensured that comparative data analysis could be conducted on the data set.

A second wave of the data collection process was then initiated in order to gather additional relevant articles that were not picked up by the first stage's search protocol.

This additional stage was designed to allow for the possibility that articles related to fanfiction literacy practice had gone undetected due to their use of synonyms for the study's initial search terms. During this stage, every publication that was the source of an article collected during the first stage was searched again for the terms *fanfiction* and *fan fiction* in addition to the terms *reading*, *writing*, *learning*, *teaching*, and *attainment*. Expanding the search to these five new terms successfully produced a number of additional articles from publications that were already represented within the data set. Although these terms did not represent an exhaustive list of ways of referring to literacy education, they were included in order to increase the possibility of comparing articles from the same publication during the frame analysis stage.

The data collection process ultimately yielded an initial set of 131 distinct articles published within a total of 51 periodicals, which at this point were coded based on the publications' stated purposes. This resulted in the following distribution of periodicals within the initial data set:

Practitioner periodicals -- based on general educational research:

72 articles

Practitioner periodicals -- based on research conducted on secondary students:

17 articles

Practitioner periodicals -- produced explicitly for secondary teachers:

9 articles

Practitioner periodicals -- reporting best practices in the field of K-12 education:

```
7 articles
Strategic planning resources:
        5 articles
Dissertations:
       4 articles
Research periodicals -- professional associations:
        4 articles
Research periodicals -- teacher preparation:
        3 articles
Trade publications -- commercial content, press publications, etc.:
        3 articles
Association periodicals -- non-research:
        2 articles
Planning resource periodicals:
        2 articles
Librarian association research periodicals:
        1 article
Research periodicals -- teaching as it relates to parenting:
        1 article
Teacher federation periodicals:
        1 article
```

During the coding process described in this chapter's next section, 36 of these 131 articles were removed from the data set based on a number of predetermined exclusion criteria, including but not limited to: articles that mentioned fanfiction only within their annotated bibliographies; articles that were entered into the online ProQuest database with incorrectly transcribed abstracts; and articles whose means of publication did not meet the stated criteria of the study, including dissertations and paid advertisements.

Articles were also excluded from the data set if they were found to have no bearing on the practice of K-12 public school literacy instruction within the United States. Although other English-speaking countries -- such as the United Kingdom, Australia, and Canada -- had strong histories of both fanfiction and classroom literacy research (and thus the potential to influence US-based teachers' views on fanfiction literacy practices), articles published within non-US periodicals were included only in cases where their presentation of classroom literacy practice was deemed transferable to US classrooms. For instance, Neil Andersen's "Media Literacy's Gifts to Literature Study" -- published in the New Zealand-based journal English Teaching: Practice and Critique -- was included within the data set due to the article's focus on strategies for increasing student engagement with texts commonly taught within US classrooms, while Barry Duncan and Carol Arcus' "Skills for Surviving the 21st Century" -- published in the Toronto-based Education Forum: The Magazine for Secondary School Professionals -- was excluded from the data set because its focus on drawing distinctions between national and provincial Canadian K-12 public school literacy education policy guidelines was not deemed transferable or pertinent to the relationship between fanfiction literacy practices and US classroom literacy instruction.

By the end of the coding process, the data set contained ninety-five articles published within thirty-five distinct periodicals (see Figure A). The articles were then coded as described within the following section.

Figure A: List of Periodicals in Data Set by Frequency (n = 95)

Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy	16
Language Arts	11
Research in the Teaching of English	8
English Journal	7
Voices from the Middle	7
Reading Research Quarterly	6
English Teaching: Practice and Critique	4
On the Horizon	4
Annual Review of Applied Linguistics	3
Educational Researcher	2
Phi Delta Kappan	2
Research in the Schools	2
ALAN Review	1
Children's Literature	1
Children's Literature Association Quarterly	1
College English	1

Composition Studies	1
Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue	1
Education Week's Digital Directions	1
English Education	1
Gifted Child Today	1
International Journal of Emerging Technologies and Society	1
Journal of Advanced Academics	1
Journal of Computer Assisted Learning	1
Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia	1
Journal of Literacy Research	1
Kappa Delta Pi Record	1
Language Teaching	1
Literacy Research and Instruction	1
Middle School Journal	1
MultiMedia & Internet@Schools	1
Reading Horizons	1
Resource Links	1
Teacher Librarian	1
The Social Studies	1

CODING

As mentioned previously in this chapter, I employed a socio-cultural media frame analysis paradigm in order to uncover the fanfiction-related patterns within the data set that "define problems", "diagnose causes", "make moral judgments", and "suggest remedies" (Zhou & Moy, 2007, p. 84). In order to accomplish this task, I first created a codebook designed to gather both metadata and content-based "elements and propositions" (Van Gorp, 2007, p. 72) from each article. As individual articles were identified as the study's basic unit of analysis, each article was coded for this metadata and content independently from the rest of the data set, before being standardized into a form that would allow for cataloguing and comparison.

For example, in the article "On the cusp of cyberspace: Adolescents' online text use in conversation," by Margaret Berg (2011), the article's author reported on a two-year mediated discourse analysis study designed to investigate how eight teenagers engaged with, and spoke about their engagements with, digitally-mediated literacy practices. The stated purpose of this article was to "delineate five patterns of text use --reference, authority, experience, expression, and instrument" (Berg, 2011, p. 485) that occurred within observed conversations between young adults using computers within a public library, and to connect these patterns back to how literacies were taught within K-12 classrooms. During the first stage of the coding process, all of this information was coded in full, using quotations from the article itself whenever possible. However, upon coding all of the data set's articles, the code corresponding to the stated purpose of Berg's

article was appended to make it more clear that her article focused on drawing distinctions between classroom and out-of-school literacy practices. This was due to the realization that Berg's portrayal of a disparity between in-school and out-of-school adolescent literacy practices was an element that was shared by many other articles in the data set.

This disparity -- and the resulting implications it had on issues such as student engagement and student enthusiasm -- was noted in a number of other articles within the data set. Most of these articles were coded as presenting this disparity as a problem within K-12 public schools, including "Uses of digital tools and literacies in the English language arts classroom," in which fanfiction was presented as one of the many interest-driven "geeking out" practices that could be brought into classrooms in order to bridge the disparity (Beach, 2012, p. 45), and "What does TV viewing have to do with internet reading?: Readers, television 'texts', and intertextual links to companion websites," in which "more ongoing and explicit instruction in multiple literacies" such as fanfiction was presented as a possible remedy (Brown, 2009, p. 222). By coding this disparity in the form of an identified textual *theme*, it became much easier to categorize how fanfiction practices were defined, depicted, and discussed within the context of possible solutions to the articles' stated problems.

To further illustrate how the process of identifying and extracting textual themes was enacted, the study's codebook will now be presented, followed by an account of how articles such as "On the cusp of cyberspace: Adolescents' online text use in conversation"

(Berg, 2011) were coded, and a detailed description of how the coding of her article contributed to the identification of dominant frames within the data set:

- A -- Code
- B -- Full Citation
- C -- Year
- D -- Periodical Name
- E -- Title
- F -- Author
- G-- Periodical Type (See Figure A.)
- H -- Problem (What is the problem?)
- I -- Experts (Who is qualified to speak about the problem?)
- J-- Stake (What / who is at stake?)
- K -- Blame (Who / what is to blame / responsible for the problem?)
- L-- Solutions (Present solutions to the problem -- if multiple solutions, note this and present ones specifically pertaining to / employing discussion of fanfiction.)
- M -- Relation (Summarize or quote how fanfiction relates to problem or solution.)
- N -- Nature of Relation (Code + for [fanfiction linked to solution to problem], for [fanfiction linked to cause of problem], M for [fanfiction linked to both], = for [fanfiction presented with no causal link to problem or solution], and N for [not applicable / determinable].)
- O-- Definition (How is fanfiction defined?)

- P -- Scope (What range of literacy practices are referred to in the article's discussion of fanfiction? For example, does the definition include poetry or songs?)
- Q -- Exemplifies (What literacy practices is fanfiction presented as an example of?)
- R -- Examples (What are presented as examples of fanfiction literacy practice?)
- S -- Associations (What other literacy practices is fanfiction presented alongside?)
- T -- Presentation of Fanfiction "Fans" (Code + for [positive], for [negative], M for [mixed], = for [neutral], and N for [not applicable / determinable].)
- U -- Presentation of Fanfiction "Communities" (Code + for [positive], for [negative],M for [mixed], = for [neutral], and N for [not applicable / determinable].)

This codebook was created in a way that made it easier to identify all possible socio-cultural factors that might influence the way in which fanfiction was presented throughout the data set. For example, "On the cusp of cyberspace: Adolescents' online text use in conversation," (Berg, 2011), was published within the *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, a literacy education practitioner journal whose contributors were typically made up of secondary school educators involved in literacy education research. Coding for the objectives of the journal in which this article had been published allowed for the possible later examination of the article's socio-cultural contexts of production and reception. If, for instance, it had later become apparent that articles published within journals whose contributors were secondary school educators all suggested that public school administrators were to blame for the inferiority of classroom literacy practices as compared to out-of-school fanfiction practices, then the way in which the articles had

been coded would have facilitated further investigations into whether these patterns might be linked to editorial or reader expectations about reports on secondary school literacy education. This would have been accomplished by isolating articles published within journals that were coded for this particular *periodical type*, and then returning to and analyzing the parts of each article that corresponded to, or were associated with, the discussions from which the articles' *blame* codes had been originally derived. Although an anti-administrator theme was not expected to emerge from the data set -- and ultimately did not in fact emerge -- the codebook's construction was designed with the flexibility to both uncover and categorize such an unanticipated development.

Every article within the data set was assigned an accession code that conveyed demographic data about the journal in which it had been published and its year of publication. For instance, "On the cusp of cyberspace: Adolescents' online text use in conversation" was assigned the internal code AAL1101. AAL designated that the article originated in the Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy, 11 designated that the article was from 2011, and 01 designated that the article was the first item from that periodical and year coded into the database. Each article was then coded for all metadata that was deemed useful to the analysis of the data set. This included the article's full citation for bibliographic purposes, with additional, separate codes for the article's author, year of publication, and full title. These codes allowed the database of articles to be entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet and sorted by author, title, or year of publication during the analysis process. This spreadsheet included all ninety-five articles found within the

final data set, as well as entries for each of the thirty-six excluded articles in case of any unexpected developments that might require the analysis of excluded data.

The remainder of the codes were designed to record the non-demographic data that pertained to how fanfiction had been defined, depicted, and discussed throughout the data set. For example, AAL1101 defined fanfiction in terms of its end-product: stories written by adolescents "inspired by the books of YA authors and Japanese comic books (manga) in fan fiction forums" (Berg, 2011, p. 485). Since this definition occurred relatively early within the article (within its second paragraph) fanfiction was coded as a possible sensitizing concept for the article's discussion of adolescents' out-of-school use of "information and communication technologies (ICTs)" (Berg, 2011, p. 485).

Fanfiction literacy practices were situated within the article's discussions of a broad range of other "choices adolescents have available to them for their reading and writing practices" (Berg, 2011, p. 485). These choices included "magazines, comic books, graphic novels, young adult (YA) literature, classic literature, texting, instant messaging, blogs, chat rooms, multiplayer games, wikis, fan fiction, e-zines, MySpace, Facebook, and so on" (Berg, 2011, p. 485).

In cases like this, where articles' accounts of fanfiction literacy practices occurred in conjunction or association with accounts of other adolescent practices, these associations were coded by noting and quoting all of the other practices discussed alongside fanfiction. For example, AAL1101 drew comparisons between digitally-mediated fanfiction writing and the creation of user pages on MySpace and Facebook by characterizing all three as practices in which adolescents synthesize "words, images, and

music to represent themselves to other members of the sites" (Berg, 2011, p. 485).

Fanfiction was also portrayed in AAL1101 as a form of peer interaction, and was associated with other examples of adolescents cooperating with one another in online multiplayer games by sharing knowledge of the games' inner workings. Additionally, fanfiction was presented in AAL1101 as an example of common digitally-mediated youth practice alongside a list of other examples, including "downloading cell phone ringtones, uploading their artwork, blogging book reviews, and seeking out expertise to learn more in depth about topics that interest them" (Berg, 2011, p. 485). These associations and descriptions included citation-less references to the authors of "a number of other publications" (Berg, 2011, p. 485) -- including Donna Alvermann, Mizuko Ito, Michele Knobel, and Colin Lankshear -- that cemented connections between the article's narrative and these other authors' previous explorations of new media literacy practices as related to the development of information and communication technologies.

AAL1101 positioned "learning to teach on the cusp of old and new literacies" (Berg, 2011, p. 492) as the latest and greatest problem to challenge K-12 literacy educators, particularly those "hesitant to fully embrace" new forms of communications technologies in their classrooms (Berg, 2001, p. 492). The solution to this problem was coded as the suggestion that K-12 classrooms shift toward a more collaborative, interactive model of classroom tech use, which would empower students by drawing on their existing out-of-school literacy practices. This suggestion of how to reconcile the disparity was supported in the article by the presentation of links between students' out-of-school literacy practices such as fanfiction and traditional literacy skills. These

comparisons drew upon assertions that students who share their out-of-school literacy interests with their peers can "strengthen the community of learners" (Berg, 2011, p. 489), and that teachers who aid students in "making connections between different literacy practices in their lives will benefit their understanding of texts in a variety of settings" (Berg, 2011, p. 489).

Each article within the data set was coded for whose voices and perspectives were called upon to act as experts on the nature and purpose of fanfiction literacy practice. This code included personal accounts made by adolescent fanfiction practitioners concerning what about fanfiction personally appealed to them. For example, AAL1101's portrayal of students' out-of-school literacy practices heavily relied on one particular research study participant, identified within the article as "Natalie" (Berg, 2011, p. 488). Natalie was described as an avid adolescent fanfiction practitioner who spent "most of her time online in the library writing her manga fanfiction" (Berg, 2011, p. 488). The article contained interviews with Natalie that highlighted the disparity between her outof-school literacies and those taught within school classrooms. While coding AAL1101, these interviews were heavily quoted in order to provide a foundation for later analysis of trends within the data set related to the ways in which adolescent fanfiction practitioners were depicted as experts on their own literacy practices. The presentation of adolescents as experts on fanfiction within the data set painted a portrait of adolescent fanfiction practitioners as articulate and media-savvy.

The presentation of adolescent practitioner accounts of their own practices conveyed a great deal of additional information about how adolescents viewed

recreational literacies. For example, coding of AAL1101 indicates that Natalie considered her own creative literacy practices to be more valuable than her peers' passive consumption of digital multimedia content. Natalie's statements about her own fanfiction literacy practices, and the differences between these practices and those taught in school or enjoyed by her peers, were included within the article without the presentation of any accompanying counterpoints.

This effectively situated Natalie's views of the relationship between fanfiction and classroom practice as an unopposed expert viewpoint on the merit of fanfiction practice. Natalie's belief that her recreational practices were more "important" (Berg, 2011, p. 488) than the recreational practices enjoyed by her peers, such as consuming YouTube videos, was coded as the article's primary perspective on the relationship between adolescent literacy choice and adolescent literacy engagement. The voices and perspectives that articles employed to convey information about the state of fanfiction's relationship to K-12 literacy education were coded in order to identify which views of this relationship were overwhelming presented as legitimate throughout the data set. Consequently, sentiments such as Natalie's assertion that she had "never been asked by her teachers about her interest in manga or fan fiction, much less submitted it for class credit" (Berg, 2011, p. 488) contributed to the eventual identification of teachers as the party most frequently blamed by experts for the failure of K-12 public schools to adequately reflect their students' out-of-school literacy practices.

Many articles within the data set positioned teachers as both stakeholders within the article's central issues of classroom literacy practice and parties at least partially responsible for the disparity between classroom and out-of-school literacy practices. For example, Kelly Chandler-Olcott and Donna Mahar lamented that teachers' "lack of knowledge" about "fanfiction meant lost opportunities for literacy learning" (Chandler-Olcott & Mahar, 2003a, p. 564). Similarly, Margaret Berg characterized fanfiction as an aspect of "changing literacy practices and cultural norms" which posed a problem for K-12 literacy education (Berg, 2011, p. 485), and laid the blame for this problem at the feet of literacy educators. Statements such as Berg's and Chandler-Olcott and Mahar's were coded not only for what they said, but also for what they strongly implied. For example, Berg's suggestion that educators needed "to take a genuine interest in their students' out-of-school literacies and encourage teens to reference, discuss, and share in school the texts and literacy practices maintained outside of school" (Berg, 2011, pp. 488-489) carried with it the implicit assumption that teachers were currently *not* taking an interest in their students' practices, a view that was bolstered by references to K-12 educators who were "hesitant to fully embrace ICTs" (Berg, 2001, p. 492).

These were not the only ways in which the data set was coded for implied statements about literacy practice. For example, for every article in the data set, the ways and contexts in which fanfiction literacy practices were defined were coded in as much detail as possible, including identifying quotes that helped to illustrate the code.

However, 50 of the 95 articles within the data set were coded as not providing any sufficiently codeable definition of fanfiction literacy practice, while simultaneously discussing fanfiction as if it *had* been defined. The contexts within which fanfiction was discussed but not defined provided a great deal of information about what the articles'

authors or editors assumed that the articles' readers would already know about fanfiction literacy practice. For example, Cathy Fleischer and Kimberly Coupe Pavlock included fanfiction writing in their discussion of "everyday and polished writing" (Fleischer & Pavlock, 2012, p. 33), without any explanation for why they considered fanfiction to fit into this category. This was particularly notable because, as was discussed in this study's literature review (see Chapter Three), fanfiction has historically been associated with practices of subcultural media engagement by scholars. To categorize and normalize it as an everyday writing practice omits a particular aspect of how literacy researchers define fanfiction from the article's presentation of fanfiction writing, and the lack of definition for fanfiction suggests that the article was written in a way that assumed that the reader would accept this omission. The absence of fanfiction definitions from articles that contained fanfiction-related discussions therefore constituted a pattern of assumption on the part of the articles' creators about the knowledge that US K-12 public school teachers already possessed about fanfiction, its nature, its mechanisms, and its merits for inclusion within K-12 classrooms. In this way, many articles conveyed a great deal of information by saying very little.

The results of the coding process were then examined for the presence of easily-discernible patterns which would provide the first footholds into my further exploration into the data set. I returned to each article in order to identify and extract the elements from that article that were found to recur throughout a noticeable number of articles within the data set. Later in this dissertation, the data set's nine most pervasive recurring elements will be presented and explored (see Figure B). For the remainder of this

chapter, the process by which these elements were inductively identified within the data will be laid out, followed by an explanation of how these elements were then used to deductively detect and extract the data set's most salient frame categories.

FRAME IDENTIFICATION AND EXTRACTION

Returning again to AAL1101, the manner in which fanfiction was depicted in terms of its source texts -- such as "the books of YA authors and Japanese comic books (manga)" (Berg, 2011, p. 485) -- was noticeably similar to the ways in which many other articles within the data set referred to and discussed fanfiction source material. During the coding process, this repetition was noted, and upon examination of all the articles that referred to fanfiction in this particular manner, I determined that references to fanfiction in terms of its source texts formed a pattern that was significant enough to be labelled as one of the data set's underlying themes. As a result, an additional code was applied to each article's entry within the spreadsheet, indicating whether the article connected its descriptions and moral evaluations of fanfiction with descriptions and moral evaluations of the media upon which the article claimed fanfiction was typically based. The result of this coding was that 15 of the 95 articles (or roughly 16% of the data set) were identified with this particular pattern.

Nine patterns within the data set were found to occur at a frequency equal to or greater than the source text pattern. As noted above, the identification of these patterns was facilitated by the coding of articles using similar terminology. For example, 80

articles within the data set contained codes related to the disparity between in-school standards for classroom literacy instruction and out-of-school literacy practices within either their *problem*, *solution*, or *relation* categories. 47 of these 80 articles were coded for the presence of disparity-related concerns within the *problem* category, while 33 articles were coded for the presence of disparity-related concerns in either the *solution* or *relation* category but not the *problem* category. Cross-referencing these patterns of portrayal with codes related to the stated purpose of each article revealed that motivations for presenting gaps between in-school and out-of-school literacy practices varied greatly from article to article. Nevertheless, no matter where, why, or how these disparities were presented, the use of the term "disparity" to code for their existence allowed for the later, inductive identification of disparity as a common context for the discussion of fanfiction literacy within the data set.

These patterns were referred to during the coding process as *themes*, a term employed by some frame analysis researchers to describe the "cultural phenomena" (Van Gorp, 2007, p. 63) that frames draw upon in order to attach meaning to media messages. Each of these themes represented a set of views and sentiments about issues related to literacy instruction, media literacy, or adolescent recreational practice, which were pervasive enough within US society during the time period covered by the data set that they could be presented at face value to US K-12 literacy education practitioners. The inductive identification of the socio-cultural themes that were commonly used to ground or bolster arguments about fanfiction within the data set was a necessary precursor to the deductive identification of the frames that call upon these themes.

Every article in the data set was found to contain at least one of these nine theme patterns, and many contained several themes that were expressed either in combination with one another or individually within different sections of the same article. For instance, AAL1101 contained four theme patterns: the *online literacy* theme and *adolescent media engagement* theme, which manifested themselves within the article's characterization of fanfiction as an inherently or predominantly adolescent digital media practice; the *source text* theme, as described above; and the *skill-based* theme, which was found within the article's discussion of strong causal links between out-of-school fanfiction literacy practices and in-school forms of literacy skill development. Once identified, these salient themes -- which will be further described and explored in Chapter Five -- formed the foundations upon which the study's frame analysis was built.

NOTE ON FRAME CODING

During the frame analysis process, I expanded the codebook to include color-based codes associated with each frame category. These codes were implemented in order to facilitate analysis and later discussion of the study's findings. Red signified the Out-of-School Practice frame, Yellow signified the Utilitarian Practice frame, and Blue signified the Youth Practice frame. Orange was used to signify that an article was coded both Red and Yellow, Green was used to signify that the article was coded both Blue and Yellow, Purple was used to signify that the article was coded both Red and Blue, and Brown signified that the article was coded with all three colors. For example, AAL1101

presented in this chapter's previous section was coded Brown, reflecting how it described fanfiction as a predominantly out-of-school practice, characterized fanfiction as a practice that appealed to adolescents, and discussed the possibility of bringing fanfiction into K-12 public school literacy classrooms in the form of extra credit homework. The process by which each of these frames was identified within each article will be discussed in detail in the following chapter.

CHAPTER FIVE

"Readers reviewed Janice's stories on FanFiction with feedback that both praised her character development and gave her suggestions for elaborating on sections of her story line. She characterized the site as 'a bunch of writers critiquing each other's stuff in, like, a really informal environment'" (Guzzetti & Gamboa, 2005, p. 188).

FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

SUMMARY

This chapter describes how analysis of the data uncovered three media frame categories that reflected overarching depictions of fanfiction literacy practice within the data set (n = 95):

The Youth Practice frame was associated with the discussion of fanfiction as a literacy practice that appealed to K-12 public school students. This frame category reflected elements found within 87 of the data set's articles.

The Out-of-School Practice frame was associated with the discussion of fanfiction literacy practices as originating outside of K-12 public school classrooms. Such discussions often contained or led to evaluative statements about whether fanfiction

belonged within K-12 schools. This frame category reflected elements found within 83 of the data set's articles.

The Utilitarian Practice frame was associated with the discussion of whether fanfiction practice constituted techniques or a range of techniques that could be brought -- in whole or in part -- into K-12 public school literacy education classrooms. This frame reflected whether fanfiction was presented as useful to K-12 educators. This frame reflected elements found within 66 of the data set's articles.

Additionally:

76 articles corresponded to both the Youth Practice and Out-of-School frames.63 articles corresponded to both the Youth Practice and Utilitarian Practice frames.62 articles corresponded to both the Out-of-School and Utilitarian Practice frames.

60 articles corresponded to all three frames.

8 articles corresponded to the Youth Practice frame, but not the other two frames.5 articles corresponded to the Out-of-School frame, but not the other two frames.1 article corresponded to the Utilitarian Practice frame, but not the other two frames.

These frame categories were found to manifest themselves within the data through a variety of devices uncovered through the analytic process. These devices included the use of "word choice, metaphors, exemplars, descriptions, arguments, and visual images" that attached particular socio-cultural views and perspectives to the articles' messages about fanfiction literacy practices and practitioners (Van Gorp, 2007, p. 64). The primary signposts for the influence of a frame on an article's portrayal of fanfiction were themes: textual elements containing cultural views and perspectives that the article's readers likely already shared or recognized (Van Gorp, 2007). These signposts were viewed under the lens of socio-cultural framing theory, which holds that the primary function of frames is to implicitly attach the article's text to these preexisting cultural sentiments (Van Gorp, 2007, p. 63), and in so doing, sensitize the readers' predispositions to the article's overall message. (For further discussion of these themes, please refer back to Chapter Four.) This chapter presents an explanation of the most salient patterns of the presence of cultural themes observed within the data set, followed by a detailed account of how these themes contributed to the identification and exploration of the ways in which fanfiction practices, practitioners, and communities were framed within the context of K-12 public school literacy education practice.

SALIENT THEMES

While cataloguing the study's initial coding findings, I noted several patterns of fanfiction representation across the data set. Following the socio-cultural media frame

analysis research paradigm laid out by scholars such as Baldwin Van Gorp (see Chapter Four), I reexamined the articles associated with these patterns and noted the textual elements such as "images, stereotypes, metaphors, actors, and messages" that were most frequently employed in discussions related to fanfiction literacy practices (Matthes, 2009, p. 349). This allowed for the solidification of these patterns into standardized themes.

For example, many articles referred to the creation of media content as the dominant way in which adolescents use the internet. This pattern was uncovered by observing that fanfiction was often used as an example of adolescent content creation practice. While investigating the contexts in which these content creation practices were discussed, I noted corollary textual elements such as the use of statistics as evidence of the dominance of content creation practice. For instance, the prevalence of content creation practices within teenagers' daily internet use was cited as fifty-seven percent in EMH0701 (Salen, 2007) and sixty-four percent in LAR1203 (Bomer & Malock, 2012). Other articles tied descriptions of adolescent literacy to vaguely-defined "buzzwords" (Gray, 2005, p. 225) commonly found within academic discussions of media literacy, such as in RIS1201's references to "connecting Web 2.0 and social media to adolescents" academic literacies" (Alvermann et al., 2012a, p. 34). As these patterns were identified within and extracted from the coding data, they were clustered together into cohesive thematic categories that represented aspects of the ways in which the articles framed fanfiction practice (Matthes, 2009).

Ultimately, nine of these thematic categories were conceptualized, each of which represented the repeated manifestation of a particular set of socially and culturally

mediated perspectives through which fanfiction was presented to the articles' readers. Figure B, below, delineates the frequency with which these nine socio-cultural themes occurred within the data set:

Figure B: Dominant Theme Distribution Across Data Set (n = 95)

Theme Category	Number
Digital Literacy	78
Youth Practice	41
Intertextual	39
Literacy Skill	38
Community	35
Fans	25
Convention	16
Identity	16
Source Text	15

This metric was measured by the number of articles within the study's data set that contained at least one code that contributed to the identification of the theme's nature and scope. As a result, some of the themes correspond to a greater portion of articles included within the data set than others. However, since the study did not seek to

determine the relative influence of the data set's articles on their readers, it does not follow that a theme's frequency represents its salience within the data set. Therefore, it must be stressed that the information contained within Figure B conveys pervasiveness rather than impact.

These nine themes were conceptualized as patterns of fanfiction depictions, descriptions, and discussions across the entire data set. For this reason, they do not represent elements of individual articles, but rather trends that only become apparent when viewing the data set as a whole. Below, the nine themes are each summarized in terms of their impact on the entire data set. Examples of the themes' manifestations within individual articles are omitted from these brief summaries, although they will be included within the discussion of the study's three principal framing categories (discussed later in this chapter) in order to provide examples and explanations of the frame analysis process.

Digital Literacy: Patterns of discourse related to fanfiction's technological aspects typically presented fanfiction as a new media practice, excluding the perspectives of offline fanfiction practitioners and representations of fanfiction literacy practices exclusive to non-digital contexts of fanfiction production. This theme represented articles that focused on digital forms of fanfiction while simultaneously excluding substantial distinctions between online and offline fanfiction literacy practices. 78 articles were identified as being aligned with this theme.

Youth Practice: Within the data set, examples of fanfiction literacy practice were almost uniformly comprised of adolescent fanfiction practitioners. This theme represented discussions of fanfiction literacy practice as an emerging form of technologically-mediated adolescent literacy engagement, and was aligned with 41 articles.

Intertextual: One of the data set's most central themes was that fanfiction never exists within a vacuum; its creation and reception always occur within the context of other media. This theme included depictions of fanfiction as a technique or exercise capable of fostering increased understanding of other media works. This theme represented conceptual definitions and expository descriptions of fanfiction practices as a means of engaging with other media works, and was aligned with 39 articles.

Literacy Skill: Within the data set, discussions of fanfiction's possible use as a bridge between out-of-school literacy practice and in-school literacy instruction were generally accompanied by skill-based literacy evaluations of extracurricular fanfiction literacy practice. This theme represented 38 articles that were identified and coded as containing evaluative judgments of fanfiction literacy practice, particularly those that sought to define the literary qualities of fanfiction and compare them to K-12 public school literacy education standards and benchmarks.

Community: This theme represented 35 articles that explicitly defined, depicted, or discussed fanfiction as a collaborative, peer-oriented literacy activity, to the exclusion of fanfiction practices not grounded in a culture of participation or shared literary critique.

Fan: When discussions of fanfiction practice turned to the motivations of fanfiction practitioners, they frequently involved descriptions of fanfiction as the creative product of media enthusiasts. This theme represented the portrayal of fanfiction as a form of media practice -- created by and for fans of specific fanfiction source materials -- within 25 of the data set's articles.

Convention: The convention theme represented 16 articles that presented conventions of fanfiction literacy practice, governed either by community-determined technical and creative standards, or by the consensus of fanfiction practitioners.

Identity: Although fanfiction was cast as a beneficial recreational literacy practice throughout the data set, the specific nature of this benefit was most heavily explored within discussions of fanfiction's ability to serve as a medium of personal expression and self-reflection. This theme represented 16 articles containing descriptions of fanfiction that served to further broaden discourses concerning the formation and representation of new media literacy practitioner identity.

Source Text: When individual fanfiction works were described in terms of the works' relationships to their original source materials, these links were consistently associated with the inextricable qualities of fanfiction literacy practices. This theme represented 15 articles containing descriptions of fanfiction works in terms of their abilities to reproduce, oppose, correct, rewrite, or transcend elements of their source texts.

The following sections of this chapter describe how these themes served as the foundations for the identification and extraction of the data set's three dominant socio-cultural frame categories.

THE YOUTH PRACTICE FRAME CATEGORY

The most dominant frame category within the data set was the Youth Practice frame, which reflected the ways fanfiction practices, practitioners, and communities were defined, depicted, and discussed within 87 of the data set's 95 articles. At first glance, it seems incredible that a single socio-cultural pattern could be so pervasive that it would impact over 91% of the data set's articles. However, upon reflection, it should not be so astonishing that a frame related to adolescent literacy practice would be so influential on a discourse so heavily focused on K-12 literacy education.

The Youth Practice frame reflected how discussions of fanfiction practice were oriented toward depictions and portrayals of adolescent fanfiction practitioners (Berg, 2011; Dressman et al., 2009). During the coding process, it quickly became apparent that

many articles within the data set contained accounts of fanfiction literacy practices that were solely concerned with fanfiction practitioners who were adolescents. Furthermore, these articles' descriptions of the reasons why fanfiction practitioners found fanfiction to be a compelling form of media engagement tended to wholly exclude adult fanfiction practitioners from these discussions of fanfiction's appeal.

Perhaps it is only natural that articles published in journals that were explicitly concerned with K-12 public school literacy instruction would be more focused on a literacy practice's K-12 aged practitioners than its adult practitioners. However, the articles within the data set placed such a heavy emphasis on fanfiction's appeal to adolescents that they effectively presented a view of fanfiction communities to readers that was entirely bereft of adult participants. This incomplete portrait of the makeup of fanfiction communities had a number of tangible effects on the data set's presentation of the benefits of bringing fanfiction into K-12 classrooms.

For example, CLA0801 (Tosenberger, 2008b) contained a description of fanfiction works that had been created in response to revelations about the *Harry Potter* character Dumbledore's sexual orientation. The article's discussion of these works began by sensitizing readers to the presence of a significant number of adolescent participants within online communities devoted to the discussion of *Harry Potter* (Tosenberger, 2008b, p. 200). This passage within the text specifically emphasized that the appeal of "thoughtful and nuanced" (p. 200) forms of fanfiction practice to adolescents was not merely hypothetical or theoretical, but rather represented a form of peer-mediated, youthled new media engagement. By framing adolescent fanfiction practitioners as the

primary stakeholders within the problem of negative fan reactions to Dumbledore's sexuality, and excluding adult fanfiction practitioners from depictions of online community discussions of this topic, this article conveyed an inaccurate view of *Harry Potter* fan communities as spaces in which adolescents engage in practices aligned with the goals of K-12 literacy instruction without the influence of adults.

Additionally, as was noted earlier in this chapter, articles within the data set were quick to align fanfiction practices with statistically-backed conceptions of how teenagers use the internet, especially when these conceptions of adolescent literacy could be supported by quantitative research findings. These depictions were associated with the youth practice theme (see Figure B), which was often observed within articles affected by the Youth Practice framing of fanfiction as a strictly youth-oriented literacy practice (Brown, 2009; Gibbons, 2010; Golding, 2011; Leland et al., 2012; Pitcher et al., 2007; Salen, 2007; Thorne & Black, 2007). Roughly half of the articles shaped by the Youth Practice frame were also identified as containing thematic elements that had been coded as youth practice themes. These youth practice themes were generally found to occur within articles that framed the landscape of online fanfiction practice as a digitallymediated space for interactions between adolescent fanfiction practitioners in absence of adult supervision (Moje, 2009; Schwarz, 2010). Within these articles, fanfiction practitioners were often presented as a group either predominantly or entirely composed of adolescent literacy practitioners, whose enthusiasm for particular media franchises motivated them to "actively engage with, rework, and transform" their objects of interest into fanfiction (Steinkuehler et al., 2005, p. 97).

The tendency of articles within the data set to frame fanfiction in this manner had three primary effects on the data set's overall depiction of fanfiction practice. First, as mentioned above, by presenting fanfiction as a literacy practice produced by adolescents, these articles situated any and all discussions of fanfiction community peer writing practices within contexts of adolescent peer interaction. This precluded any discussion of situations of mentor-like relationships between adolescents as experts and adults as novices. This would have had particularly interesting implications on the argument that fanfiction communities instill adolescents with a level of cultural capital they likely never could attain within K-12 public school environments. This cultural capital was characterized as a level of pre-existing knowledge of either the media upon which fanfiction was based or the process of adapting media into fanfiction works, both of which would normally be qualities ascribed to teachers, not students, within K-12 classrooms.

Second, this focus on adolescent fanfiction practitioners created a sharp contrast between in-school and out-of-school forms of adolescent literacy learning. The processes by which adolescent fanfiction community members learned how to create and improve written fanfiction works were characterized as egalitarian interactions between adolescent peers, while the processes by which these same adolescents learned how to write and improve their writing skills within K-12 public schools were characterized as hierarchical interactions between adult teachers and subordinate students. In this manner, the exclusion of adult fanfiction practitioners from accounts of fanfiction practice created a false dichotomy between practices in which adults were portrayed as absent and practices

in which adults were portrayed as present, thus reducing the difference between these two sets of practices to the presence or absence of adult influence.

This distinction effectively framed fanfiction literacy practice as an emerging form of technologically-mediated adolescent literacy engagement (Berg, 2011; Dockter et al., 2010; Greenhow et al., 2009; Sekeres, 2009). Comparisons between positive aspects of fanfiction literacy practices and negative aspects of classroom literacy practices worked to highlight the peer-oriented nature of online fanfiction communities, as well as the ability of fanfiction communities to connect adolescent literacy practitioners with their more experienced peers (Black, 2009a; Lam, 2012; Lotherington & Jenson, 2011; Schechter & Denmon, 2012). Although this framing pattern resulted in the positive portrayal of fanfiction to K-12 educators who might have been interested in bringing fanfiction practices into their classrooms during the period covered by the data set, this portrayal precluded common elements of educators' students' actual experiences within fanfiction communities. As a result, this pattern of framing fanfiction practice represented a possible disparity between how fanfiction experiences were presented to teachers and how students actually experienced fanfiction during the period covered by the data set.

Finally, the absence of adult practitioners from accounts of online fanfiction practice had particular implications on discussions of digitally-mediated interactions between adolescent fanfiction practitioners who did not necessarily enjoy or perform well within public school literacy programs. As noted above, interactions between adolescent fanfiction community members were often described as a type of cultural capital

exchange that was not possible within public school classrooms (Yoon & Wilder, 2010). The tendency to depict adolescent fanfiction practitioners as struggling in class, yet thriving online, served to tie these descriptions to pre-existing socio-cultural narratives about K-12 public school students who "love to learn" but "just hate school" (Mathew & Adams, 2009, p. 39). Several of these descriptions also tapped into narratives about "failing" students (Steinkuehler, 2010, p. 62), "reluctant readers" (Stolle, 2009, p. 451), and "immigrant youths" (Black, 2009a, pp. 689, 691-692) who struggled with K-12 reading and writing achievement. In this way, fanfiction was portrayed as a panacea to remedy or mitigate problems with marginalized students' literacy performance, although this depiction did not appear to fully account for students with no pre-existing interest in fanfiction writing.

Depictions of adolescent fanfiction practitioners who struggled in schools supported the assertion that fanfiction literacy practices operated outside of the continuum normally used to gauge students' reading and writing capabilities. This conveyed the message that, although "adolescents who struggle with literacy typically aren't motivated to engage in academic reading" (Snow & Moje, 2010, p. 68), the same could not be said for reading occurring within digital environments. Within discussions of these online contexts, fanfiction was depicted as a common practice of students who were not considered to possess in-school literacies (Black, 2005, 2009a) or who were not high achievers within academic settings (Alvermann et al., 2012a; Black, 2009b, 2009c). Such descriptions of fanfiction's adolescent appeal were observed within larger discussions concerning underachieving students, wherein fanfiction was employed as an

example of how fiction "relevant to adolescents' lives is often beyond their reading level" (Snow & Moje, 2010, p. 68).

THE OUT-OF-SCHOOL PRACTICE FRAME CATEGORY

The second most dominant frame category within the data set was the Out-of-School Practice frame, which reflected the ways fanfiction practices, practitioners, and communities were defined, depicted, and discussed within 83 of the data set's 95 articles. The central characteristic of the Out-of-School Practice frame was that it reflected how accounts of fanfiction practice were oriented toward the discussion of the extracurricular settings within which fanfiction works were found, produced, and consumed, as well as statements about the non-traditional nature of what constituted literacy practice within these extracurricular settings during the period covered by the data set. These discussions emphasized the recreational nature of fanfiction practice, bringing examples of fanfiction into depictions of K-12 aged students who "collectively read and write vast cascades of multimodal text as part of their play" outside of K-12 classroom environments (Steinkuehler, 2010, p. 61). Within these contexts of digital literacy discussion, fanfiction was framed as an example of adolescent internet use, defined as a set of technologically mediated practices, and included in discussions of students' use of "digital tools for constructing online literary texts" (Beach, 2012, p. 50).

Upon examining the codes related to the articles' use of fanfiction as an example of adolescent literacy, it became apparent that discussions of students' online literacies

within the data set often presented fanfiction as one of the many ways US adolescents conduct themselves in online and out-of-school literacy contexts. Such discussions of adolescent media engagement often included statistics demonstrating the overwhelming percentage of students who voluntarily enter online environments devoted to media creation practices (Martin, 2011; Salen, 2007). This represented a strong correlation between the Youth Practice and Out-of-School Practice frames. 76 of the articles within the data set that were shaped by the Youth Practice frame were also shaped by the Outof-School Practice frame, resulting in the frequent intersection of the two frames' influence on individual articles. For instance, analysis of the coding indicated that fanfiction was often portrayed as a typical example of "young people's home computer use" (Kent & Facer, 2004, p. 450) within larger discussions of how computer literate students expressed their "wider context of hobbies and interests" (Kent & Facer, 2004, p. 450) through digitally-mediated, out-of-school literacy practices (Alvermann et al., 2012b; Brown, 2009; Hagood, 2010; Kinzer, 2010; Lewis & Fabos, 2005; Schechter & Denmon, 2012; Schwarz, 2010; Wohlwend, 2010).

The intersection of these two frame patterns was also observed within sociological discussions of the relationship between out-of-school literacy and adolescent identity (Williams, 2008), wherein fanfiction was introduced as an example of "how young people construct their online literate identities" through peer-oriented literacy practice (Alvermann et al., 2012b, p. 181). These identity-construction practices were often discussed within much broader contexts of recreational media literacy engagement, such as in ENT1002's equalization of fanfiction, re-reading a book multiple times, and

ways of displaying one's identification in terms of media preference such as "wearing a T-shirt" (Andersen, 2010, p. 106). When framed in terms of practitioner identity, fanfiction practices took the form of "vernacular engagements", a category of literacy practice presented across the data set as being rooted in lived experiences that include "everyday" forms of writing such as "scrapbooking, website design" and "keeping a diary" (Roozen, 2009, p. 166). Within the larger context of adolescent media literacy engagement, fanfiction was coded as serving as a frequent example of how adolescents increasingly expect literacy activities to "serve purposes of identity representation and affinity building" (Dockter et al., 2010, p. 420). These depictions served as signposts for identifying these frames' joint influence on descriptions of adolescents' methods of experimentation with personal identity (Black, 2009a; Guzzetti & Gamboa, 2005).

The Out-of-School Practice frame also reflected the ways in which online fanfiction communities were discussed as sites of typical out-of-school practice within articles concerned with the "Internet-mediated environments" (Thorne & Black, 2007, p. 133) which teachers "need to understand much more about" (Bomer & Maloch, 2012, p. 47). This study's conceptualization of the Out-of-School Practice frame category emerged out of examinations of articles that discussed fanfiction within these contexts. Analysis of these articles and their codes indicated the presence of youth practice and digital literacy themes (see Figure B). These themes intersected to form calls for teachers to become more familiar with the ways that their students' media practices and media preferences differed from their own (Mackey, 2003a; Moje & Luke, 2009; Roach & Beck, 2012). Central to this mandate was the assertion that, although fanfiction was not

one of the "official literacy activities" practiced in classrooms, "teachers need to know what multimodal literacies count, and for whom" (Mills, 2010, p. 38). Much of this "for whom" was framed as adolescent women, and discussions of these young women's digitally-mediated recreational literacy practices (Beach, 2012) often employed examples of fanfiction in order to illustrate "the intense engagement girls have with such online texts in comparison with print literacy texts" (Benson, 2008, p. 642).

The Out-of-School Practice frame also reflected the ways in which digital repositories of fanfiction writing were defined as examples of social networking sites. Analysis of the study's coding revealed that these sites were commonly described across the data set as points of interaction between participants with similar media interests (Elias et al., 2010; Letcher, 2010; Leland et al., 2012; Wohlwend, 2010). These descriptions were often introduced in order to frame the contrast between new media practices and traditional print-based alternatives. For example, ALA0901 (Mathew & Adams, 2009) presented accounts of adolescent fanfiction practitioners who were "most comfortable" with "cyber" fanfiction, and who regarded online communities such as fanfiction.net as the "safest place they know" (Mathew & Adams, 2009, p. 38).

Examination of these codes indicated that this link between literacy preference and fanfiction practice was particularly emphasized within literacy education contexts, wherein fanfiction was described as a "particularly effective way to connect literacy to children's play with their favorite media characters" (Wohlwend, 2010, p. 150). Fanfiction communities were described as fertile ground for teen online literacy engagement, "pedagogically interesting" (Thorne, 2009, p. 89) cultures that served their

adolescent participants' "immediate educational needs for just-intime [sic] learning" and development of literacy skills (Hagood, 2010, p. 238). As one author commented, continued participation in communities centered on mutual literacy interests might even encourage adolescent participants to "read other books" (Leland et al., 2012, p. 29). In this way, participation in fanfiction community discussion was favorably portrayed as a possible stimulus for further recreational literacy activity, including activities aligned with the objectives of K-12 public school literacy education practitioners.

THE UTILITARIAN PRACTICE FRAME CATEGORY

The third and final dominant frame category within the data set was the Utilitarian Practice frame, which reflected the ways the utility of fanfiction practices, practitioners, and communities were defined, depicted, and discussed within 66 of the data set's 95 articles. The central characteristic of this frame was that it reflected how accounts of fanfiction literacy practices were oriented toward discussions of: differences between fanfiction and modes of literacy practice commonly found within K-12 public school literacy education programs; presentations of the ways in which these differences made fanfiction literacy practices useful in some way for K-12 public school literacy educators; and examinations into whether these differences constituted insurmountable obstacles for the adoption and adaptation of fanfiction into K-12 public schools during the period covered by the data set. The Utilitarian Practice frame was uncovered and extracted from the data by organizing the codes related to the articles' definitions and examples of

fanfiction literacy practice by both content and tone, and then codifying the contexts within which each of these definitions and examples occurred. Upon examination, these contexts were found to include discussions of how online fanfiction communities set and enforced rules and guidelines for proper and appropriate practices of creation, critical consumption, and attribution, and to what extent these standards were compatible with their counterparts within K-12 public school literacy learning environments.

The Utilitarian Practice frame reflected the ways in which out-of-school fanfiction practices were presented in terms of their relationships to and implications on K-12 public school literacy education. These relationships were often presented to readers in the context of questions about whether particular aspects of fanfiction literacy practice were appropriate for inclusion in school classrooms. Analysis of these contexts of discussion indicated that when fanfiction was framed as a model for literacy practice, it was not *fanfiction as a whole* that was presented to readers for inclusion in K-12 public school classrooms, but rather *fanfiction in part*.

Startlingly, many of these descriptions of the aspects of *fanfiction in part* that were characterized as best suited for K-12 classrooms did not include the aspects of fanfiction practice that researchers had found most pedagogically captivating about online fanfiction communities (see Chapter Three). For example, VFM1202 (Schechter & Denmon, 2012) ignored the democratizing and peer-oriented components of fanfiction practice. Instead, the article characterized fanfiction as a form of creative writing centered around the extension of existing media works' plotlines, which could be adapted for K-12 classroom use in the form of graded writing assignments such as 15-page short

stories based on television programs such as *Pretty Little Liars* and *Dragon Ball Z*. In this way, many articles minimized the impact of the media literacy movement's call to transform K-12 public school literacy instruction by bringing recreational media literacy practices into public schools. Rather, they called for the much less controversial practice of supplementing existing K-12 public school literacy instruction practices with aspects from recreational media literacy practice that could easily or conveniently be dropped into K-12 classrooms.

Yet, even when presented in a much less democratic or interest-driven form, fanfiction was described as a potential panacea for the "epidemic" (Schechter & Denmon, 2010, p. 22) of K-12 students' disinterest in improving their literacy skills. Within such discussions, fanfiction was often employed as an example of the ways in which K-12 students who were disinterested in classroom literacy practices were nevertheless enthusiastically engaging in literacy practices outside of schools. The role of fanfiction within these discussions was discovered through analysis of the study's *problem*, *cause*, and *solution* coding findings, which indicated that 80 articles within the data set positioned the disparity between in-school literacy instruction and adolescents' out-of-school literacy practices as an element of the issue the article sought to address.

When examples of fanfiction practice were employed within discussions of the causes of this disparity, they served to illustrate how out-of-school literacies differed from classroom literacies. When examples of fanfiction practice were employed within discussions of proposed solutions to this disparity, they were presented in the form of techniques for bridging gaps between out-of-school literacy practices and in-school

literacy instruction. In both cases, the inclusion of fanfiction within discussions of gaps between adolescents' classroom literacy practices and recreational literacy practices served to define the extent of these gaps and to frame them as surmountable "boundaries" (Guzzetti & Gamboa, 2005, p. 199) between in-school literacy instruction and out-of-school literacy play (Guzzetti & Gamboa, 2005; Schechter & Denmon, 2012).

In these ways, the Utilitarian Practice frame reflected discussions of the many ways technology afforded adolescents digitally-mediated "opportunities for construction and expression" and how these opportunities could be brought into K-12 classrooms (Downes & Bishop, 2012, p. 10). Fanfiction communities were framed as possessing the potential to supplement and enhance classroom literacy instruction, by providing students with extracurricular spaces for "acquiring valuable new literacy skills" (Owens, 2011, p. 53) and producing "fan fiction figures and fan art" that serve as "both a point of departure and a new space for engagement" with academic literacy (Christianakis, 2011, p. 28). Analysis of the study's *solution* coding findings indicated that many stated pedagogical benefits of this relationship were presented to readers within discussions of common fanfiction community rules and conventions, and were associated with the fanfiction community convention theme (see Figure B).

Discussions of fanfiction communities' rules and standards often depicted the processes through which new fanfiction community participants received mentorship "related to their technology use and their composing processes" from more experienced fanfiction practitioners (Chandler-Olcott & Mahar, 2003b, p. 366). Examination of the study's coding findings indicated that fanfiction community mentoring was positively

depicted within the data set by employing terminology associated with K-12 public school literacy education objectives, such as in RAL0701's depiction of mentorship as a process that "tempered critique of form with enthusiasm for content and rhetoric" (Warschauer & Grimes, 2007, p. 15). Depictions of these rules and standards were frequently situated within the context of broader cultural concerns about the limits placed on US K-12 public schools by standardized requirements for literacy instruction.

Fanfiction communities were discussed within these contexts as examples of how good literacy practices were modeled for adolescents within recreational settings. For example, sixteen articles within the data set presented the rules governing fanfiction community members' patterns of content attribution and appropriate authorship in order to compare them to the tenets conveyed by K-12 literacy instructors (Lotherington & Jenson, 2011; Thomas & Sassi, 2011). These articles found that fanfiction communities both required and taught specific media literacy skills and competencies that were comparable in sophistication, if not in form, to the literacy skills taught within more institutional contexts of literacy instruction. In this manner, fanfiction communities' creative and technical "practices of writing and sharing" (Steinkuehler, 2010, p. 62) were framed and evaluated in terms of their relationship to similar standards found in "the traditional schooled version of literacies" (Zacher, 2007, p. 81).

Analysis of the study's *definition* and *examples of fanfiction* coding findings indicated that these writing and sharing practices were often portrayed within larger discussions of the ability of recreational media literacy practices to foster students' engagement with K-12 public school creative writing exercises. In order to associate

fanfiction writing practices with standards related to K-12 writing instruction, fanfiction was often depicted as a peer-oriented literacy practice surrounding the fanfiction authors' shared understanding of the original text (Black, 2009a; Bomer & Maloch, 2012; Lammers et al., 2012). For instance, VFM1203 portrayed fanfiction as a literacy practice or genre that invited readers to "rewrite and share stories written by others" (Leland et al., 2012, p. 29). Fanfiction was depicted as a particularly effective tool for teachers to foster student engagement in classroom writing practice due to its characterization as a practice that particularly appealed to adolescents.

In 63 articles, the Utilitarian Practice frame was found to operate in conjunction with the Youth Practice frame, resulting in a depiction of fanfiction practitioners as adolescents who performed "the kind of passionate, engaged writing" that educators sought to foster within their classrooms (Cherland, 2008, p. 280). Under this depiction of fanfiction literacy practice, the source texts for fanfiction works were described as "fodder" (Steinkuehler, 2010, p. 62) for new, distinct works of original, self-directed creative writing (Black, 2005; Cherland, 2008; Hébert & Pagnani, 2010; Kell, 2009; Mackey, 2003a, 2003b; Warschauer & Grimes, 2007; Yi, 2008). Although often written in the same style as the original work (Hall, 2008), these resulting "extensions" (Leland et al., 2012, p. 29) included new material created by the fanfiction author, including new characters, settings, themes, plots, and relationships, that conveyed expressions of the adolescent author's enthusiasm for and desire to engage with the original work (Alvermann, 2008; Black, 2009a).

The derivative nature of the relationship between these original works and fanfiction writing was often framed as a means by which to evaluate the literary merit, and thus classroom applicability, of fanfiction literacy practice. Analysis of the study's *definition* coding pointed toward the identification of a pattern within the data set of portraying fanfiction writing as a form of literary critique of, or as an act of defiance against, the original work's content or intent. For example, COE0301 described fanfiction as an "irreverent" (Mackey, 2003b, p. 403) medium capable of rejecting the intentions of the source materials' original authors.

However, some articles suggested that, by providing an outlet to voice dissatisfactions or disagreements with the original authors' intentions, this irreverence granted the fanfiction author "the authority and tools to intermingle her own voice" (Alvermann et al., 2012a, p. 37) with the original authors' words. This form of interaction was presented as a means of textual engagement that normally would not be possible within K-12 classrooms, which were characterized as treating works that students read in class as immutable. The oppositional qualities of fanfiction practice, and its ability to share and spread concerns or grievances with the original work among communities of like-minded media fans, were cited within portrayals of fanfiction writing as a form of "dissatisfaction with the source text" that constituted a "compelling motivation to write fanfiction" (Tosenberger, 2008b, p. 204).

Analysis of the study's *solution* coding findings led to the exploration of the ways in which fanfiction practitioners' motivations were discussed in terms of the potential benefits of "allowing a slice" (Gutiérrez, 2011, p. 228) of out-of-school literacy practice

into school environments on student engagement and student enthusiasm (Berg, 2011, 2013). The adaptation of fanfiction practice for use within K-12 public school classrooms was framed as a way to make classrooms more welcoming of "students' outside-of-school reading choices," and in the process encourage students to make connections between their patterns of recreational reading and the reading they were assigned by their teachers (Gutiérrez, 2011, p. 228). Within this context, fanfiction was presented not as an interest-based community practice, a media subculture, or even as a tool for literacy learning, but rather as a tool to foster student engagement and alleviate student disinterest: a fun classroom exercise that students would consider a potential break from school "monotony," blending new things with "some of the old things they already liked to do" (Schechter & Denmon, 2012, p. 26).

In addition to portraying fanfiction as a remedy for problems related to K-12 public school student engagement, fanfiction was also framed as a means by which to solve problems related to student achievement, most notably within discussions of ways in which to better foster literacy skills in English-language learning -- or ELL -- students (Black, 2005, 2009a). ELL students were frequently coded as examples of fanfiction practitioners who used fanfiction literacy practices to gain proficiency in English while communicating, socializing, and entertaining themselves in recreational settings (Dressman et al., 2009; Kinzer, 2010; Yi, 2008). Examination of the discussions within which these examples were deployed in the data set resulted in the identification of patterns of presenting fanfiction communities to ELL literacy educators as environments that benefited students for whom English is not a primary language. These patterns

manifested themselves in the form of descriptions of digitally-mediated fanfiction practice as an outlet for creative writing and social activity with communities of multilingual youth (Alvermann et al., 2012b; Black, 2009c; Kinzer, 2010). In this manner, fanfiction was framed as a prescriptive solution for problems within K-12 classrooms: a strategy -- "aligned with school-sanctioned literacy and language development practices, such as collaborative composition, peer-review, peer-editing, and mentoring" (Thorne & Black, 2007, p. 146) -- and a tool -- akin to "colored pencils and paper," "emoticons," or media-oriented "shrines" (Chandler-Olcott & Mahar, 2003a, pp. 556 & 559, 2003b, p. 368) -- to be applied and used in the service of classroom literacy practice.

CONCLUSION

The stated goal of this dissertation was to report on the findings related to the following question:

"How is fanfiction framed as a pedagogical practice for literacy education practitioner periodical audiences?"

To that end, a socio-cultural frame analysis research paradigm was employed to: extract and analyze the most salient factors that influenced the data set; uncover the voices and perspectives that these factors framed as experts and stakeholders; discern

how these factors influenced the inclusion and exclusion of particular descriptions and depictions of fanfiction literacy practice; and investigate how these descriptions and depictions shaped discussions concerning fanfiction's place within US K-12 public school literacy education classrooms.

As a result of this analysis, I uncovered three dominant frame categories -- the Youth Practice frame, the Out-of-School Practice frame, and the Utilitarian Practice frame -- each of which reflected how discussions of fanfiction literacy practice were aligned with particularly salient perspectives on the nature and worth of K-12 students' recreational literacy practices. The Youth Practice frame reflected an orientation toward the view that recreational literacy was juvenile. The Out-of-School Practice frame reflected the implications and connotations associated with labeling recreational literacy practices as non-academic. Finally, the Utilitarian Practice frame reflected how recreational literacies were evaluated in terms of their ability to foster in-school literacy performance and assessment. This section summarizes how the identification and analysis of these frames aided in fulfilling the aim of the study.

The Youth Practice frame reflected how depictions of fanfiction practice within the data set were oriented toward discussions of adolescents as the default demographic for fanfiction literacy practice. Although no articles within the data set categorically denied the existence of adult fanfiction practitioners, their depictions of how members of online fanfiction communities interacted with one another were wholly geared toward the discussion of adolescents' interactions with other adolescents. One of the principal effects of this framing pattern was that peer-mediated writing practice within fanfiction

communities was depicted as an egalitarian relationship between participants who, the narrative implied, were relatively the same age and in possession of relatively the same in-school literacy education. Another implication of this framing pattern was that, since fanfiction was predominantly cast as an adolescent practice, it could be considered an out-of-school practice, in the sense that it was practiced by adolescents out of school.

The Out-of-School Practice frame reflected the second major way that the presentation of fanfiction practice was shaped within the data set. By presenting fanfiction as an out-of-school practice, rather than a recreational or non-academic practice, articles within the data set were able to draw distinctions between in-school literacy practices and fanfiction literacy practices without presenting these practices to K-12 literacy educators as an inferior form of literacy. This distinction was especially important in contexts where fanfiction was being presented for possible inclusion within K-12 classroom literacy programs. Within these contexts, the phrase *out-of-school* was used in order to remind readers of the current absence of practices similar to fanfiction from classrooms, while the terms *recreational*, *extracurricular*, and *non-academic* were labels that denoted possible reasons why such practices were currently absent from schools.

These terms carried with them certain implicit socio-cultural assumptions about how teachers tended to view the skills necessary to engage in *recreational*, *extracurricular*, and *non-academic* writing practices, as well as the seriousness, merit, and sophistication of the texts that these writing practices tended to produce. These patterns of framing fanfiction allowed for the contexts within which fanfiction was

produced to be discussed without the need to include discussions of value judgments about fanfiction practitioners' reading and writing aptitudes, as the use of this terminology would naturally remind teachers of their previously-held beliefs about recreational writing skills. This only served to emphasize discussions within the data set that contradicted readers' implicit assumptions, as readers would already have these assumptions in mind. This emphasis increased the effectiveness of the articles' explanations of how students who underperformed within K-12 public school classrooms could nevertheless be considered successful and skilled creators of written texts within out-of-school contexts.

The Utilitarian Practice frame reflected the third major way that accounts of fanfiction practice were shaped across the data set. Whereas the Youth Practice frame reflected the ways practitioner periodicals framed *who* practiced fanfiction, and the Outof-School frame reflected the ways practitioner periodicals framed *where* fanfiction was practiced, the Utilitarian Practice frame reflected the ways practitioner periodicals framed *what it meant* to practice fanfiction. One of the principal effects of this framing pattern was that the appeal of fanfiction was presented to K-12 literacy educators in terms of its processes rather than its products.

Although many articles described fanfiction as works of fiction based on elements from previously existing works, the data set as a whole did not frame the pedagogical appeal of fanfiction as residing within these works, but rather in how these works were created by adolescents. Within the many articles that directed educators to take a closer look at their students' literacy practices, the tools, techniques, and skills involved in the

creation of fanfiction were framed as the aspect of fanfiction that deserved educators' attentions. As a result, descriptions of educators' efforts to incorporate fanfiction into their K-12 classrooms focused on identifying the aspects of the fanfiction creation process that were most worthy of adapting into the classroom, and swapping them in for their corresponding elements within existing classroom literacy practices. In this manner, bringing fanfiction into the classroom was presented as equivalent to modifying existing practices in ways that educators hoped would make them more appealing to students who already enjoyed fanfiction.

Finally, although this chapter provided a full and detailed account of the frame analysis process, there were many other elements of the data set's findings that did not fit neatly into a frame analysis framework. These additional findings and observations will be presented at the beginning of the next chapter, as their introduction will be necessary for the discussion of the study's implications on the current field of literacy education research.

CHAPTER SIX

"Most of the creative work that students undertake in school is designed for an audience of one: the teacher-as-examiner. The existence, or even the potential existence, of a real audience can qualitatively change how students conceptualise production work, and what they learn from it" (Buckingham, 2007, p. 52).

IMPLICATIONS

SUMMARY

The previous chapters of this dissertation have contained a report on the objectives, foundations, methods, and findings of a research study designed to uncover how fanfiction was framed for US K-12 public school literacy education practitioner periodical audiences between 2003 and 2013. Although the previous chapters presented a full account of how this study's socio-culturally grounded analysis enabled me to address and answer the study's research question, they have not constituted a full or complete picture of the study's context within, and impact on, the overall field of literacy education research as it exists at the time of this dissertation's publication. This chapter's overall goal is to relate the ways that fanfiction research findings were conveyed to K-12 public school literacy education practitioners in the past to the ways that fanfiction is currently being researched in the present.

To that end, this final chapter of the dissertation contains a series of discussions on aspects of the research study that have implications for the current field of literacy education research. The first section of this chapter summarizes how practitioner journals' descriptions and depictions of fanfiction literacy practices changed over the course of the ten-year period represented by the data set. Demographic information gathered during the coding process is presented in order to construct a detailed account of how certain concerns and discussions were more prevalent at particular points than others. This is followed by an examination of the study's limitations in terms of its scope and methodologies. Finally, this chapter describes how fanfiction practices have changed since the period covered by the data set, and how these changes have impacted literacy scholars' understandings of how fanfiction is practiced when it is brought into contexts other than online fanfiction community database websites.

DEMOGRAPHIC PATTERNS

While coding and analyzing the data, I noted a number of interesting demographic patterns within the data set that, despite contributing to the identification and extraction of the study's three frame categories, were not explicitly discussed elsewhere in this dissertation. For example, the data set contained the following distribution of articles by year of publication (see Figure C):

Figure C: Distribution of Articles by Year of Publication

4 articles in 2003.

1 article in 2004.

3 articles in 2005.

4 articles in 2006.

8 articles in 2007.

12 articles in 2008.

19 articles in 2009.

19 articles in 2010.

11 articles in 2011.

13 articles in 2012.

1 article in 2013.

(Note: as data were collected between April 5 and May 8, 2013, articles from the second half of 2013 are not accounted for within this chronal distribution.)

As this infographic shows, references to fanfiction within the context of literacy education were fairly infrequent prior to 2007. Examination of the study's coding indicated that these earlier articles were mostly uniform in their depictions of fanfiction, in the sense that they all introduced fanfiction into discussions of literacy contexts. For example, recreational fanfiction practices and online fanfiction communities were primarily presented as alternate or new landscapes for adolescents to engage with media (Knobel & Lankshear, 2006), the study of which "suggests new definitions of what literacy is or could be" (Steinkuehler et al., 2005, p. 97). During this period, fanfiction's

relationship to K-12 public school literacy education was mostly framed in terms of the necessity of literacy educators and students to become aware of "how these literacies differ from school literacies" (Lewis & Fabos, 2005, p. 496). Analysis of the *experts* and *examples of fanfiction* coding findings indicated that fanfiction was often introduced in adolescent practitioners' own words through case studies and other direct interactions (Chandler-Olcott & Mahar, 2003a; Guzzetti & Gamboa, 2005).

Beginning in 2007, however, there was a marked uptick in articles about fanfiction, the height of which was concentrated in 2009-2010, before returning in 2011 to about the level they were at in 2007-2008. Coding data indicated that articles published during the 2009-2010 zenith were characterized by the presentation of adolescent fanfiction practice as a new form of media engagement (Owens, 2011; Tierney, 2009; Van Amelsvoort, 2009). During these two years, fanfiction was introduced to educators alongside other emerging adolescent media engagement practices, and researchers were cited far more than their adolescent research participants as experts within descriptions of fanfiction practice (Gibbons, 2010; Kell, 2009; Lotherington & Jenson, 2011; Mills, 2010).

This trend continued into the latter half of the data set, by which point conversations about fanfiction had turned almost entirely toward the discussion of digital contexts for fanfiction reading and writing (Owens, 2011; Steinkuehler, 2010; Steinkuehler & King, 2009). "Popular social networking sites such as MySpace and Facebook" (Williams, 2008, p. 683), and the literacies practiced within them, were presented as major concerns for educators during this period. Examinations of this

study's frame analysis findings indicated that fanfiction was framed within these discussions as a "particularly interesting social network site for language and literacy development" (Warschauer & Grimes, 2007, p. 15). Fanfiction became increasingly associated with discussions of other digital contexts for adolescent socialization, which were often accompanied by discussions of how adolescents engaged with media within these spaces. These accounts of adolescent media engagement often conveyed the concern that students were becoming more technologically literate --- but not necessarily more conventionally literate --- than their teachers (Schechter & Denmon, 2012; Thomas & Sassi, 2011).

Concerns that tech-savvy adolescents might lack the conventional literacy skills necessary to critically engage with the digital media they consumed and used to communicate with one another relied on the voices and perspectives of adults, rather than of adolescents, to define the scope and nature of adolescent literacy practice. The study's coding findings indicated that during the data set's later years, when discussions of fanfiction practitioner literacy aptitude became more and more prevalent, the articles had ceased to appeal to the authority of fanfiction practitioners to describe fanfiction practice. Instead, they relied on the researchers who studied fanfiction practitioners and the theorists who speculated about fanfiction's implications on K-12 classroom literacy instruction.

For instance, analysis of the *expert* coding findings indicated that only 9 of the data set's 95 articles depicted adolescent fanfiction practitioners as experts on their own literacy practices, and that only 2 of those 9 articles were published after 2008. Yet, the

data set was dominated by depictions of literacy researchers and theorists as experts on fanfiction: 81 of the 95 articles within the data set were coded with some variety of literacy researcher or literacy scholar. This suggests that, as attentions toward fanfiction communities increased, informal explanations sourced from actual fanfiction practitioners were ultimately excluded from materials written for K-12 public school literacy educators, in favor of formal scholastic evaluations of whether fanfiction practice constituted an expression of conventional literacy skill.

These findings have implications for the continuing research of fan literacy scholars into the level of control adolescent and adult fanfiction practitioners have over the future trajectory of their online literacy practices. Many literacy researchers have investigated the extent to which non-practitioners are able to define or shape the broader US socio-cultural conceptions of fanfiction practices and fanfiction communities (Gee & Hayes, 2010; Noppe, 2011; Pearson, 2010; Scott, 2009). Within these scholars' studies, the ability of non-practitioners to dictate what constitutes the acceptable nature and scope of fanfiction practice has long been presented as an issue.

Recently, the development of commissioned for-profit fanfiction works on sites such as Amazon Kindle Worlds (Baker-Whitelaw, 2014) has led to renewed concerns for the ways "corporate entities see fan fiction -- like texts -- as a way to engage the audience" (Hellekson, 2015, p. 129). For instance, fan scholars and entertainment journalists have observed that producers of animated television shows have become much more willing to encourage adolescent fanfiction and fan art practices. These commentators have pointed to the ways in which shows such as Cartoon Network's

Adventure Time (Avery, 2014), Nickelodeon's The Legend of Korra (Robinson, 2014), and VIZ Media's Sailor Moon (Roncero-Menendez, 2014), canonically validated popular lesbian fanfiction and fan art romantic pairings. They have also pointed to the creation of plotlines specifically centered around fanfiction and fan art practitioners, such as in Amazon/Troyca's Re:Creators -- a fantasy series whose villainess sprung to life out of the pages of a fanfiction work after internet bullying drove her teenage creator to commit suicide (Ekens, 2017) -- and Crunchyroll/Kyoto Animation's Miss Kobayashi's Dragon Maid -- a situation comedy about a group of mythological dragons who befriend members of various Japanese media subcultures (Silverman, 2017).

During the period covered by the data set, research related to concerns of practitioner control over public perception of fanfiction practice had been focused on the possible repercussions of what fanfiction practitioners saw as attempts from outside commercial and institutional groups to commodify or co-opt fanfiction works "at the expense of fans" (Noppe, 2011, p. 5.1). More recently, fanfiction and fan art practitioners have seemingly received these overtures from media creators on a case-by-case basis. Online fanfiction practitioner communities have accused several US entertainment media creators of marketing their franchises to fans of same-sex fanfiction works in ways perceived as cynical and manipulative by some LGBT fanfiction practitioners (Minkel, 2016; Romano, 2014, 2016). The most well-received of these overt attempts to market to fanfiction fans has been *Overwatch*, a 2016 video game specifically, and successfully, designed to appeal to creators of fanfiction and fan art (Deyo, 2016; Gorry, 2016). However, literacy scholars such as James Paul Gee and

Elisabeth Hayes have continued to caution their peers on the dangers of bringing fanfiction literacy practices into classrooms in ways that might transform contexts of fanfiction production into sites of "cultural hegemony in which people are socialized into dominant values" (Gee & Hayes, 2010, p. 186). The tendency of articles within this study's data set to increasingly rely on institutional voices -- such as researchers and theorists -- rather than actual fanfiction practitioners to convey *what fanfiction is* to readers suggests that this transformation might have already begun to occur by the end of the period represented by the data set.

These shifts in the ways that the relationship between K-12 education and out-of-school fanfiction literacy practice were characterized within the data set suggest that Gee and Hayes may have been right to be concerned. In less than 10 years, the focus of the data set's definitions, descriptions, and discussions had turned away from the exploration of fanfiction communities as intellectually interesting sites of recreational literacy, meant to provoke K-12 educators' curiosities, and toward a more standards-based evaluation of the merits of fanfiction literacy practices, meant to convey fanfiction's place within a number of developing conceptions of out-of-school student literacy aptitudes. Whether portrayals of *other* out-of-school literacy practices within professional education periodicals underwent similar shifts during the same period -- and whether portrayals of fanfiction within professional education periodicals have continued to undergo similar shifts in more recent years -- would be potentially interesting topics for future literacy education research, as such trends might indicate a pattern of changing institutional views about the merits and applicabilities of students' non-academic literacies.

NATURE OF PORTRAYAL

Prior to conducting this study, I had personally encountered several aca-fans (see Chapter Two) at conferences who expressed concerns about whether K-12 public school educators were being instilled with negative views of fan practices. Based on the findings of this study, it appears that the opposite may be the case. Overall, the portrayal of fans and fan communities within the data set was relatively positive: 61 articles portrayed media fans positively within the context of these fans' literacy practices, while 3 articles portrayed them negatively, 4 articles contained a mix of positive and negative portrayals, and 27 articles did not contain any noticeable value judgment. Communities of media fans were portrayed slightly more positively, with 65 articles containing positive portrayals, 2 containing negative portrayals, 1 containing a mix of both positive and negative portrayals, and 27 not containing any noticeable value judgment about fan communities.

The positive portrayal of fans and their communities appeared to extend to discussions of fan practices. Within articles that discussed fanfiction practices within the context of the central problem the article sought to address or the solutions the articles suggested for these problems, fanfiction was tied to the solution within 68 articles, the problem within 11 articles, and a mixture of both the problem and the solution in 9 articles (7 articles did not tie fanfiction to either the problem or the solution in any noticeable way). The implications of these findings are that, during periods when inschool literacy instruction did not appear to line up with students' actual out-of-school

literacy practices, students' practices were much more likely to be viewed as a possible source of reconciling this disparity than as a possible cause of the disparity itself. In other words, when students practiced literacy in ways that deviated from traditional methods of classroom literacy instruction, it was neither the students nor their practices that are considered at fault, but rather some other party.

In many cases within the data set, that other party was teachers. Teachers were coded within the blame category in 40 of the data set's articles. This represented the largest single entity or group of entities to be held responsible for issues related to classroom literacy instruction. This was relatively consistent with how teachers were presented within discussions of K-12 literacy education policy during the same period (see Chapter Three). However, teachers were notably also presented as stakeholders within the same problems of K-12 literacy education for which they were responsible: in the 83 articles where students were depicted as stakeholders within the article's stated problem, 77 of these articles also presented teachers as stakeholders. This suggested that even if lack of teacher knowledge or teachers' hesitations to implement new classroom policies were portrayed as the sources of K-12 literacy instruction dilemmas, they were nevertheless presented as having just as much at stake in these problems as their students.

FLATTENING THE NARRATIVE

Like any research grounded in a particular historical period and socio-cultural context, this study had particular limitations and constraints that must be acknowledged

in order to assess both its impact on and place within the field of K-12 literacy education research. The first of these limitations was related to the study's scope. Had this study been published in 2013, immediately after the data had been collected, its relevance and applicability to literacy scholars' understanding of what professional education periodicals tell US K-12 literacy educators about fanfiction literacy practice, and how research on fanfiction literacy practice within the field of education is being communicated to in-service or pre-service teachers, would be much more apparent. However, since the articles within the data set were between 5 and 15 years old, there may be a tendency to view the data set, and subsequently the study itself, as out of date.

However, upon reflection, while the study could only indicate what was told to educators between 2003 and 2013, it nevertheless has a tremendous impact on scholars' understanding of how developments in literacy research filter into and influence professional publications. For example, although national literacy education mandates that were current in 2008 were very different from those current in 2018, scholars arguably possess just as much if not more information about how policies from 2008 were enacted, as well as research on whether these policies were ultimately impactful or implemented effectively. By comparing how fanfiction literacy practices were presented as solutions to problems within the field of literacy education to research and documentation on policies designed to direct teachers toward solutions to these problems, literacy education scholars may increase their understanding of how new practices and pedagogies are presented as panaceas or common sense solutions for problems in K-12 education.

Another limitation of this study was that it focused entirely on print-based professional periodicals, primarily those published within peer-reviewed practitioner research journals and magazines. However, the period covered by the data set was characterized by a sharp increase in the use of web resources such as blogs as a means of disseminating information to and between K-12 educators (Loving et al., 2007; Ro et al., 2013; Strauss, 2006). Consequently, although the study accomplished its goal of illustrating the way professional education publications communicated ideas about fanfiction to teachers, it would be incorrect to state that the study fully accounted for all text-based means from which teachers may have acquired new conceptions of and knowledge about fanfiction literacy practices. This remains a limitation of the study only in that the research question itself did not direct the research toward blogs as an avenue of investigation. In that sense, the question of how educational blogs defined, depicted, and discussed fanfiction literacy practices during this period constitute a separate, yet interesting, direction for future frame analysis research.

Similarly, the study was limited in scope, in that it sought to investigate only practices that were described or defined as fanfiction by the articles and periodicals in which they had been published. This precluded the inclusion of certain discussions of fan works from the data set. For example, this dissertation would be unable to report on how fan art practices were communicated to K-12 art educators, or how fan music practices were communicated to K-12 music educators, during the period covered by the research study. Depending on whether one considers these practices to be variations of fanfiction practice, or rather equally interesting yet distinct methods of adolescent engagement with

pre-existing media works, this may represent a particular limitation on the data's applicability and transferability to the implementation of classroom practices based on existing patterns of adolescent media engagement.

Finally, the articles' focus on US K-12 public school programs resulted in an analysis that precluded the study's transferability, both to literacy programs within private K-12 schools and to those within other countries. While this was a planned limitation, what was unplanned was the study's lack of focus on pedagogical concerns that might be of particular importance to K-12 public school educators. For example, the study did not code for the socio-economic conditions of the school districts discussed within the data set, nor did it account for references to the race or class of the adolescent fanfiction practitioners mentioned within each article.

Arguably, these were factors that the study should have accounted for if it intended to fully explore all the socio-cultural factors that might possibly have shaped the way fanfiction literacy practices were framed within the data. However, I made a decision to exclude all socio-cultural themes from the analysis until they made themselves apparent during the inductive frame extraction process (see Chapter Four). Ultimately, although themes related to issues such as race, class, and gender of fanfiction practitioners were sought out within the articles, the only major socio-cultural threads that emerged across the data were the nine themes presented in Chapter Five.

THE FINAL FRONTIER

The authors of *Star Trek* slash fanfiction works in the 1960s might have found the fanfiction works produced, shared, and consumed by the adolescent literacy practitioners described within this study's findings to be very different from their own. Similarly, the practices of adolescent fanfiction fans in 2018 have many striking differences from the practices of adolescents during the period covered by the data set. The rise of easy-to-use and easy-to-navigate multimedia social networks have effectively eliminated the need for even the most specialized of fan communities to restrict the discussion or distribution of their works to fanfiction-specific community websites.

Similarly, fanfiction authors who decline to identify themselves with any particular fanfiction community can now find their own audiences using hypertext tags on platforms such as Tumblr, which boast a large and growing population of female users interested in the consumption, if not the creation, of fanfiction works (Lulu, 2013; Romano, 2014, 2016). The shift in where fanfiction is created, shared, and consumed from specialized, subcultural spaces to more open environments, coupled with the increased success and widespread popularity of formerly fan subculture-related media properties such as *The Avengers* and *Game of Thrones* has led several scholars (e.g., Jenkins et al., in Stein, 2014) to reclassify fan practices as more mainstream than subcultural, and more based on consumption than production.

On the other end of the subcultural spectrum, social media networks oriented toward high school and college-aged heterosexual cisgender men -- such as 4Chan and

Reddit -- have become host to online fanfiction communities devoted to exploring departures from socio-culturally accepted norms of masculine media interests (Duggan, 2017), such as male fans of the 2010 Hasbro children's show *My Little Pony: Friendship is Magic* who identify as "Bronies" (Ellis, 2015). These new contexts of fan media engagement have resulted in increased visibility for gender role-defying fanfiction works -- and subsequently, increased negative attention to non-heteronormative fanfiction content. The resulting conflicts between fanfiction enthusiasts and non-practitioner fans of popular fanfiction source materials have proved as tumultuous and divisive as any that occurred during the early days of zine-based fanfiction (Faraci, 2016; Geater, 2015; Grady, 2016; Hassenger, 2016; Romano, 2015).

Nevertheless, despite the changes that have occurred over the past half century to the practices of sharing and consuming fanfiction within the United States, fanfiction works themselves -- and the qualities that draw adolescents to become fanfiction literacy practitioners in the first place -- have remained remarkably constant. Thus, although this study is grounded in a particular historical period of US K-12 public school literacy education, I am confident that today's adolescent fanfiction practitioners would find much that reminds them of themselves within the data set's definitions, discussions, and depictions of fanfiction.

REFERENCES

- Akhavan-Majid, R., & Ramaprasad, J. (2000). Framing Beijing: Dominant ideological influences on the American press coverage of the Fourth UN Conference on Women and the NGO Forum. *International Communication Gazette* 62(1), 45-59. doi:10.1177/0016549200062001004
- Altheide, D. L. (1976). *Creating reality: How TV news distorts events*. Beverly Hills, CA: SAGE.
- Altheide, D. L., & Schneider, C. J. (2013). Qualitative media analysis (2nd ed.). *Qualitative research methods*, 38. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Althusser, L. (1969). For Marx. (B. Brewster, Trans.). London, UK: Penguin Press.
- Alvermann, D. E. (2008). Why bother theorizing adolescents' online literacies for classroom practice and research? *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(1), 8-19. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.1.2
- Alvermann, D. E., & Hagood, M. (2000). Fandom and critical media literacy. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 43, 436-446. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40017080
- Alvermann, D., Huddleston, A., & Hagood, M. (2004). What could professional wrestling and school literacy practices possibly have in common? *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 47, 532-540. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40017188

- Alvermann, D. E., Hutchins, R. J., & McDevitt, R. (2012a). Adolescents' engagement with web 2.0 and social media: Research, theory, and practice. *Research in the Schools*, 19(1), 33-44. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1284528481
- Alvermann, D. E., Marshall, J. D., Mclean, C. A., Huddleston, A. P., Joaquin, J., &
 Bishop, J. (2012b). Adolescents' web-based literacies, identity construction, and skill development. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 51(3), 179-195.
 doi:10.1080/19388071.2010.523135
- Andersen, N. (2010). Media literacy's gifts to literature study. *English Teaching: Practice*and Critique, 9(1), 103-113. Retrieved from

 http://search.proquest.com/docview/926190819
- Ang, I. (1985). Watching Dallas: Soap opera and the melodramatic imagination. London, UK: Methuen.
- Antonijevic, R. (2007, March 31/April 1). *Usage of computers and calculators and students' achievement: Results from TIMSS 2003.* Paper presented at the International Conference on Informatics, Educational Technology and New Media in Education. Sombor, Serbia. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED497737
- Arnold, M. (1869). *Culture and anarchy: An essay in political and social criticism*.

 Oxford, UK: Project Gutenberg.

- Aufderheide, P. (1992). *Media literacy: A report of the National Leadership Conference*on Media Literacy. Washington, DC: Aspen Institute. Retrieved from

 http://www.medialit.org/reading_room/article356.html
- Avery, D. (2014, August 15). *Adventure Time* creator reveals two main characters had a gay relationship. *Logo.NewNowNext*. Retrieved from http://www.newnownext.com/adventure-time-creator-reveals-two-main-characters-had-a-gay-relationship/08/2014/
- Aypay, A., Erdogan, M., & Sozer, M. A. (2007). Variation among schools on classroom practices in science-based on TIMSS-1999 in Turkey. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 44, 1417-1435. doi:10.1002/tea.20202
- Bacon-Smith, C. (1986, November 16). Spock among the women. *The New York Times*,

 A1. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/1986/11/16/books/spock-among-the-women.html
- Bacon-Smith, C. (1992). Enterprising women: Television fandom and the creation of popular myth. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Bacon-Smith, C. (2000). *Science fiction culture*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Baker-Whitelaw, G. (2014, March 3). Here's proof Amazon's fanfic venture is working.

 *Daily Dot. Retrieved from http://www.dailydot.com/fandom/neal-pollack-kindle-worlds-fanfic/
- Barthes, R. (1972). Mythologies (A. Lavers, Trans.). London. UK: Paladin Books.

- Bawden, D. (2008). Origins and concepts of digital literacy. In C. Lankshear & M.

 Knobel (Eds.), *Digital literacies: Concepts, policies and practices (New literacies and digital epistemologies)* (pp. 17-32). New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Baym, Nancy K. (2000). *Tune in, log on: Soaps, fandom and online community*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Beach, R. (2012). Uses of digital tools and literacies in the English language arts classroom. *Research in the Schools*, *19*(1), 45-59. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/128452908
- Benford, R. D. (1997). An insider's critique of the social movement framing perspective. Sociological Inquiry 67(4), 409-430. doi:10.1111/j.1475-682X.1997.tb00445.x
- Benson, S. (2008). A restart of what language arts is: Bringing multimodal assignments into secondary language arts. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 19(4), 634-674, 750. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/222747197
- Berg, M. A. (2011). On the cusp of cyberspace: Adolescents' online text use in conversation. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*(7), 485-493. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.7.2
- Berg, M. A. (2013). Tolerance to alliance: Deconstructing dichotomies to advocate for all students. *Voices from the Middle*, 20(3), 32-36. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1324444963
- Berkowitz, D. E. (2011, September 2-5). What the public really thinks about using fan fiction in the K-12 classroom: An approach using critical discourse analysis.

 Paper presented, with B. Allison responding and R. S. Nokes as chair, at the

- Institute for Comics Studies' 4th Annual Comics and Popular Arts Conference, Atlanta, GA.
- Berkowitz, D. E. (2012). Framing the future of fanfiction: How *The New York Times*' portrayal of a youth media subculture influences beliefs about media literacy education. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, *4*(3), 198-212. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uri.edu/jmle/vol4/iss3/2
- Berman, R., & Braude, N. (1969, June). For the good of the service. In R. Berman (Ed.), *T-Negative 1* (pp. 9-19). Minneapolis, MN: Author.
- Black, R. W. (2005). Access and affiliation: The literacy and composition practices of English-language learners in an online fanfiction community. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 49(2), 118-128. doi:10.1598/JAAL.49.2.4
- Black, R. W. (2009a). English-language learners, fan communities, and 21st-century skills. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(8), 688-697. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.8.4
- Black, R. W. (2009b). Online fan fiction and critical media literacy. *Journal of Computing in Teacher Education*, 26(2), 75-80. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ907122.pdf
- Black, R. W. (2009c). Online fan fiction, global identities, and imagination. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 43(4), 397-425. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215354123
- Blackburn, M. V. (2003). Boys and literacies: What difference does gender make?

 [Review of the books *Boys and literacy: Exploring the issues*, by T. Maynard;

Boys, literacies and schooling: The dangerous territories of gender-based literacy reform, by L. Rowan, M. Knobel, C. Bigum, & C. Lankshear; "Reading don't fix no Chevys": Literacy in the lives of young men, by M. W. Smith & J. D. Wilhelm; and To be a boy, to be a reader: Engaging teen and preteen boys in active literacy, by W. G. Brozo.] Reading Research Quarterly, 38(2), 276-287. doi:10.1598/RRQ.38.2.7

- Blasewitz, M. R., & Taylor, R. T. (1999). Attacking literacy with technology in an urban setting. *Middle School Journal* 30(3), 33-39. doi:10.1080/00940771.1999.11393585
- Boese, C. (1998). The Ballad of the Internet Nutball: Chaining rhetorical visions from

 the margins to the mainstream in the Xenaverse (Doctoral dissertation, Rensselaer

 Polytechnic Institute). Retrieved from

 http://www.nutball.com/dissertation/index.htm
- Bogden, J. (2001). Any time, any place, any path, any pace: Taking the lead on e-Learning policy. Washington, DC: National Association of State Boards of Education (NASBE).
- Bomer, R., & Maloch, B. (2012). Diverse local literacies and standardizing policies.

 *Language Arts, 90(1), 44-52. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1327227273
- Brown, R. (2009). What does TV viewing have to do with internet reading?: Readers, television "texts," and intertextual links to companion websites. *Reading*

- Horizons, 49(3), 221-238. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/236476990
- Buckingham, D. (1993). *Changing literacies: Media education and modern culture*.

 London, UK: Tufnell Press.
- Buckingham, D. (2000). After the death of childhood: Growing up in the age of electronic media. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.
- Buckingham, D. (2003a). Media education and the end of the critical consumer. *Harvard Educational Review*, 73(3), 309-327. doi:10.17763/haer.73.3.c149w3g81t381p67
- Buckingham, D. (2003b). *Media education: Literacy, learning and contemporary culture*.

 Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.
- Buckingham, D. (2007). Digital media literacies: Rethinking media education in the age of the Internet. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 2(1), 43-55. doi:10.2304/rcie.2007.2.1.43
- Buechner, M. M. (2002, February 24). Pop Fiction. *Time*. Retrieved from http://content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,212659,00.html
- Bulger, M., & Davison, P. (2018). The promises, challenges and futures of media literacy. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, 10(1), 1-21. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uri.edu/jmle/vol10/iss1/1/
- Busse, K. (2002). Crossing the final taboo: Family, sexuality, and incest in the Buffyverse. In R. V. Wilcox & D. Lavery (Eds.), *Fighting the forces: What's at stake in* Buffy the Vampire Slayer? (pp. 207-217). Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.

- Campbell, R. J. (1998). Hyperminds for hypertimes: The demise of rational, logical thoughts? *Educational Technology*, *38*(1), 24-31. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44428444
- Cappella, J. N., & Jamieson, K. H. (1997). Spiral of cynicism: The press and the public good. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://www.amazon.com/Spiral-Cynicism-Press-Public-Good/dp/0195090640
- CCCS Mugging Group. (2006). Some notes on the relationship between the societal control culture and the news media, and the construction of a law and order campaign. In S. Hall & T. Jefferson (Eds.), *Resistance through rituals: Youth subcultures in post-war Britain* (2nd ed.) (pp. 58-62). New York, NY: Routledge.
- CEO Forum on Education and Technology. (2001). Education technology must be included in comprehensive education legislation: A policy paper. Washington, DC: Author.
- Chandler-Olcott, K. & Mahar, D. (2003a). Adolescents' anime-inspired "fanfictions": An exploration of multiliteracies. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 46(7), 556-566. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/216913696
- Chandler-Olcott, K. & Mahar, D. (2003b). "Tech-savviness" meets multiliteracies:

 Exploring adolescent girls' technology-mediated literacy practices. *Reading*Research Quarterly, 38(3), 356-385. doi:10.1598/RRQ.38.3.3
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Thousands Oaks, CA: SAGE.

- Cherland, M. (2008). Harry's girls: Harry Potter and the discourse of gender. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(4), 273-282. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.4.1
- Christianakis, M. (2011). Children's text development: Drawing, pictures, and writing.

 *Research in the Teaching of English, 46(1), 22-54. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/884708593
- Clark, M. P., & Wentworth, C. (1997, April 17-19). Constructivism and the development of multimedia applications. *Proceedings of the 30th Annual Small College Computing Symposium* (pp. 8-33). University of Wisconsin-Parkside.
- Clarke, J., Hall, S., Jefferson, T., & Roberts, B. (2006). Subcultures, cultures and class. In S. Hall & T. Jefferson (Eds.), *Resistance through rituals: Youth subcultures in post-war Britain* (2nd ed.) (pp.1-57). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Coburn, C. E. (2006). Framing the problem of reading instruction: Using frame analysis to uncover the microprocesses of policy implementation. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43(3), 343-379. doi:10.3102/00028312043003343
- Collins, A. (1996). Whither technology and schools? Collected thoughts on the last and next quarter centuries. In C. Fisher, D. C. Dwyer, & K. Yocam (Eds.), *Education and technology: Reflections on computing in classrooms* (pp. 51-66). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Committee on Technological Literacy, National Academy of Engineering, National Research Council (G. Pearson & A. T. Young, Eds.). (2002). *Technically speaking: Why all Americans need to know more about technology*. Washington,

- DC: National Academy Press. Retrieved from https://www.nap.edu/read/10250/chapter/1
- Conway, P., & Zhao, Y. (2003). From luddites to designers: Portraits of teachers and technology in political documents. In Y. Zhao (Ed.), *What should teachers know about technology? Perspectives and practices* (pp. 15-30). Greenwich, CT: Information Age.
- Cooper, M. (1989). Analyzing public discourse. Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland Press.
- Cope, B., & Kalantzis, M. (Eds.). (2000). *Multi-literacies; Literacy learning and the design of social futures*. London, UK: Routledge.
- Cope, B., & Kalantzis, M. (2009). Multiliteracies: New literacies, new learning, *Pedagogies: An International Journal*, 4(3), 164-195. doi:10.1080/15544800903076044
- Cope, B., & Kalantzis, M. (2015). The things you do to know: An introduction to the pedagogy of multiliteracies. In B. Cope & M. Kalantzis (Eds.), *A pedagogy of multiliteracies: Learning by design* (pp.1-36). London, UK: Palgrave. doi:10.1057/9781137539724
- Coppa, F. (2006). A brief history of media fandom. In K. Hellekson & K. Busse (Eds.), Fan fiction and fan communities in the age of the internet: New essays (pp. 41-59). Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Cordes, C., & Miller, E. (Eds.). (2000). Fool's gold: a critical look at computers in childhood. College Park, MD: Alliance for Childhood.

- Cross, C. T. (2015). *The progress of education reform: The shaping of federal education policy over time*, 1-6. Education Commission of the States. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.montclair.edu/docview/1846443115
- Cuban, L. (2001). Oversold and underused: Computers in the classroom. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Curwood, J. S. (2013). *The Hunger Games:* Literature, literacy, and online affinity spaces. *Language Arts*, 90(6), 417-427. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.montclair.edu/docview/1399991078
- Darrow, B. H. (1932). *Radio, the assistant teacher*. Columbus, OH: R. G. Adams.

 Retrieved from

 https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=mdp.39015039334787;view=1up;seq=10
- Davis, J. N. (1997). Educational reform and the Babel (babble) of culture: Prospects for the standards for foreign language learning. *The Modern Language Journal*, 81(2), 151-163. doi:10.2307/328783
- Day, S. K. (2014). Pure passion: The *Twilight* saga, "abstinence porn," and adolescent women's fan fiction. *Children's Literature Association Quarterly*, 39(1), 28-48. *Project MUSE*, doi:10.1353/chq.2014.0014
- de Certeau, M. (1984). *The Practice of Everyday Life* (S. Rendall, Trans.). Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Dee, T. S., & Jacob, B. A. (2010). The impact of *No Child Left Behind* on students, teachers, and schools. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, (Fall 2010), 149-207. Retrieved from

- https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/09/2010b_bpea_dee.pdf
- De Kosnik, A. (2008). Participatory democracy and Hillary Clinton's marginalized fandom. *Transformative Works and Cultures*, 1. doi:10.3983/twc.2008.0047
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2011). *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Derecho, A. (2006). Archontic literature: A definition, a history, and several theories of fan fiction. In K. Hellekson & K. Busse (Eds.), *Fan fiction and fan communities in the age of the internet: New essays* (pp. 61-78). Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Deyo, N. (2016, September 30). Why *Overwatch* fans are obsessed with 'shipping' its female characters. [Web log post, *Kotaku*]. Retrieved from https://kotaku.com/why-overwatch-fans-are-obsessed-with-shipping-its-femal-1787244865
- Dockter, J., Haug, D., & Lewis, C. (2010). Redefining rigor: Critical engagement, digital media, and the new English/language arts. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 53(5), 418-420. doi:10.1598/JAAL.53.5.7
- Downes, J. M., & Bishop, P. (2012). Educators engage digital natives and learn from their experiences with technology. *Middle School Journal*, 43(5), 6-15. doi:10.1080/00940771.2012.11461824
- Downs, D. (2002). Representing gun owners: Frame identification as social responsibility in news media discourse. *Written Communication*, 19(1), 44-75. doi:10.1177/074108830201900103

- Dozier, B. (2013, September 20). *Textual Poaching* (Blog post). Retrieved from https://barbradozier.wordpress.com/2013/09/30/textual-poaching/
- Dressman, M., McCarthey, S., & Prior, P. (2009). Editors' introduction: Adolescents' literacy and the promises of digital technology. *Research in the Teaching of English*, *43*(4), 345-347. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215353918
- Driscoll, C. (2006). One true pairing: The romance of pornography and the pornography of romance. In K. Hellekson & K. Busse (Eds.), *Fan fiction and fan communities* in the age of the internet: New essays (pp. 79-96). Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Duggan, J. (2017). Revising hegemonic masculinity: Homosexuality, masculinity, and youth-authored *Harry Potter* fanfiction. *Bookbird, A Journal of International Literature* 55(2), 38-45. *Project MUSE*, doi:10.1353/bkb.2017.0022
- Duncan, B., & Arcus, C. (2009). Skills for surviving the 21st century. *Education Forum*, 35(1), 20, 22-23. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/204982279
- Ekens, G. (2017, July 28). The real anime inspirations behind the creations of *Re:CREATORS*. [Web log post, *AnimeNewsNetwork*]. Retrieved from http://www.animenewsnetwork.com/feature/2017-07-28/the-real-anime-inspirations-behind-the-creations-of-re-creators/.119444
- Elias, M. R., Rogers, R., Saul, E. W., Sipe, L. R., Wilson, J. L., & Wohlwend, K. E. (2010). Children's reading today and in the future: Igniting their passions and engaging their interests. *Language Arts*, 87(3), 220-221, 224. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196849475

- Ellis, B. (2015). What bronies see when they brohoof: Queering animation on the dark and evil internet. *Journal of American Folklore*, *128*(509), 298-314, 369-370. doi:10.5406/jamerfolk.128.509.0298
- Eng, L. (2012). Strategies of Engagement: Discovery, defining, and describing *otaku* culture in the United States. In M. Ito, D. Okabe, I. Tsuji (Eds.), *Fandom unbound:* Otaku *culture in a connected world* (pp. 85-106). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Entman, R. M. (1993). Framing: Toward clarification of a fractured paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 43(4), 51-58. doi.10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01304.x
- Entman, R. M. (2004). *Projections of power: Framing news, public opinion, and U.S.* foreign policy. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Entman, R. M. (2007). Framing bias: media in the distribution of power. *Journal of Communication*, *57*(1), 163-173. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00336.x
- Entman, R. M., Matthes, J., & Pellicano, L. (2009). Nature, sources, and effects of news framing. In K. Wahl-Jorgenson & T. Hanitzsch (Eds.), *Handbook of journalism studies* (pp. 175-190). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Epstein, E. J. (1973). News from nowhere. New York, NY: Random House.
- Fairclough, N. (1995). *Critical discourse analysis: The critical study of language*. New York, NY: Longman.
- Fairclough, N., & Wodak, R. (1997). Critical discourse analysis. In T. A. van Dijk (Ed.),

 Discourse as social interaction (pp. 258-284). London, UK: SAGE.

- Fan History Wiki: The Fandom History Resource. (2010, November 10). *SurveyFail*.

 Retrieved from
 - https://web.archive.org/web/20121213001525/http://www.fanhistory.com/wiki/SurveyFail
- Fanlore. (2017a, July 30). SurveyFail. Retrieved from https://fanlore.org/wiki/SurveyFail
- Fanlore. (2017b, September 13). Songfic. Retrieved from https://fanlore.org/wiki/Songfic
- Faraci, D. (2016, May 30). Fandom is broken. [Web log post, *Birth. Movies. Death*]. Retrieved from http://birthmoviesdeath.com/2016/05/30/fandom-is-broken
- Felschow, L. (2010). "Hey, check it out, there's actually fans": (Dis)empowerment and (mis)representation of cult fandom in *Supernatural. Transformative Works and Cultures*, 4. doi:10.3983/twc.2010.0134
- Ferree, M. M., Gamson, W. A., Gerhards, J., & Rucht, D. (2002). Shaping abortion discourse: Democracy and the public sphere in Germany and the United States.

 Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Fishman, M. (1980). *Manufacturing the news*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Fiske, J. (1992). The cultural economy of fandom. In L. A. Lewis (Ed.), *The Adoring audience: Fan culture and popular media* (pp. 30-49). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Fleischer, C., & Pavlock, K. C. (2012). Inviting parents in: Expanding our community base to support writing. *English Journal*, *101*(4), 29-36. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/935884112

- Fowler, R. (1991). Language in the news: Discourse and ideology in the press. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Fox, E. (2005, May 3). Tracking U.S. trends. *Education Week*, 24(35), 40-42. Retrieved from https://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2005/05/05/35tracking.h24.html
- Friedman, E. (2017). On Defining Yuri. In J. L. Russo, & E. Ng (Eds.), Queer Female Fandom, *Transformative Works and Cultures*, 24. doi:10.3983/twc.2017.831
- Fullan, M. (2001). *The new meaning of educational change* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Gamson, W. A. (1992). *Talking politics*. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.
- Gamson, W. A., & Lasch, K. E. (1983). The political culture of social welfare policy. In S. E. Spiro & E. Yuchtman-Yaar (Eds.), *Evaluating the welfare state. Social and political perspectives* (pp. 397–415). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Gamson, W. A., & Modigliani, A. (1987). The changing culture of affirmative action. In R. G. Braungart & M. M. Braungart (Eds.), *Research in Political Sociology*, Vol. 3 (pp. 133-177). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Gamson, W. A., & Modigliani, A. (1989). Media discourse and public opinion on nuclear power: A constructionist approach. *American Journal of Sociology*, 95(1), 1–37.

 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2780405
- Garcia, A. (2016). Making the case for youth and practitioner reading, producing, and teaching fanfiction. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 60(3), 353-357. doi:10.1002/jaal.589

- Gatti, L. (2011). Seriously popular: Rethinking 19th-century American literature through the teaching of popular fiction. *English Journal*, *100*(5), 47-53. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/864563809
- Geater, C. (2015, December 7). On shipping: What's Disney's, what's yours, and what's mine. [Web log post, *Women Write about Comics*]. Retrieved from http://womenwriteaboutcomics.com/2015/12/07/52542/
- Gee, J. P. (1999). An introduction to discourse analysis: Theory and method. London, UK: Routledge.
- Gee, J. P. (2004). Situated language and learning: A critique of traditional schooling.

 New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gee, J. P. (2005). Why video games are good for your soul: Pleasure and learning.

 Melbourne, Australia: Common Ground.
- Gee, J. P., & Hayes, E. (2010). Public pedagogy through video games: Design, resources & affinity spaces. In J. A. Sandlin, B. D. Schultz, & J. Burdick (Eds.), *Handbook of public pedagogy: Education and learning beyond schooling* (pp. 185-193).

 New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gibbons, D. (2010). Tracing the paths of moving artifacts in youth media production.

 *English Teaching: Practice and Critique, 9(1), 8-21. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/926190817
- Gilster, P. (1997). Digital literacy. New York, NY: Wiley.

- Giroux, H. A. (2005). Cultural studies in dark times: Public pedagogy and the challenge of neoliberalism. *Fast Capitalism*, *1*(2). Retrieved from http://www.henryagiroux.com/online_articles/DarkTimes.htm
- Gitlin, T. (1980). The whole world is watching: Mass media in the making and unmaking of the New Left. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Goffman, E. (1974). Frame analysis: An essay on the organization of experience. New York, NY: Harper and Row.
- Goffman, E. (1981). A reply to Denzin and Keller. *Contemporary Sociology, 10*(1): 60–68. doi:10.2307/2067804
- Golding, J. (2011). Living history: Cat Royal and her readers. *Language Arts*, 88(4), 304-309. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/854729360
- Gordon, C. (2015). Framing and Positioning. In D. Tannen, H. E. Hamilton, & D. Schiffrin (Eds.), *The handbook of discourse analysis*, 1 (2nd ed., pp. 324-345). Chichester, UK: Wiley Blackwell.
- Gorry, J. (2016, May 19). Widowtracer: The queer ship breaking all the rules. [Web log post, *Femhype*]. Retrieved from https://femhype.com/2016/05/19/widowtracer-the-queer-ship-breaking-all-the-rules/
- Gottfried, J., & Shearer, E. (2017, September 7). Americans' online news use is closing in on TV news use. *Facttank: News in the Numbers*. Retrieved from http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/09/07/americans-online-news-use-vs-tv-news-use/

- Grady, C. (2016, June 2). Why we're terrified of fandom. [Web log post, *Vox*]. Retrieved from https://www.vox.com/2016/6/2/11531406/why-were-terrified-fanfiction-teen-girls
- Gramsci, A. (1971). *Prison notebooks of Antonio Gramsci* (Q. Hoare & G. N. Smith, Eds. & Trans.). London, UK: Lawrence & Wishart.
- Gray, J. (2005). Television teaching: Parody, The *Simpsons*, and media literacy education. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 22(3), 223-238. doi:10.1080/07393180500201652
- Greenhow, C., Robelia, B., & Hughes, J. E. (2009). Learning, teaching, and scholarship in a digital age. *Educational Researcher*, *38*(4), 246-359. doi.10.3102/0013189X09336671
- Gretter, S., & Yadav, A. (2018). What do preservice teachers think about teaching media literacy? An exploratory study using the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, 10(1), 104-123. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uri.edu/jmle/vol10/iss1/6/
- Grimes, S. M. and Shade, L. R. (2005). Neopian economics of play: Children's cyberpets and online communities as immersive advertising in NeoPets.com. *International Journal of Media and Cultural Politics*, *1*(2), 181–198. doi:10.1386/macp.1.2.181/1
- Grossberg, L. (1992). Is there a fan in the house?: The affective sensibility of fandom. In L. A. Lewis (Ed.), *The adoring audience: Fan culture and popular media* (pp. 50-65). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Gutiérrez, P. (2011). The right to be a fan. *Language Arts*, 88(3), 226-231. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/821544197
- Gutiérrez, P. (2013, May 3). 433 words on why fandom doesn't belong in schools.

 *Connect the Pop [School Library Journal blog]. Retrieved from http://blogs.slj.com/connect-the-pop/2013/05/english/433-words-on-why-fandom-doesnt-belong-in-schools/
- Gutiérrez Martín, A., & Hottmann, A. (2006). *Media education across the curriculum* (pp. 1-40). Kulturring in Berlin e.V (www.mediaEducation.net). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/306290846_Media_Education_across_t he_curriculum
- Guzzetti, B., & Gamboa, M. (2005). Online journaling: The informal writings of two adolescent girls. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 40(2), 168-206. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215356720
- Hadas, L. 2009. The web planet: How the changing internet divided Doctor Who fan fiction writers. *Transformative Works and Cultures*, *3*. doi:10.3983/twc.2009.0129
- Hagood, M. C. (2010). An ecological approach to classroom literacy instruction: Lessons learned from *No Impact Man. Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*(4), 236-242. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.4.1
- Hale, L. M. (2005). History of fan fiction. *The Fanfic Symposium*. Retrieved from https://web.archive.org/web/20071020041318/http://www.trickster.org:80/symposium/symp173.htm

- Hall, K. W. (2008). Reading in middle school: Bumps in the literacy crossroads. *Voices* from the Middle, 16(2), 72-74. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/213930280
- Hall, S. (1977). Culture, the media and the "ideological effect." In J. Curran, M.Gurevitch & J. Woollacott (Eds.), *Mass communication and society* (pp. 315-348). London, UK: Edward Arnold.
- Hall, S., & Jefferson, T. (2006). Once More around Resistance through Rituals. In S. Hall
 & T. Jefferson (Eds.), Resistance through Rituals: Youth Subcultures in Post-War
 Britain (2nd ed.) (pp. viii-xxxiii). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hamming, J. (2001). Whatever turns you on: Becoming-lesbian and the production of desire in the Xenaverse. *Genders*, *34*. Retrieved from https://www.colorado.edu/gendersarchive1998-2013/2001/10/01/whatever-turns-you-becoming-lesbian-and-production-desire-xenaverse
- Harris, F. J. (2009). Ethics from web 1.0 to web 2.0: Standing outside the box. *Knowledge Quest*, 37(3), 56-61. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/194730797
- Hassenger, J. (2016, May 25). *Ghostbusters, Frozen*, and the strange entitlement of fan culture. [Web log post, *AV/FILM*]. Retrieved from https://film.avclub.com/ghostbusters-frozen-and-the-strange-entitlement-of-fa-1798247870
- Hebdige, D. (1979). Subculture: The meaning of style. London, UK: Routledge.

- Hebdige, D. (2006). The meaning of Mod. In S. Hall & T. Jefferson (Eds.), *Resistance through rituals: Youth subcultures in post-war Britain* (2nd ed.) (pp. 69-77). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hébert, T. P., & Pagnani, A. R. (2010). Engaging gifted boys in new literacies. *Gifted Child Today*, 33(3), 36-45. doi.10.1177/107621751003300309
- Hellekson, K. (2015). Making use of: The gift, commerce, and fans. *Cinema Journal*, 54(3), 125-131, 155. *Project MUSE*, doi:10.1353/cj.2015.0017
- Hellekson, K., & Busse, K. (2006). Fan fiction and fan communities in the age of the internet: New essays. Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Herman, E. S., & Chomsky, N. (1988). *Manufacturing consent: The political economy of the mass media*. New York, NY: Pantheon.
- Hetcher, S. A. (2009). Using social norms to regulate fan fiction and remix culture.

 *University of Pennsylvania Law Review, 157(6), 1869-1935. Retrieved from https://scholarship.law.upenn.edu/penn_law_review/vol157/iss6/8
- Hidi, S., & McLaren, J. (1991). Motivational factors and writing: The role of topic interestingness. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 6(2), 187–197.
 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23423405
- Hills, M. (2002). Fan cultures. London, UK: Routledge.
- Hobbs, R. (1998). The seven great debates in the media literacy movement. *Journal of Communication*, 48(1), 16-32. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.1998.tb02734.x

- Honan, E. (2009). Fighting the rip: Using digital texts in classrooms. *English Teaching:**Practice and Critique, 8(3), 21-35. Retrieved from

 http://education.waikato.ac.nz/research/files/etpc/files/2009v8n3art2.pdf
- Hughes-Hassell, S., & Rodge, P. (2007). The leisure reading habits of urban adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, 51(1), 22-33. doi:10.1598/JAAL.51.1.3
- Ivey, G. (1999). A multicase study in the middle school: Complexities among young adolescent readers. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *34*, 172-192. doi:10.1598/RRQ.34.2.3
- Jenkins, H. (1988). *Star Trek* rerun, reread, rewritten: Fan writing as textual poaching. *Critical Studies in Mass Communication*, 5(2), 85-107. doi:10.1080/15295038809366691
- Jenkins, H. (1992). *Textual poachers: Television fans and participatory culture*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Jenkins, H. (2006). *Convergence culture: Where old and new media collide*. New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Jenkins, H., Clinton, K., Purushotma, R., Robison, A. J., & Weigel, M. (2006).

 Confronting the challengers of participatory culture: Media education for the 21st century. Chicago, IL: The MacArthur Foundation.
- Jenkins, H., Ford, S., & Green, J. (2013). Spreadable media: Creating value and meaning in a networked culture (postmillennial pop). New York, NY: New York
 University Press.
- Jensen, J. (1992). Fandom as pathology: The consequences of characterization. In L. A.

- Lewis (Ed.), *The adoring audience: Fan culture and popular media* (pp. 9–29). London, UK: Routledge.
- Kalantzis, M., & Cope, W. (2012). *Literacies*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Karpovich, A. I. (2006). The audience as editor: The role of beta readers in online fan fiction communities. In K. Hellekson, & K. Busse (Eds.), *Fan fiction and fan communities in the age of the internet: New essays* (pp. 171-188). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland.
- Kell, T. (2009). Using fan fiction to teach critical reading and writing skills. *Teacher Librarian*, 37(1), 32-35. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/224885088
- Kelley, B. (2016). Chocolate frogs for my betas!: Practicing literacy at one online fanfiction website. *Computers and Composition*, 40, 48-59. doi:10.1016/j.compcom.2016.03.001
- Kent, N., & Facer, K. (2004). Different worlds? A comparison of young people's home and school ICT use. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 20(6), 440-455. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2729.2004.00102.x
- Kinder, M. (Ed.). (1999). Kids' media culture. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Kinzer, C. K. (2010). Considering literacy and policy in the context of digital environments. *Language Arts*, 88(1), 51-61. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/748977327

- Knobel, M., & Lankshear, C. (2006). Discussing new literacies. *Language Arts*, 84(1), 78-86. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196885900
- Koenig, T. (2004, August 14). Reframing frame analysis: Systematizing the empirical identification of frames using qualitative data analysis software. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Sociological Association, Hilton San Francisco & Renaissance Parc 55 Hotel, San Francisco, CA, Online PDF 2009-05-26. Retrieved from http://www.allacademic.com/meta/p110319_index.html
- Koltay, T. (2011). The media and the literacies: Media literacy, information literacy, digital literacy. *Media, Culture & Society*, *33*(2), 211–221. doi:10.1177/0163443710393382
- Kope, M. (Ed.). (2006). Understanding e-literacy. In A. Martin & D. Madigan (Eds.), Digital literacies for learning (pp. 68–79). London, UK: Facet.
- Kosicki, G. M. (2006). Book review: Maxwell McComb's Setting the agenda: The mass media and public opinion. Public Opinion Quarterly, 70(1), 124–127. doi:10.1093/poq/nfj003
- Kreidler, L. S. (1969). Time enough. *Spockanalia*, *4*, 14 pp. Garlic Press. Retrieved from https://fanlore.org/wiki/Time_Enough_(Star_Trek:_TOS_story_by_Lelamarie_S.__Kreidler)
- Kress, G. (1997). *Before writing: Rethinking the paths to literacy*. London, UK: Routledge.

- Kress, G., & Van Leeuwen, T. (1998). Front pages: (The critical) analysis of newspaper layout. In A. Bell & P. Garrett (Eds.), *Approaches to media discourse* (pp. 186-219). Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- Lackner, E., Lucas, B. L., & Reid, R. A. (2006). Cunning linguists: The bisexual erotics of Words/Silence/Flesh. In K. Hellekson & K. Busse (Eds.), *Fan fiction and fan communities in the age of the internet, New essays* (pp. 189-206). Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Lam, W. S. E. (2012). What immigrant students can teach us about new media literacy. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 94(4), 62-65. doi:10.1177/003172171209400416
- Lamb, P. F., & Veith, D. (1986). Romantic myth, transcendence, and Star Trek zines. InD. Palumbo (Ed.), *Erotic universe: Sexuality and fantastic literature* (pp. 236-55).Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Lammers, J. C. (2016). "The Hangout was serious business": Leveraging participation in an online space to design *Sims* fanfiction. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 50(3), 309-332. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1802/30634
- Lammers, J. C., Curwood, J. S., & Magnifico, A. M. (2012). Toward an affinity space methodology: Considerations for literacy research. *English Teaching: Practice and Critique*, 11(2), 44-58. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1114859304
- Lammers, J. C., & Marsh, V. L. (2015). Going public: An adolescent's networked writing on fanfiction.net. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *59*(3), 277-285. doi:10.1002/jaal.416

- Lammers, J. C., & Palumbo, N. P. (2017). Barriers to Fanfiction Access: Results from a Usability Inspection of Fanfiction.net. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, 9(2), 76-90. doi:10.23860/JMLE-2019-09-02-06
- Land, C. (2010). "I do not own *Gossip Girl*": Examining the relationship between teens, fan fiction, and *Gossip Girl. Language and Literacy*, 12(1), 38-45. doi:10.20360/G2RP4Q
- Lanham, R. A. (1995). Digital literacy. *Scientific American*, 273(3), 160-161. Retrieved from http://www2.idehist.uu.se/distans/ilmh/Ren/lanham-digital-lit.htm
- Lankshear, C., & Knobel, M. (2008). Introduction. In C. Lankshear & M. Knobel, *Digital literacies: Concepts, policies and practice* (pp 1-16). New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Lavery, D., Hague, A., & Cartwright, M. (Eds.). (1996). *Deny all knowledge: Reading the X-Files*. Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press.
- Leavitt, A. & Horbinski, A. (2012). Even a monkey can understand fan activism: Political speech, artistic expression, and a public for the Japanese *dōjin* community.

 *Transformative Works and Cultures, 10. doi:10.3983/twc.2012.0321
- Leland, C., Ociepka, A., & Kuonen, K. (2012). Finding our way: Eighth graders explore social networking sites. *Voices from the Middle, 19*(4), 28-33. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1011487044
- Letcher, M. (Ed.). (2010). Autism in young adult literature. *English Journal*, 100(2), 113-116. doi:10.2307/25790046
- Lewis, C., & Fabos, B. (2005). Instant messaging, literacies, and social identities.

 *Reading Research Quarterly, 40(4), 470-501. doi:10.1598/RRQ.40.4.5

- Lewis, L. A. (1987). Consumer girl culture: how music video appeals to girls. In M. E. Brown (Ed.), *Television and women's culture: The politics of the popular* (1990 ed., pp. 89-101). London, UK: SAGE. Retrieved from http://mus15teenpop.weebly.com/uploads/1/6/7/8/1678483/consumer_girl_culture .pdf
- Lewis, L. A. (Ed.). (1992). *The adoring audience: Fan culture and popular media*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Lewis-Beck, M. S., Bryman, A., & Futing Liao, T. (Eds.). (2004). *The SAGE*encyclopedia of social science research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Lichtenberg, J., Marshak, S., & Winston, J. (1975). Do-it-yourself *Star Trek* -- The fan fiction. In J. Lichtenberg, S. Marshak, & T. Futing Liao, *Star Trek lives!:*Personal notes and anecdotes (pp. 221-74). New York, NY: Corgi Books.
- Livingstone, S. & Bovill, M. (1999). *Young People, New Media*. London, UK: London School of Economics and Political Science.
- Lotherington, H., & Jenson, J. (2011). Teaching multimodal and digital literacy in L2 settings: New literacies, new basics, new pedagogies. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 31, 226-246. doi:10.1017/S0267190511000110
- Lothian, A. (2011). An archive of one's own: Subcultural creativity and the politics of conservation. *Transformative Works and Cultures*, 6. doi:10.3983/twc.2011.0267
- Loving, C. C., Schroeder, C., Kang, R., Shimek, C., & Herbert, B. (2007). Blogs:

 Enhancing links in a professional learning community of science and mathematics teachers. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 7(3), 178-

- 198. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.montclair.edu/docview/1773220551
- Luke, C. (2000). Cyber-schooling and Technological Change: multiliteracies for new times. In B. Cope & M. Kalantzis (Eds.), *Multiliteracies: literacy learning and the design of social futures*. London, UK: Routledge.
- Lulu. (2013, October 5). AO3 CensusMasterpost. [Web log post, *Archive of Our Own, Organization for Transformative Works*]. Retrieved from http://centrumlumina.tumblr.com/post/63208278796/ao3-census-masterpost
- MacDonald, G. (2004, December 6). Contrarian finding: Computers are a drag on learning. *Learning*. Retrieved from http://www.csmonitor.com/2004/1206/p11s01-legn.html
- Mackey, M. (2003a). At play on the borders of the diegetic: Story boundaries and narrative interpretation. *Journal of Literacy Research*, *35*(1), 591-632. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/231924312
- Mackey, M. (2003b). Television and the teenage literate: Discourses of *Felicity*. *College English*, 65(4), 389-409. doi:10.2307/3594241
- Mackey, M., & McClay, J. K. (2008). Pirates and poachers: Fan fiction and the conventions of reading and writing. *English in Education*, 42(2), 131-147. doi:10.1111/j.1754-8845.2008.00011.x
- MacMillan, R. B., Liu, X., & Timmons, V. (1997). Teachers, computers, and the internet:

 The first stage of a community-initiated project for the integration of technology

- into the curriculum. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *43*(4), 222-234.

 Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ556072
- Markless, S., & Streatfield, D. (2007). Three decades of information literacy: Redefining the parameters. In S. Andretta (Ed.), *Change and challenge: Information literacy for the 21st century* (pp. 15–36). Adelaide, Australia: Auslib Press.
- Marshall, J. (2009). Divided against ourselves: Standards, assessments, and adolescent literacy. In L. Christenbury, R. Bomer, & P. Smagorinsky, Eds., *Handbook of Adolescent Literacy Research* (pp. 113-125). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Martin, A. (2006). Literacies for the digital age. In A. Martin & D. Madigan (Eds.), Digital Literacies for Learning (pp. 3-25). London, UK: Facet.
- Martin, C. (2011). An information literacy perspective on learning and new media. *On the Horizon*, *19*(4), 268-275. doi:10.1108/10748121111179394
- Mathew, K. L., & Adams, D. C. (2009). I love your book, but I love my version more: Fanfiction in the English language arts classroom. *ALAN Review*, *36*(3), 35-41. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/212216972
- Matthes, J. (2009). What's in a frame? A content analysis of media framing studies in the world's leading communication journals, 1990-2005. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 86(2), 349-367. doi:10.1177/107769900908600206
- McCombs, M., Shaw, D. L., & Weaver, D. (1997). Communication and democracy:

 Exploring the intellectual frontiers in agenda-setting theory. Mahwah, NJ:

 Erlbaum.

- McCullick, B., Belcher, D., Hardin, B., & Hardin, M. (2003). Butches, bullies and buffoons: Images of physical education teachers in the movies. *Sport, Education and Society*, 8(1), 3-16. doi:10.1080/1357332032000050033
- McKinsey & Co., Inc. (1995). *Connecting K-12 schools to the information superhighway*.

 For the National Information Infrastructure Advisory Council (NIIAC).

 Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED393397
- McKool, S. S. (2007). Factors that influence the decision to read: An investigation of fifth grade students' out-of-school reading habits. *Reading Improvement*, 44(3), 111-131. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ790049
- McLelland, M. J. (2011). Thought policing or the protection of youth? Debate in Japan over the non-existent youth bill. *International Journal of Comic Art*, 13(1), 348-367. Retrieved from http://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1272&context=artspapers
- McNeill, T. (1996). *Roland Barthes: Mythologies* (1957). Retrieved from http://seacoast.sunderland.ac.uk/~os0tmc/myth.htm
- McRobbie, A. (1984). Dance and social fantasy. In A. McRobbie & M. Nava (Eds.), Gender and generation (pp. 130-161). London, UK: Macmillan.
- McRobbie, A. (1991). Feminism and youth culture: From "Jackie" to "Just Seventeen".

 Boston, MA: Unwin Hyman.
- Mehlinger, H. (1996). Achieving school reform through technology. *TECHNOS Quarterly*, *5*(1), 26-29. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ521819

- Menashe, C. L., & Siegel, M. (1998). The Power of a frame: An analysis of newspaper coverage of tobacco issues United States, 1985-1996. *Journal of Health Communication*, *3*(4), 307-325. Retrieved from http://www.personal.psu.edu/users/n/x/nxy906/COMPS/messageframing/media% 20framing% 20lit/menashesmokingframes.pdf
- Merchant, G. (2009). Web 2.0, new literacies, and the idea of learning through participation. *English Teaching: Practice and Critique*, 8(3), 107-122. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/926188995
- Miller, M. M., & Riechert, B. P. (2001). Frame mapping: A quantitative method for investigating issues in the public sphere. In M. D. West (Ed.), *Theory, method and practice in computer content analysis* (pp. 61-75). Westport, CT: Ablex.
- Mills, K. A. (2010). Shrek meets Vygotsky: Rethinking adolescents' multimodal literacy practices in schools. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*(1), 35-45. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.1.4
- Minkle, E. (2014, October 17). Why it doesn't matter what Benedict Cumberbatch thinks of Sherlock fan fiction. [Web log post, *New Statesman*]. Retrieved from https://www.newstatesman.com/culture/2014/10/why-it-doesn-t-matter-what-benedict-cumberbatch-thinks-sherlock-fan-fiction
- Minkel, E. (2016, January 8). *Star Wars*, queer representation and the mainstreaming of slash [Web log post, *New Statesman*]. Retrieved from https://www.newstatesman.com/culture/film/2016/01/star-wars-queer-representation-and-mainstreaming-slash

- Moje, E. (2000). *To Be Part of the Story*: The literacy practices of *Gangsta* adolescents. *Teachers College Record*, 102(3), 651-690. doi:10.1111/0161-4681.00071
- Moje, E. B. (2009). A call for new research on new and multi-literacies. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 43(4), 348-362. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215354028
- Moje, E. B., & Luke, A. (2009). Literacy and identity: Examining the metaphors in history and contemporary research. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(4), 415-437. doi:10.1598/rrq.44.4.7
- Murray, C. (2006, December 8). Ruling: Schools must archive eMail: New rules make eMail, instant messages subject to legal review. *eSchool News*. Retrieved from http://www.dell.com/downloads/global/solutions/public/articles/K12Spotlight_July07.pdf
- National Writing Project. (2014). *Annual Report*. Retrieved at https://www.nwp.org/ar14/
- New London Group. (1996). A pedagogy of multiliteracies: Designing social futures.

 Harvard Educational Review, 66(1), 60-92.

 doi:10.17763/haer.66.1.17370n67v22j160u
- Nix, C. A. G. (1998). The impact of e-mail use on fourth graders' writing skills (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Texas at Arlington, 1999). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 60/03-A, 726.
- Noble, D. D. (1996). Mad rushes into the future: The overselling of educational technology. *Educational Leadership*, 54(3),18-23. Retrieved

- from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov96/vol54/num03/Mad-Rushes-Into-the-Future@-The-Overselling-of-Educational-Technology.aspx
- Nolen, S. B. (2007). Young children's motivation to read and write: Development in social contexts. *Cognition and Instruction*, 25(2-3), 219-270. doi:10.1080/07370000701301174
- Noppe, N. (2011). Why we should talk about commodifying fan work. In Cyber Echoes (Ed.), *Textual Echoes*, special issue of *Transformative Works and Cultures*, 8. doi:10.3983/twc.2011.0369
- Ohio State University. (2014). *Institutional Review Board research protocol* (pp.1-2).

 Retrieved from

 http://orrp.osu.edu/files/2011/10/GuidelinesforWritingaResearchProtocol.pdf
- O'Malley, A. (2013, January 24). Writing sing, sing a songfic. [Web log post, *WordPress.com*]. Retrieved from https://annomalley.wordpress.com/2013/01/24/writing-sing-a-songfic/
- Owens, T. (2011). Social videogame creation: Lessons from RPG maker. *On the Horizon*, 19(1), 52-61. doi:10.1108/10748121111107708
- Pan, Z., & Kosicki, G. (1993). Framing analysis: An approach to news discourse.

 *Political Communication, 10, 55-75. doi:10.1080/10584609.1993.9962963
- Papert, S. (1993). The children's machine: Rethinking school in the age of the computer.

 New York, NY: Basic Books.

- Parrish, J. (2010). Back to the woods: Narrative revisions in New Moon fan fiction at twilighted.net. In M. A. Click, J. S. Aubrey, & E. Behm-Morawitz (Eds.), *Bitten at twilight: Youth culture, media, and the vampire franchise* (pp. 173-188). New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Pearson, R. (2010). Fandom in the digital era. *Popular Communication* 8(1): 84-95. doi:10.1080/15405700903502346
- Peele, T. (Ed.). (2007). Queer popular culture: Literature, media, film, and television.

 New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education. (2017). Define Unit of Analysis. *EvaluationToolkit*. Retrieved from http://toolkit.pellinstitute.org/evaluation-guide/analyze/define-unit-of-analysis/
- Penley, C. (1992). Feminism, psychoanalysis, and the study of popular culture. In L. Grossberg, C. Nelson, & P. A. Treichler (Eds.), *Cultural studies* (pp. 479-500). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Penley, C. (1997). NASA/Trek: Popular science and sex in America. New York, NY: Verso Books.
- Perkins, S. (1992). Approaching the '80s zine scene: A background survey & selected annotated bibliography. Plagiarist Press. Online at http://zinebook.com/resource/perkins.html
- Pitcher, S. M., Albright, L. K., DeLaney, C. J., Walker, N. T., & al. (Eds.). (2007).

 Assessing adolescents' motivation to read. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 50(5), 378-380, 387-388, 391-396. doi:10.1598/JAAL.50.5.5

- Pohl, F. (1974). The publishing of science fiction. In R. Bretner, *Science fiction today* and tomorrow: A discursive symposium (p. 23). New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Price, V., & Tewksbury, D. (1997). News values and public opinion: A theoretical account of media priming and framing. In F. J. Boster & G. Barnett (Eds.),

 Progress and communication sciences: Advances in persuasion (Vol. 13) (pp. 173-212). Greenwich, CT: Ablex.
- Pullen, C., & Cooper, M. (Eds.). (2010). *LGBT identity and online new media*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Rainie, L. (2006). Digital "natives" invade the workplace: Young people may be newcomers to the world of work, but it's their bosses who are immigrants into the digital world. Retrieved from http://pewresearch.org/pubs/70/digital-natives-invade-the-workplace
- Rainie, L. (2017, September 13). About 6 in 10 young adults in U.S. primarily use online streaming to watch TV. *Facttank: News in the Numbers*. Retrieved fromhttp://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/09/13/about-6-in-10-young-adults-in-u-s-primarily-use-online-streaming-to-watch-tv/
- Ravitch, D. (1993). When school comes to you. *The Economist*, 328, 45-46. Retrieved from https://www.highbeam.com/doc/1G1-14381387.html
- Reese, S. D. (2001). Prologue -- Framing public life: a bridging model for media research. In S. Reese, O. Gandy, & A. Grant (Eds.), *Framing public life:**Perspectives on media and our understanding of the social world (pp. 7-31).

 Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Rich, M. (2009, January 12). Fiction reading increases for adults. *The New York Times*, C1. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2009/01/12/books/12reading.html
- Richardson, J. E. (2007). *Analysing newspapers: An approach from critical discourse analysis*. Chippenham, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rideout, V. J., Foehr, U. G., & Roberts, D. F. (2005). *Generation M: Media in the lives of 8-18 year-olds*. Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation.
- Ro, J. M., Magiera, K., Gradel, K., & Simmons, R. (2013). Blog-based support for preservice teachers in an afterschool tutoring program. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, 42(1), 69-84. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ977708
- Roach, A. K., & Beck, J. J. (2012). Before coffee, Facebook: New literacy learning for 21st century teachers. *Language Arts*, 89(4), 244-255. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ977708
- Robinson, J. (2014, December 10). How a Nickelodeon Cartoon Became one of the most powerful, subversive shows of 2014. *Vanity Fair's HWD Newsletter*. Retrieved from https://www.vanityfair.com/hollywood/2014/12/korra-series-finale-recapgay-asami
- Romano, A. (2014, July 21). How to kill your slash fandom in 5 steps. [Web log post, Daily Dot]. Retrieved from https://www.dailydot.com/parsec/how-to-kill-your-fandom-sterek-queerbaiting/

- Romano, A. (2015, February 22). The strange lives of Andrew Blake. [Web log post, *The Kernel, The Daily Dot*]. Retrieved from http://kernelmag.dailydot.com/issue-sections/features-issue-sections/11883/the-strange-lives-of-andrew-blake/?tw=dd
- Romano, A. (2016, September 4). The *Harry Potter* universe still can't translate its gay subtext to text. It's a problem. [Web log post, *Vox*]. Retrieved from https://www.vox.com/2016/9/4/12534818/harry-potter-cursed-child-rowling-queerbaiting
- Roncero-Menendez, S. (2014, May 21). Sailor Neptune and Uranus come out of the fictional closet. *The Blog, Huff Post*. Retrieved from https://www.huffingtonpost.com/sara-ronceromenendez/kissing-cousins-vizwont-_b_5353859.html
- Roozen, K. (2009). "Fan fic-ing" English studies: A case study exploring the interplay of vernacular literacies and disciplinary engagement. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 44(2), 136-169. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ863960
- Rowan, L., Knobel, M., Bigum, C., & Lankshear, C. (2002). *Boys, literacies and schooling: The dangerous territories of gender-based literacy reform.*Buckingham, UK: Open University Press.
- Russ, J. (1985). Pornography by women, for women, with love. In J. Russ, *Magic mommas, trembling sisters, puritans and perverts: Feminist essays* (pp. 79-99).

 Trumansburg, NY: Crossing Press
- Ryan, M. L. (1991). *Possible worlds, artificial intelligence and narrative theory*.

 Bloomington: University of Indiana Press

- Salen, K. (2007). Gaming literacies: A game design study in action. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 16(3), 301-322. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ776068
- Schacter, J. (1999). The impact of education technology on student achievement: What the most current research has to say. Santa Monica, CA: Milken Family Foundation. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED430537
- Schechter, A., & Denmon, J. M. (2012). How do I earn buy-in from digital natives?

 *Voices from the Middle, 19(4), 22-27. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ976267
- Scheufele, D. A. (1999). Framing as a theory of media effects. *Journal of Communication*, 49(1), 103–122. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.1999.tb02784.x
- Scheufele, D. A., & Tewksbury, D. (2007). Framing, agenda setting, and priming: The evolution of three media effects models. *Journal of Communication*, *57*, 9-20. doi:10.1111/j.0021-9916.2007.00326.x
- Schudson, M. (1995). *The power of news*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Schudson, M. (2011). The sociology of news (2nd ed,). New York, NY: W. W. Norton.
- Schultz, K. (2002). Looking across space and time: Reconceptualizing literacy learning in and out of school. *Research in the Teaching of English*, *36*, 356-390. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ640812
- Schwarz, G. (2010). Graphic novels: New sites of possibility in the secondary curriculum. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, *12*(1), A53-A65, A179. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/855000479

- Scott, S. (2009). Repackaging fan culture: The regifting economy of ancillary content models. *Transformative Works and Cultures*, *3*. doi:10.3983/twc.2009.0150
- Scrase, R. (1998). An evaluation of multi-sensory speaking-computer bases system

 (Starcross-IDL) designed to teach the literacy skills of reading and spelling.

 British Journal of Educational Technology 29(3), 221-224. doi:10.1111/1467-8535.00065
- Scribner, S., & Cole, M. (1981). *The psychology of literacy*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Sekeres, D. C. (2009). The market child and branded fiction: A synergism of children's literature, consumer culture, and new literacies. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(4), 399-414. doi:10.1598/RRQ.44.4.6
- Selley, A. (1986). "I have been, and ever shall be, your friend.": *Star Trek, The Deerslayer* and the American Romance. *Journal of Popular Culture, 20*(1), 89-104. doi:10.1111/j.0022-3840.1986.2001_89.x
- Shamburg, C. (2012, November 23). When the lit hits the fan in teacher education.

 *Connect the Pop [School Library Journal guest blog]. Retrieved from http://blogs.slj.com/connect-thepop/2012/11/comics/guest-post-by-christopher-shamburg-when-the-lit-hits-thefan-in-teacher-education/
- Shapiro, J. J., & Hughes, S. K. (1996). Information literacy as a liberal art: Enlightenment proposals for a new curriculum. *Educom Review*, *31*(2), 31-35. Retrieved from https://teaching.uncc.edu/sites/teaching.uncc.edu/files/media/files/file/Instructiona lTechnologies/InformationLiteracy.pdf

- Sharratt, B. (1980). The politics of the popular? -- From melodrama to television. In D.Bradby, L. James & B. Sharratt (Eds.), *Performance and politics in popular drama* (pp. 275-296). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Shave, R. (2004). Slash fandom on the internet, or is the carnival over? *Refractory*, 6.

 Retrieved from
 - http://www.refractory.unimelb.edu.au/journalissues/vol6/RShave.html
- Shaw, C. & Nederhouser, D. (2005). Reel teachers: References for reflection for real teachers. *Action in Teacher Education*, 27(3), 85-94. doi:10.1080/01626620.2005.10463393
- Shifrin, D. (2006). Effect of media on children and adolescents: It's about time. *Archives* of *Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*, 160, 448-450.

 doi:10.1001/archpedi.160.4.448
- Silvergleid, R. (2003). "The truth we both know": Readerly desire and heteronarrative in The X-Files. *Studies in Popular Culture*, 25. Retrieved from http://pcasacas.org/SPC/spcissues/25.3/Silbergleid.htm
- Silverman, R. (2017, February 23). *Miss Kobayashi's Dragon Maid*, Episode 7. *Anime News Network*. Retrieved from https://www.animenewsnetwork.com/review/miss-kobayashi-dragon-maid/episode-7/.112597
- Smol, A. (2004). "Oh... oh... Frodo!" Readings of male intimacy in *The Lord of the Rings. Modern Fiction Studies*, 50, 948-979. doi:10.1353/mfs.2005.0010

- Snow, C., & Moje, E. (2010). Why is everyone talking about adolescent literacy? *Phi Delta Kappan*, *91*(6), 66-69. doi:10.1177/003172171009100616
- Snow, D. A., & Benford, R. D. (1988). Ideology, frame resonance and participant mobilization. *International Social Movement Research*, 1, 197-217. Retrieved from
 - $https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285098685_Ideology_Frame_Resonanc\\ e_and_Participant_Mobilization$
- Snow, D. A., Burke Rochford, E., Worden, S. K., & Benford, R. D. (1986). Frame alignment processes, micromobilization and movement participation. *American Sociological Review*, *51*(4), 464-481. doi:10.2307/2095581
- Sosnoski, J. J. (2015). *Reading and analyzing discourses*. Retrieved from http://www.sclcr.com/documents/ReadingAndAnalyzingDiscourses.pdf
- Stager, G. (2006, October 2). *Has educational computing jumped the shark?* Paper presented at the Australian Computers in Education Conference 2006, Cairns, Australia.
- Stein, L., Moderator. (2014). Spreadable Media: Creating Value and Meaning in a Networked Culture (roundtable). P. Booth, K. Busse, M. Click, S. Ford, H. Jenkins, X. Li, & S. Ross, Respondents. *Transformative Works and Cultures*, 17. doi:10.3983/twc.2014.0633
- Stein, L., & Busse, K. (2009). Limit play: Fan authorship between source text, intertext, and context. *Popular Communication*, 7(4), 192-207. doi:10.1080/15405700903177545

- Steinkuehler, C. (2010). Video games and digital literacies. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 54(1), 61-63. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.1.7
- Steinkuehler, C. A., Black, R. W., & Clinton, K. A. (2005). Researching literacy as tool, place, and way of being. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 40(1), 95-100. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/212137912
- Stevens, J. R. & Bell, C. E. (2012). Do fans own digital comic books? Examining the copyright and intellectual property attitudes of comic book fans. *International Journal of Communication*, 6, 751–772. Retrieved from http://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/1155/729
- Stolle, E. P. (2009). *The softwire: Betrayal on Orbis* 2. (Review of book by P. J. Haarsma). *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(5), 451. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/216922987
- Storey, J. (1993). *An introductory guide to cultural theory and popular culture*. London, UK: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Storey, J. (1996). *Cultural studies and the study of popular culture*. Athens: University of Georgia Press.
- Strauss, V. (2006, April 04). Blackboard blogging: Web journals become the new fly on the wall of teachers' lounges. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.montclair.edu/docview/410010166
- Street, B. (1984). *Literacy in theory and practice*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Strickland, D. S. (1998). Reading and the media. In G. I. Maeroff (Ed.), *Imaging education: The media and schools in America* (pp. 101-115). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Tancer, B. (2007, August 30). Life after Potter, *Bonanza* and *Gunsmoke*. *Time*. Retrieved from http://content.time.com/time/business/article/0,8599,1657764,00.html
- Tankard, J. W., Jr. (2001). The empirical approach to the study of media framing. In S.
 D. Reese, O. H. Gandy, & A. E. Grant (Eds.), Framing public life: Perspectives on media and our understanding of the social world (pp. 95-106). Mahwah, NJ:
 Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Tankard, J. W., Hendrickson, L., Silberman, J., Bliss, K., & Ghanem, S. (1991). *Media frames: Approaches to conceptualization and measurement*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communication, Boston, MA.
- Thein, A. H., & Beach, R. (2013). Critiquing and constructing canons in middle grade

 English language arts classrooms. *Voices from the Middle, 21*(1), 10-14.

 Retrieved from

 http://www.ncte.org/library/NCTEFiles/Resources/Journals/VM/0211sep2013/VM0211Critiquing.pdf
- Thomas, A. (2006). Fan fiction online: Engagement, critical response and affective play through writing. *Australian Journal of Language & Literacy* 29(3), 226-239.

 Retrieved from

- http://www.sfu.ca/~ogden/BCIT%20LIBS/LIBS%207025/M_Nilan/Fanfiction%2 0Lecture/FanFictionOnline_AngelaThomas.pdf
- Thomas, A. (2007). Blurring and breaking through the boundaries of narrative, literacy, and identity in adolescent fan fiction. In M. Knobel & C. Lankshear (Eds.), *New literacies sampler* (pp. 137-166). New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Thomas, E. E., & Sassi, K. (2011). An ethical dilemma: Talking about plagiarism and academic integrity in the digital age. *English Journal*, *100*(6), 47-53. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/875295417
- Thomas, S. (2002). Contesting education policy in the public sphere: Media debates over policies for the Queensland school curriculum. *Journal of Educational Policy*, 17(2), 187-198. doi:10.1080/02680930110116525
- Thomas, S. (2003). "The trouble with our schools": A media construction of public discourses of Queensland schools. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 24(1), 19-33. doi:10.1080/01596300303030
- Thompson, C. (2005, August 07). The Xbox auteurs. *The New York Times Magazine*, 21.

 Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2005/08/07/magazine/the-xbox-auteurs.html
- Thorne, S. L. (2009). 'Community', semiotic flows, and mediated contribution to activity. *Language Teaching*, 42(1), 81-94. doi:10.1017/S0261444808005429
- Thorne, S. L., & Black, R. W. (2007). Language and literary development in computer-mediated contexts and communities. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 27, 133-160. doi:10.1017/S0267190508070074

- Thorne, S. L., Sauro, S., & Smith, B. (2015). Technologies, identities, and expressive activity. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, *35*, 215-233. doi:10.1017/S0267190514000257
- Tierney, R. J. (2009). Shaping new literacies research: Extrapolations from a review of the *Handbook of research on new literacies*. (Review of book by J. Coiro, M. Knobel, C. Lankshear, & D. J. Leu, Eds.). *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(3), 322-339. doi:10.1598/RRQ.44.3.5
- Tosenberger, C. (2008b). "Oh my God, the fanfiction!" Dumbledore's outing and the online *Harry Potter* fandom. *Children's Literature Association Quarterly*, 33(2), 200-206. *Project MUSE*, doi:10.1353.chq.0.0015
- Townsend, J. S., & Ryan, P. A. (2012). Media narratives and possibilities for teachers' embodied concepts of self. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, *4*(2): 149-158. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ985685.pdf
- Tracey, D. H., & Young, J. (2007). Technology and early literacy: The impact of an integrated learning system on high risk kindergartners' achievement. *Reading Psychology* 28, 443-467. doi:10.1080/02702710701568488
- Triandafyllidou, A., & Fotiou, A. (1998). Sustainability and modernity in the European

 Union: A frame theory approach to policy-making. *Sociological Research Online*,

 3(1), 1-16. doi:10.5153/sro.99
- Trochim, W. M. K. (2006). *The research methods knowledge base* (3rd ed.). Cincinnati, OH: Atomic Dog.

- Tulloch, J., & Jenkins, H. (1995). *Science fiction audiences: Watching* Doctor Who *and* Star Trek. New York, NY: Routledge.
- TWC Editor. (2008). Interview with Henry Jenkins. *Transformative Works and Cultures*,

 1. Retrieved from

 http://journal.transformativeworks.org/index.php/twc/article/view/61/16
- U.S. Department of Education. (1996). *Getting America's students ready for the 21st*century Meeting the technology literacy challenge: A report to the nation on technology and education. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2000). *E-learning: Putting a world-class education at the fingertips of all children*. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2004). Toward a new golden age in American education:

 How the internet, the law and today's students are revolutionizing expectations:

 The national educational technology plan. Washington, DC: Author.
- Usenet. (2018, January 22). Retrieved from http://www.usenet.org/
- Van Amelsvoort, M. (2009). *New literacies: Everyday practices & classroom learning* (2nd edition). (Review of book by C. Lankshear & M. Knobel). *International Journal of Emerging Technologies and Society*, 7(2), 125-126. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/22322207
- Van Gorp, B. (2005). Where is the frame? Victims and intruders in the Belgian press coverage of the asylum issue. *European Journal of Communication*, 20(4), 484-507. doi:10.1177/0267323105058253

- Van Gorp, B. (2007). The constructionist approach to framing: Bringing culture back in. *Journal of Communication*, 57(1), 60-78. doi:10.1111/j.00219916.2007.00329.xyl
- Van Leeuwen, T. (2015). Multimodality. In D. Tannen, H. E. Hamilton, & D. Schiffrin (Eds.), *The handbook of discourse analysis*, 1 (2nd ed., pp. 447-465). Chichester, UK: Wiley Blackwell.
- Van Tuyl, J. (2016). "Somebody else's universe": Female künstler narratives in Alcott's Little Women and Rowell's Fangirl. Children's Literature Association Quarterly, 41(2), 199-215. Project MUSE, doi:10.1353/chq.2016.0027
- Vasquez, V., & Smith, K. (2003). What Pokemon can teach us about learning and literacy. *Language Arts*, 81(2), 118-125. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ678613
- Verba, J. M. (1996). *Boldly writing: A Trekker fan and zine history, 1967-1987* (2nd ed.). Minnetonka, MN: FTL.
- Wadsworth, D. (1998). Do media shape public perceptions of America's schools? In G. I.Maeroff (Ed.), *Imaging education: The media and schools in America* (pp. 59-68). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Waight, N., & Abd-El-Khalick, F. (2007). The impact of technology on the enactment of "inquiry" in a technology enthusiast's sixth grade science classroom. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 44(1), 154-182. doi:10.1002/tea.20158
- Wallack, L., Dorfman, L., Jernigan, D., & Themba, M. (1993). *Media advocacy and public health: Power for prevention*. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE.

- Ward, D. (2006). Revisioning information literacy for lifelong meaning. *Journal of Academic Librarianship* 32(4), 396-402. doi:10.1016/j.acalib.2006.03
- Warschauer, M., & Grimes, D. (2007). Audience, authorship, and artifact: The emergent semiotics of web 2.0. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 27, 1-23. doi:10.1017/S0267190508070013
- Weir, H. (1922). The story of the motion picture. *McClure's 54*(9), 81–85. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=TPksKEjg7f8C&pg=RA8-PA4&dq=McClure%27s+1922+vol+54+(9)
- Williams, B. T. (2008). "Tomorrow will not be like today": Literacy and identity in a world of multiliteracies. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 51(8), 682-686. doi:10.1598/JAAL.51.8.7
- Williams, R. (1961). The long revolution. London, UK: Chatto & Windus.
- Willis, I. (2006). Keeping promises to queer children: Making space (for Mary Sue) at Hogwarts. In K. Hellekson & K. Busse (Eds.), *Fan fiction and fan communities in the age of the internet: New essays* (pp. 153-170). Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Willis, P. (1977). Learning to labour: How working class kids get working class jobs.

 New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Willis, P. (1978). *Profane culture*. London, UK: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Wohlwend, K. E. (2010). A is for avatar: Young children in literacy 2.0 worlds and literacy 1.0 schools. *Language Arts*, 88(2), 144-152. doi:10.2307/41804242
- Woods, L. A., & Kroger, R. O. (2000). *Doing discourse analysis: Methods for studying action in talk and text.* Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

- Worthington, N. (2001). A division of labor: Dividing maternal authority from political activism in the Kenyan press. *Journal of Communication Inquiry* 25(2), 167-183. doi:10.1177/0196859901025002006
- Yannie, M. (2000). Technology is us: Do we have time to learn? A librarian's perspective. *TechTrends*, 44(4), 42-43. doi:10.1007/BF02818192
- Yi, Y. (2008). Relay writing in an adolescent online community. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 51(8), 670-680. doi:10.1598/JAAL.51.8.6
- Yoon, H., & Wilder, P. (2010). Announcing the Alan C. Purves award winner [Vol. 43].

 *Research in the Teaching of English, 44(3), 338-339. Retrieved from
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/215347245
- Yost, K. A. (1994, June/July). Academia explores the final frontier: A look at fandom theses and dissertations. *Strange New Worlds, 14*. Retrieved from http://web.archive.org/web/20030721152631/strangenewworlds.com/issues/fandom-14.html
- Zacher, J. C. (2007). Professional book reviews: Professional resources for expanding spaces of learning. *Language Arts*, 85(1), 78-83. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196874657
- Zhao, Y., & Lei, J. (2009). New technology. In G. Sykes, B. Schneider, & D. Plank (Eds.), *Handbook of education policy research* (pp. 671-693). New York, NY: Routledge.

Zhou, Y., & Moy, P. (2007). Parsing framing processes: The interplay between online public opinion and media coverage. *Journal of Communication* 57, 79–98. doi:10.1111/j.1460-466.2006.00330.x

APPENDIX I: JOURNAL ARTICLES COMPRISING DATA SET

- Alvermann, D. E. (2008). Why bother theorizing adolescents' online literacies for classroom practice and research? *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(1), 8-19. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.1.2
- Alvermann, D. E., Hutchins, R. J., & McDevitt, R. (2012a). Adolescents' engagement with web 2.0 and social media: Research, theory, and practice. *Research in the Schools*, 19(1), 33-44. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1284528481
- Alvermann, D. E., Marshall, J. D., Mclean, C. A., Huddleston, A. P., Joaquin, J., &
 Bishop, J. (2012b). Adolescents' web-based literacies, identity construction, and skill development. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 51(3), 179-195.
 doi:10.1080/19388071.2010.523135
- Andersen, N. (2010). Media literacy's gifts to literature study. *English Teaching: Practice*and Critique, 9(1), 103-113. Retrieved from

 http://search.proquest.com/docview/926190819
- Beach, R. (2012). Uses of digital tools and literacies in the English language arts classroom. *Research in the Schools*, 19(1), 45-59. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/128452908
- Benson, S. (2008). A restart of what language arts is: Bringing multimodal assignments into secondary language arts. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 19(4), 634-674, 750. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/222747197

- Berg, M. A. (2011). On the cusp of cyberspace: Adolescents' online text use in conversation. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*(7), 485-493. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.7.2
- Berg, M. A. (2013). Tolerance to alliance: Deconstructing dichotomies to advocate for all students. *Voices from the Middle*, 20(3), 32-36. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1324444963
- Black, R. W. (2005). Access and affiliation: The literacy and composition practices of English-language learners in an online fanfiction community. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 49(2), 118-128. doi:10.1598/JAAL.49.2.4
- Black, R. W. (2009a). English-language learners, fan communities, and 21st-century skills. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *52*(8), 688-697. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.8.4
- Black, R. W. (2009c). Online fan fiction, global identities, and imagination. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 43(4), 397-425. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215354123
- Bomer, R., & Maloch, B. (2012). Diverse local literacies and standardizing policies.

 *Language Arts, 90(1), 44-52. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1327227273
- Brown, R. (2009). What does TV viewing have to do with internet reading?: Readers, television "texts," and intertextual links to companion websites. *Reading Horizons*, 49(3), 221-238. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/236476990

- Chandler-Olcott, K. & Mahar, D. (2003a). Adolescents' *anime*-inspired "fanfictions": An exploration of multiliteracies. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 46(7), 556-566. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/216913696
- Chandler-Olcott, K. & Mahar, D. (2003b). "Tech-savviness" meets multiliteracies:

 Exploring adolescent girls' technology-mediated literacy practices. *Reading*Research Quarterly, 38(3), 356-385. doi:10.1598/RRQ.38.3.3
- Cherland, M. (2008). Harry's girls: Harry Potter and the discourse of gender. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(4), 273-282. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.4.1
- Christianakis, M. (2011). Children's text development: Drawing, pictures, and writing.

 *Research in the Teaching of English, 46(1), 22-54. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/884708593
- Clougherty, R. J., Jr. (2006). The oral epic and the web site: A story of convergence. *On the Horizon*, *14*(4), 152-156. doi:10.1108/10748120610708041
- Curry, K. (2010). Warcraft and civic education: MMORPGs as participatory cultures and how teachers can use them to improve civic education. *The Social Studies*, 101(6), 250-253. doi:10.1080/00377990903493879
- Dockter, J., Haug, D., & Lewis, C. (2010). Redefining rigor: Critical engagement, digital media, and the new English/language arts. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 53(5), 418-420. doi:10.1598/JAAL.53.5.7
- Doering, A., Beach, R., & O'Brien, D. (2007). Infusing multimodal tools and digital literacies into an English education program. *English Education*, 40(1), 41-60. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/214370664

- Downes, J. M., & Bishop, P. (2012). Educators engage digital natives and learn from their experiences with technology. *Middle School Journal*, 43(5), 6-15. doi:10.1080/00940771.2012.11461824
- Dressman, M., McCarthey, S., & Prior, P. (2008). Editors' introduction: On research in the teaching of English. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 43(1), 5-11.

 Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215355854
- Dressman, M., McCarthey, S., & Prior, P. (2009). Editors' introduction: Adolescents' literacy and the promises of digital technology. *Research in the Teaching of English*, *43*(4), 345-347. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215353918
- Elias, M. R., Rogers, R., Saul, E. W., Sipe, L. R., Wilson, J. L., & Wohlwend, K. E. (2010). Children's reading today and in the future: Igniting their passions and engaging their interests. *Language Arts*, 87(3), 220-221, 224. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196849475
- Felix, K. (2008). News watch. *MultiMedia & internet@schools*, 15(4), 25. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/229792011
- Fleischer, C., & Pavlock, K. C. (2012). Inviting parents in: Expanding our community base to support writing. *English Journal*, *101*(4), 29-36. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/935884112
- Gallagher-Hayashi, D. (2010). Get graphic! Using storyboards to write and draw picture books, graphic novels, or comic strips. (Review of book by M. Thurman & E.

- Hearn). *Resource Links*, *16*, 41. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/763661043
- Gatti, L. (2011). Seriously popular: Rethinking 19th-century American literature through the teaching of popular fiction. *English Journal*, *100*(5), 47-53. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/864563809
- Gerber, H. R., & Price, D. P. (2011). Twenty-first-century adolescents, writing, and new media: Meeting the challenge with game controllers and laptops. *English Journal*, 101(2), 66-73. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/902573162
- Gibbons, D. (2010). Tracing the paths of moving artifacts in youth media production.

 *English Teaching: Practice and Critique, 9(1), 8-21. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/926190817
- Golding, J. (2011). Living history: Cat Royal and her readers. *Language Arts*, 88(4), 304-309. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/854729360
- Greenhow, C., Robelia, B., & Hughes, J. E. (2009). Learning, teaching, and scholarship in a digital age. *Educational Researcher*, *38*(4), 246-359. doi:10.3102/0013189X09336671
- Gutiérrez, P. (2011). The right to be a fan. *Language Arts*, 88(3), 226-231. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/821544197
- Guzzetti, B., & Gamboa, M. (2005). Online journaling: The informal writings of two adolescent girls. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 40(2), 168-206. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215356720

- Hagood, M. C. (2010). An ecological approach to classroom literacy instruction: Lessons learned from *No Impact Man. Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*(4), 236-242. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.4.1
- Hall, K. W. (2008). Reading in middle school: Bumps in the literacy crossroads. *Voices from the Middle*, 16(2), 72-74. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/213930280
- Hayes, S. (Ed.). (2010). Technology toolkit: Making the shift: YA lit 2.0. *Voices from the Middle, 17*(4), 50-52. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.montclair.edu/docview/213930070
- Hébert, T. P., & Pagnani, A. R. (2010). Engaging gifted boys in new literacies. *Gifted Child Today*, 33(3), 36-45. doi.10.1177/107621751003300309
- Kajder, S. (2012). News and notes from the middle level section: Building a community of readers. *Voices from the Middle*, 20(1), 73-74. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1039696256
- Kell, T. (2009). Using fan fiction to teach critical reading and writing skills. *Teacher Librarian*, 37(1), 32-35. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/224885088
- Kent, N., & Facer, K. (2004). Different worlds? A comparison of young people's home and school ICT use. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 20(6), 440-455. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2729.2004.00102.x

- Kinzer, C. K. (2010). Considering literacy and policy in the context of digital environments. *Language Arts*, 88(1), 51-61. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/748977327
- Knobel, M., & Lankshear, C. (2006). Discussing new literacies. *Language Arts*, 84(1), 78-86. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196885900
- Knobel, M., & Lankshear, C. (2008). Remix: The art and craft of endless hybridization. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, 52(1), 22-33. doi:10.1598/JAAL.52.1.3
- Lam, W. S. E. (2012). What immigrant students can teach us about new media literacy. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 94(4), 62-65. doi:10.1177/003172171209400416
- Lammers, J. C., Curwood, J. S., & Magnifico, A. M. (2012). Toward an affinity space methodology: Considerations for literacy research. *English Teaching: Practice and Critique*, *11*(2), 44-58. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1114859304
- Lapp, D., Fisher, D., & Frey, N. (2012). Are you as "literate" as your students? *Voices* from the Middle, 19(4), 7-9. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1011487043
- Leland, C., Ociepka, A., & Kuonen, K. (2012). Finding our way: Eighth graders explore social networking sites. *Voices from the Middle, 19*(4), 28-33. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1011487044
- Letcher, M. (Ed.). (2010). Autism in young adult literature. *English Journal*, 100(2), 113-116. doi:10.2307/25790046

- Lewis, C., & Fabos, B. (2005). Instant messaging, literacies, and social identities.

 *Reading Research Quarterly, 40(4), 470-501. doi:10.1598/RRQ.40.4.5
- Lotherington, H., & Jenson, J. (2011). Teaching multimodal and digital literacy in L2 settings: New literacies, new basics, new pedagogies. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 31, 226-246. doi:10.1017/S0267190511000110
- Mackey, M. (2003a). At play on the borders of the diegetic: Story boundaries and narrative interpretation. *Journal of Literacy Research*, *35*(1), 591-632. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/231924312
- Mackey, M. (2003b). Television and the teenage literate: Discourses of *Felicity*. *College English*, 65(4), 389-409. doi:10.2307/3594241
- Martin, C. (2011). An information literacy perspective on learning and new media. *On the Horizon*, *19*(4), 268-275. doi:10.1108/10748121111179394
- Mathew, K. L., & Adams, D. C. (2009). I love your book, but I love my version more: Fanfiction in the English language arts classroom. *ALAN Review*, *36*(3), 35-41. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/212216972
- Merchant, G. (2009). Web 2.0, new literacies, and the idea of learning through participation. *English Teaching: Practice and Critique*, 8(3), 107-122. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/926188995
- Mills, K. A. (2010). Shrek meets Vygotsky: Rethinking adolescents' multimodal literacy practices in schools. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*(1), 35-45. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.1.4
- Moje, E. B. (2008). Foregrounding the disciplines in secondary literacy teaching and

- learning: A call for change. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(2), 96-107. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/21692678
- Moje, E. B. (2009). A call for new research on new and multi-literacies. *Research in the Teaching of English*, *43*(4), 348-362. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/215354028
- Moje, E. B., & Luke, A. (2009). Literacy and identity: Examining the metaphors in history and contemporary research. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(4), 415-437. doi:10.1598/RRQ.44.4.7
- Owens, T. (2011). Social videogame creation: Lessons from RPG maker. *On the Horizon*, 19(1), 52-61. doi:10.1108/10748121111107708
- Pitcher, S. M., Albright, L. K., DeLaney, C. J., Walker, N. T., & al. (Eds.). (2007).

 Assessing adolescents' motivation to read. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 50(5), 378-380, 387-388, 391-396. doi:10.1598/JAAL.50.5.5
- Richardson, W. (2007). Teaching in a web 2.0 world. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 43(4), 150-151. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/232059219
- Rish, R. M., & Caton, J. (2011). Building fantasy worlds together with collaborative writing: Creative, social, and pedagogic challenges. *English Journal*, 100(5), 21-28. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/864566754
- Roach, A. K., & Beck, J. J. (2012). Before coffee, Facebook: New literacy learning for 21st century teachers. *Language Arts*, 89(4), 244-255. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ977708

- Roozen, K. (2009). "Fan fic-ing" English studies: A case study exploring the interplay of vernacular literacies and disciplinary engagement. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 44(2), 136-169. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ863960
- Salen, K. (2007). Gaming literacies: A game design study in action. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 16(3), 301-322. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ776068
- Schechter, A., & Denmon, J. M. (2012). How do I earn buy-in from digital natives?

 *Voices from the Middle, 19(4), 22-27. Retrieved from

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ976267
- Schwarz, G. (2010). Graphic novels: New sites of possibility in the secondary curriculum. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, *12*(1), A53-A65, A179. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/855000479
- Sekeres, D. C. (2009). The market child and branded fiction: A synergism of children's literature, consumer culture, and new literacies. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(4), 399-414. doi:10.1598/RRQ.44.4.6
- Shepley, N. (2009). Places of composition: Writing contexts in Appalachian Ohio.

 *Composition Studies, 37(2), 75-90, 176. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/612902220
- Siegel, M. (2006). Rereading the signs: Multimodal transformations in the field of literacy education. *Language Arts*, 84(1), 65-77. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196872636

- Snow, C., & Moje, E. (2010). Why is everyone talking about adolescent literacy? *Phi Delta Kappan*, *91*(6), 66-69. doi:10.1177/003172171009100616
- Squire, K. (2006). From content to context: Videogames as designed experience.

 *Educational Researcher, 35(8), 19-29. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/216897916
- Steinkuehler, C. (2010). Video games and digital literacies. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 54(1), 61-63. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.1.7
- Steinkuehler, C. A., Black, R. W., & Clinton, K. A. (2005). Researching literacy as tool, place, and way of being. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 40(1), 95-100. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/212137912
- Steinkuehler, C., & King, E. (2009). Digital literacies for the disengaged: Creating after school contexts to support boys' game-based literacy skills. *On the Horizon*, 17(1), 47-59. doi:10.1108/10748120910936144
- Stolle, E. P. (2009). *The softwire: Betrayal on Orbis 2*. (Review of book by P. J. Haarsma). *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *52*(5), 451. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/216922987
- Thomas, E. E., & Sassi, K. (2011). An ethical dilemma: Talking about plagiarism and academic integrity in the digital age. *English Journal*, *100*(6), 47-53. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/875295417
- Thorne, S. L. (2009). 'Community', semiotic flows, and mediated contribution to activity.

 *Language Teaching, 42(1), 81-94. doi:10.1017/S0261444808005429

- Thorne, S. L., & Black, R. W. (2007). Language and literary development in computer-mediated contexts and communities. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 27, 133-160. doi:10.1017/S0267190508070074
- Tierney, R. J. (2009). Shaping new literacies research: Extrapolations from a review of the *Handbook of research on new literacies*. (Review of book by J. Coiro, M. Knobel, C. Lankshear, & D. J. Leu, Eds.). *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(3), 322-339. doi:10.1598/RRQ.44.3.5
- Tosenberger, C. (2008a). Homosexuality at the online Hogwarts: *Harry Potter* slash fanfiction. *Children's Literature*, *36*, 185-207, 273. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/195576756
- Tosenberger, C. (2008b). "Oh my God, the fanfiction!" Dumbledore's outing and the online *Harry Potter* fandom. *Children's Literature Association Quarterly*, 33(2), 200-206. *Project MUSE*, doi:10.1353/chq.0.0015
- Trotter, A. (2009). Tech literacy confusion: what should you measure? *Education Week's Digital Directions*, 2(3), 20, 22. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/212543925
- Van Amelsvoort, M. (2009). New literacies: Everyday practices & classroom learning (2nd edition). (Review of book by C. Lankshear & M. Knobel). International Journal of Emerging Technologies and Society, 7(2), 125-126. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/22322207

- Vasudevan, L. (2010). Literacies in a participatory, multimodal world: The arts and aesthetics of web 2.0. *Language Arts*, 88(1), 43-50. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ896485
- Wallace, D. L., & Pugh, T. (2007). Playing with critical theory in J. K. Rowling's *Harry Potter* series. *English Journal*, *96*(3), 97-100. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/237299940
- Warschauer, M., & Grimes, D. (2007). Audience, authorship, and artifact: The emergent semiotics of web 2.0. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 27, 1-23. doi:10.1017/S0267190508070013
- Williams, B. T. (2008). "Tomorrow will not be like today": Literacy and identity in a world of multiliteracies. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 51(8), 682-686. doi:10.1598/JAAL.51.8.7
- Wohlwend, K. E. (2010). A is for avatar: Young children in literacy 2.0 worlds and literacy 1.0 schools. *Language Arts*, 88(2), 144-152. doi:10.2307/41804242
- Yi, Y. (2008). Relay writing in an adolescent online community. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 51(8), 670-680. doi:10.1598/JAAL.51.8.6
- Yoon, H., & Wilder, P. (2010). Announcing the Alan C. Purves award winner [Vol. 43].

 *Research in the Teaching of English, 44(3), 338-339. Retrieved from
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/215347245
- Zacher, J. C. (2007). Professional book reviews: Professional resources for expanding spaces of learning. *Language Arts, 85*(1), 78-83. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/196874657

APPENDIX II: PERIODICALS IN DATA SET, NUMBER OF ARTICLES

ALAN Review -- 1

Annual Review of Applied Linguistics -- 3

Children's Literature -- 1

Children's Literature Association Quarterly -- 1

College English -- 1

Composition Studies -- 1

Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue -- 1

Education Week's Digital Directions -- 1

Educational Researcher -- 2

English Education -- 1

English Journal -- 7

English Teaching: Practice and Critique -- 4

Gifted Child Today -- 1

International Journal of Emerging Technologies and Society -- 1

Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy -- 16

Journal of Advanced Academics -- 1

Journal of Computer Assisted Learning -- 1

Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia -- 1

Journal of Literacy Research -- 1

Kappa Delta Pi Record -- 1

Language Arts -- 11

Language Teaching -- 1

Literacy Research and Instruction -- 1

Middle School Journal -- 1

MultiMedia & Internet@Schools -- 1

On the Horizon -- 4

Phi Delta Kappan -- 2

Reading Horizons -- 1

Reading Research Quarterly -- 6

Research in the Schools -- 2

Research in the Teaching of English -- 8

Resource Links -- 1

Teacher Librarian -- 1

The Social Studies -- 1

Voices from the Middle -- 7